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REVISED ARTICLES 3 AND 4: SUBSTANTIAL 
CHANGES IN THE UCC 

by 

Arthur M. Magaldi* 
Ivan Fox** 

one of the principal purposes for the passage of the UCC 
was to make uniform the laws that people involved in business 
transactions would encounter in every state in the Uniteg 
States. A second important purpose of the UCC was to update 
or "fine tune" the common law principles that had existed for 
many years, since some of theserprinciples no longer seemed 
relevant or beneficial in the latter years of the twentieth 
century. Few would dispute the success of the Code in 
achieving the twin objectives of fostering uniformity and 
updating the common law. 

The UCC, now in effect for over a quarter century, has 
also been the subject of study and scrutiny. The American Law 
Institute and the National Conference of Commissioners on 
Uniform State Laws have decided that it is again time to 
update and change laws governing commercial transactions. 
They have revised Articles 3 and 4 of the ucc. Article 3 has 
been renamed simply, "Negotiable Instruments." 

Our ~aper will discuss some of the major changes of this 
revision. As of October, 1992, nineteen states have enacted 
the revisions as law. 

Negotiability 

It has been an article of faith that an instrument must 
be issued payable to order or to bearer if it is to be 
classified as a negotiable instrument. 2 The order or bearer 
terminology has frequently been referred to as the magic words 
of negotiability. An instrument which is made payable to 
order or bearer indicates the drawer's or maker's intention 
not to limit payment to the named payee and is therefore one 
of the bases for protecting later holders in due course. The 
traditional rule has held that an instrument not issued 

*Professor of Law, Pace University 
**Professor of Law, Pace University 



2 

payable to order or to bearer which is later transferred to a 
good faith purchaser for value cannot result in the later 
holder becoming a holder in due course. It is well 
established that there can only be a holder in due course of 
a negotiable instrument. A transferee from the payee of a 
non-negotiable instrument is considered merely an assignee of 
the contract rights of the payee who receives no greater 
rights than the payee enjoyed. If the issuer, i.e., the maker 
or drawer, has a defense which can be. asserted against the 
payee, the defense can be asserted aga~nst later transferees 
of a non-negotiable instrument since such transferees can 
enjoy no greater rights than the original payee. 

Revised Article 3 to a large extent continues to require 
that the traditional ingredients be present in an instrument 
for it to be considered negotiable. A substantial change has 
been made, however, in the requirements for negotiability of 
checks. The revision provides that a check which otherwise 
meets the requirements for negotiability will not be rendered 
non-negotiable because it is not issued payable to order or to 
bearer. 3 The official comments to Section 3-104(c) provide 
the reasons for the change. "Subsection (c) is based on the 
belief that it is good policy to treat checks, which are 
payment instruments, as negotiable instruments whether or not 
they contain the words 'to the order of.' These words are 
almost always pre-printed on the check form. Occasionally, 
the drawer of a check may strike out these words before 
issuing the check. In the past, some credit unions used check 
forms that did not contain the quoted words. Absence of the 
quoted words can easily be overlooked and should not affect 
the rights of holders who pay money or give credit for a check 
without being aware that it is not in the conventional form." 
Based on the official comments to the revised legislation, it 
is clear that the intention of the revision is to protect 
unsuspecting transferees of instruments which would in all 
other respects be considered checks but which lack the "order 
of" terminology. Inasmuch as this is generally pre-printed on 
checks, the revision recognizes the fact that a transferee 
would generally not be examining the instrument for this 
element and could easily overlook the fact that it is missing. 
The exception applies solely to checks and other instruments 
must contain the order or bearer terminology to be considered 
negotiable. 4 

Under the traditional view, if a buyer paid for goods 
with a check which was non-negotiable because the check was 
not issued payable to the order of the payee or to the bearer, 
and payment of the check was stopped because of a breach of 
warranty concerning the goods, a subsequent good faith 
transferee of the check could not be considered a holder in 
due course. If the later holder sued the buyer, the original 
issuer of the check, the holder would be subject to the 
defense of breach of warranty and would be treated as an 
assignee of the original payee-seller's rights. Under Revised 

Section 3-104 (c), the lack of order or bearer terminology 
would not make the instrument non-negotiable, and later 
holders could be protected as holders in due course . 

It should be noted that a bank money order is treated as 
a check even though it bears the words "money order. 115 

Accordingly, the order or bearer terminology is not essential 
for a bank money order to be considered negotiable. 

Particular Fund Doctrine 

The new Article 3 changes the particular fund rule as it 
affects the negotiability of all instruments governed by 
Article 3, i.e., promissory notes, checks, and drafts. It is 
well established that only instruments that contain 
unconditional promises or orders to pay money are considered 
to be negotiable. The traditional rule holds that an 
instrument must be based on the ~eneral credit of the maker or 
drawer and payment must not be limited or restricted to a 
particular source or fund. 6 An instrument in which the 
promise or order to pay is limited to payment only from a 
particular fund or source is considered to be conditional and 
therefore non-negotiable. For example, an instrument which 
states that it is payable only from the funds in a certain 
account or only from the proceeds from a particular sale is 
non-negotiable. The traditional theory is that, when one 
orders or promises to pay only from a particular fund and from 
no other source, the instrument is inherently conditional 
because if there are not funds available in that particular 
fund then there exists no promise or order to utilize other 
funds. Therefore, the payment is conditioned upon there being 
a sufficient sum to provide payment for the instrument from 
that source alone. 

Revised Section 3-106(b)(ii) provides that a promise or 
order is not made conditional and the instrument rendered non­
negotiable because payment is limited to a particular fund or 
source. "This reverses the result of former Section 3-
105(2)(b). There is no cogent reason why the general credit 
of a legal entity must be pledged to have a negotiable 
instrument. Market forces determine the marketability of 
instruments of this kind. If potential buyers don't want 
promises or orders that are payable only from a particular 
source or fund, they won't take them, but Article 3 should 
apply. 117 

Promises or orders which are subject to express 
conditions or subject to or governed by another writing 
continue to be non-negotiable under the revised Article 3. 
Similarly, if the rights or obligations with respect to the 
promise or order are stated in another writing, the instrument 
is non-negotiable. 

Restrictive Indorsements 

3 
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Revised Section 3-206 (b) changes the rule concerning 
restrictive indorsements and the manner in which they must be 
treated by those paying an instrument. The revision provides: 
"An indorsement stating a condition to the right of the 
indorsee to receive payment does not affect the right of the 
indorsee to enforce the instrument. A person paying the 
instrument or taking it for value or collection may disregard 
the condition, and the rights and liabilities of that person 
are not affected by whether the condition has been fulfill~d." 
Prior to revision, an indorsement on a note, "Pay A l.f A 
delivers 10 bales of hay pursuant to contract", would impose 
on the maker the duty to ascertain whether A in fact delivered 
10 bales of hay before the instrument can safely be paid. The 
revision frees the maker from the duty of ascertaining whether 
the condition had been fulfilled. 

Where the rev1.s1.on is not in effect, conditional 
indorsements on checks make them virtually uncollectible at 
banks since the latter will not want to undertake the risk of 
determining whether the condition has been fulfilled. Revised 
Section 3-206 (b) relieves makers of notes and drawees of 
checks and drafts of the responsibility of determining whether 
conditions contained in indorsements have been fulfilled. 
In the example above, the note could be paid by the maker 
without inquiry into whether the bales of hay had been 
delivered. In the event the note was negotiated by A to a 

· subsequent holder, the subsequent holder's rights are not 
affected by the conditional indorsement, i.e., the subsequent 
holder is entitled to payment irrespective of whether the 
bales of hay had been delivered. The rule that conditional 
indorsements do not prevent further transfer or negotiation of 
an instrument remains unchanged. 

Accord and Satisfaction 

The revised ucc clarifies the rules concerning the 
contract theory of accord and satisfaction in regard to part 
payment checks. Where the amount due on a contract or 
obligation is unliquidated or in dispute and a check is 
tendered marked "paid in full", cashing the check by the 
creditor-payee has typically been held to be a full 
satisfaction of the claim barring further litigation to 
recover any additional sum on that claim. Of course, the 
matter has to be the subject of a legitimate, good faith 
dispute. The perceived difficulty with the accord and 
satisfaction concerns the vulnerability of unsuspecting 
parties, particularly organizations, who unwittingly cash 
checks marked payment in full when the creditor in fact had no 
desire to accept the payment as full and final payment. 

Revised Article 3 continues to hold that there can be no 
accord and satisfaction unless the claim is unliquidated or in 
dispute, the "paid in full" designation is made in good faith, 
and the creditor cashed the check. Revised Section 3-311 
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provides protection to organizations who may unwittingly 
accept full payment checks. Revised Section 1-201(28) defines 
an organization to include virtually any entity other than an 
individual or individual proprietor. If the claimant is an 
organization and before the tender sends a communication that 
full satisfaction instruments are to be sent to a designated 
person or place, a party who wishes to tender a full 
satisfaction instrument must comply. Checks sent to another 
party or part of the organization will be ineffective to 
create an accord and satisfaction despite the fact they are 
cashed by the creditor and bear a conspicuous "paid in full" 
designation. 

An additional protection is accorded organizations which 
do not designate a particular person or location to receive 
checks tendered as full payment. The organization may avoid 
the result of an accord and satisfaction within 90 days of the 
payment of the check by tenjering repayment of the check to 
the party who sought the accord and satisfaction. 8 In the 
event, however, it is demonstrated that the claimant or an 
appropriate agent of the claimant had advance knowledge that 
the check was tendered to create an accord and satisfaction, 
cashing the check fully discharges the obligation and re­
tendering payment within 90 days is ineffective. 9 

Post-Dated Checks 

The rule concerning post-dated checks has also been 
revised. Prior to revision, a post-dated check was considered 
an instrument payable at a future time similar to a time 
draft. Post-dated checks were burdensome to banks which had 
the duty not to pay them before the date stated on the check. 
In light of modern check handling of the huge numbers of 
checks processed daily, the revisors have deemed this to be an 
unreasonable burden. Revised Section 4-401 provides that a 
check may be post-dated, but a bank is not liable for making 
payment on the check before the date stated unless the drawer 
had given the bank prior notice. This notice must inform the 
bank that a post-dated check may be presented for payment and 
advise the bank not to make payment until the stated date. 
The effect of this is to put the depositor under the 
obligation to issue something in the nature of a stop payment 
order. 

Secondary Liability of Indorsers 

The revisors of the ucc have removed a technical 
requirement concerning the responsibility of holders of 
commercial paper who may wish to hold secondary parties 
liable. The traditional rule requires that an instrument be 
presented for payment on the due date to the maker, unless an 
appropriate excuse for non-presentment or delayed presentment 
exists. Failure to properly present on the due date 
discharges the secondary liability of the indorser. This 
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rule, in existence for many years, fails to recognize that 
there is little actual personal presentation of instruments in 
the modern business world. Revised Article 3 eliminates the 
requirement of presenting instruments on the due date in order 
to have the opportunity of holding an indorser liable in the 
event of non-payment. "In the great majority of cases 
presentment and notice of dishonor are waived with respect to 
notes. In most cases a formal demand for payment to the maker 
of the note is not contemplated. Rather, the maker is 
expected to send payment to the holder of the note on the date 
or dates on which payment is due. If payment is not made when 
due, the holder usually makes a demand for payment, but in t~e 
normal case in which presentment is waived, demand 1s 
irrelevant and the holder can proceed against indorsers when 
payment is not received. Under former Article 3, in the small 
minority of cases in which presentment and dishonor were not 
waived with respect to notes, the indorser was discharged from 
liability (former Section 3-502(1) (a)) unless the holder made 
presentment on the exact day the note was due (former Section 
3-503 (1) (c)) and gave notice of dishonor to the indorser 
before midnight of the third business day after dishonor 
(former Section 3-508(2)). These provisions are omitted from 
Article 3 as inconsistent with practice which seldom involves 
face-to-face dealings. 1110 It should be noted that the 
requirement of giving notice of dishonor has been retained, 
but the holder has 30 days to give notice of dishonor to the 
indorser instead of the 3 days previously allowed.~,! . 

Reporting Forged Drawer's Signature(s) 

Another change concerns the amount of time a customer has 
to report forgeries of the customer's name as the drawer of a 
check. Prior to the revision, a customer that did not report 
a forgery of his/her name as drawer, i.e., a signature 
apparently issuing a check, within 14 days from the receipt of 
a statement showing such a forgery bore the loss for any 
subsequent forgeries by the same wrongdoer. The theory, of 
course, was that the customer's negligence in failing to warn 
the bank contributed to the loss. 

Revised UCC Section 3-406(d) (2) expands the time for the 
customer to alert the bank to 30 days. This change recognizes 
the greater number of checks issued today by all kinds of 
depositors and the practical problems those depositors face in 
reconciling their accounts. In addition, in the event the 
depositor fails to alert the bank in the appropriate period of 
time, the depositor may still not bear the entire loss. The 
revisors have established a standard of comparative negligence 
to be applied in such cases. 12 

The changes in the UCC described above are not of the 
same quantity or magnitude as those contained in the original 
UCC. Nevertheless, the changes are substantial. The revisors 
have continued to modernize and "fine tune" the law for the 
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last portion of the twentieth century and beyond. In general, 
the revisions seem reasonable and based on sound business 
practices. 

FOOTNOTES 

1. See also Anderson on the u.c.c., Vol. 6, 1991, Clark, 
Boardman, Callaghan & Co. and Quinn's UCC Commentary and 
Law Digest, 2d edit., Warren, Gorham & Lamont, Inc. 
(1992). 

2. UCC Sec. 3-104 ( 1) (d). 
3. Revised UCC Sec. 3-1~4(c). 
4. Revised UCC Sec. 3-104(a) (1). 
5. Revised UCC Sec. 3-104(f). 
6. UCC Sec. 3-105(1) (g). 
7. Official Comment 1 to Revised UCC Sec. 3-106. 
8. Revised UCC Sec. 3-311(c) (2). 
9. Revised UCC Sec. 3-311(d). 
10. Official Comment 2 to Revised UCC Sec. 3-502. 
11. Revised UCC Sec. 3-503(c). 
12. Revised UCC Sec. 3-406(b). 
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STRESS IN THE WORKPLACE: JUDICIAL DEVELOPMENTS AND 
LEGISLATIVE AND BUSINESS RESPONSES 

Introduction 

by 

Anthony Libertella * 
and 

George Barbero** 

In 1989 stress related workers' compensation cases accounted for 15% of all 
occupational disease claims. (I) Although most stress claims are currently litigated 
within the workers' compensation system, with average payments of $15,000, the 
dollar amount and volume of claims is projected to increase dramatically. (2) Stress 
currently ranks as one of the top ten work-related problems. (3> The Northwestern 
National Life Insurance Company study of 1991 indicates that the incidence of stress 
claims has doubled in the past ten years, <4> and the number of employees experiencing 
stress also has doubled during the same time period. <5> Currently seven out of ten 
employees surveyed claim to experience work-related stress symptoms. <6> 

The factors most commonly cited by employees as causing stress-related 
illnesses are: reduction of employee benefits, lack of personal control over one's job, 
mergers and acquisitions or change in business ownership resulting in ter~ination, 
major departmental reorganizations causing job changes and frequent overtime. (T) It 
appears that the corporate culture fosters unhealthy and too stressful enviro?ments, with 
unrealistic demands frequently burdening the employees. Of the populatiOn surveyed 
the Northwestern study found that 34% of employees expect to burnout on the job and 
72% of all workers experience three or more stress related illnesses on a frequent 
basis. <B> If the number of stress-related illnesses continues to expand as projected by 
this study, stress claims are anticipated to lead all other workers' compensation claims 
in the 1990's. 

* Associate Professor of Studies on Corporate Values, Hagan School of Business, 
Iona College, New Rochelle, New York 

** Professor of Business Law, Hagan School of Business, Iona College, New 
Rochelle, New York 
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The purpose of this article is to explore the judicial developments and 
the legislative and business responses as they relate to the increasing number of 
employees seeking compensation for job-related stress illnesses. This article first 
examines workers' compensation claims where mental or psychic stress causes a mental 
or psychological disability. Selected cases, including the most recent holdings, are 
reviewed to demonstrate the criteria laid down by various state courts in denying or 
permitting recovery for such claims. Next, consideration is given to situations where 
employees have gone outside of the workers' compensation field to pursue their job­
stress claims either under human rights legislation or common law tort. The article 
then describes the responses of various state legislative bodies and the business 
community to the flood of work-related stress claims. Lastly, the newly emerging 
trends in job-related stress illnesses and claims will be discussed, with a brief 
commentary on t~ necessity of a careful balancing of the interest by employers, 
employees and soctety at large in resolving this emerging crisis in the workplace. 

Workers' Compensation Stress Claims 

Under the great majority of workers' compensation statutes it is not any 
workplace injury that entitles an employee to compensation benefits, but only those that 
are determined to be accidental. <9> Most statutes define "injury" and "personal injury" 
to mean "only accidental injuries arising out of and in the course of employment." 0°> 
Prior to recent statutory amendments in some states, the statutes typically did not 
specify any particular injury nor was any reference made to stress claims. From a 
historical point of view, whether a so-called stress or mental injury claim was 
compensable, depended upon case law within each state. 

Workers' compensation claims involving mental stress are often classified as 
follows: mental-physical claims in which mental stress causes physical disability 
(anxiety induced coronary attack), physical-mental claims in which physical injury 
causes a mental disability (conversion hysteria following traumatic injury), and mental­
mental claims in which mental stress causes mental disability (nervous breakdown 
caused by emotional stress). 0 1> 

Traditionally, the workers' compensation boards and courts are most likely to 
grant awards in the physical-mental and mental-physical cases; all fifty states regard 
such claims as compensable.0 2> However, in the new and somewhat uncharted territory 
of mental-mental cases, which is the focus of this paper, there are several difficult 
issues for determination by the courts. Since there is no physical corroboration for the 
disability, it is extremely difficult to prove that a mental disability was caused by work. 
The uncertainties inherent in psychiatry make it difficult to determine whether there 
was a pre-existing mental illness. Additionally, it is difficult to determine if work­
related stress is an aggravating factor to a pre-existing condition, and if so, whether this 
should be compensable under workers' compensation.<tJ> In the resolution of these 
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issues the state courts differ in the criteria to be applied as an examination of selected 
cases below will demonstrate. 

The manner in which state courts have viewed the complex issue of mental­
mental claims can be broken into four categories: (1} those denying recovery for 
mental-mental claims; (2) those allowing recovery where the mental stress involves 
sudden shock; (3) those allowing recovery when the mental stress is unusual; (4) those 
allowing recovery where the mental stress is not unusual. <14> 

State Courts Denying Recovery for Mental-Mental Claims 

The states of Alabama, Florida, Georgia, Kansas, Minnesota, Montana, 
Nebraska, Ohio, Oklahoma, and South Dakota are among the minority, and do not 
permit compensation for mental-mental stress cases under any circumstances.05l 

The following two cases exemplify this minority view. The Supreme Court of 
Oklahoma in 1990 addressed the issue of the compensability of a mental-mental claim 
in Fenwich v. Oklaboma State Penitentiary.<16l In this case, a state penitentiary 
employee's claim for mental disability resulting from an incident in which he was held 
hostage for a few hours was denied. The court concluded that mental injury caused by 
work-related stress without physical trauma is not compensable under the Oklahoma 
Workers' Compensation Act. <17l 

In a fairly recent South Dakota Supreme Court case, Lather v, Huron 
~,os> the issue of mental-mental compensability was considered for the first time. 
Here, the employee left his position as a college basketball coach because of work­
related stress. Subsequently, he was treated for a psychological disorder which 
ultimately led to his suicide. The court, in denying the claim, held that mental 
disability caused by a mental stimulus was not compensable. <19> 

State Courts that Permit Recovery in Mental Injury Caused by Sudden 
~ 

The second category is composed of states that permit compensation if the 
source of the mental stress is caused by a sudden or shocking event. These states are: 
Illinois, Maryland, Mississippi, Tennessee, Texas and Virginia.<2°l 

An example where the courts applied this somewhat stringent criterion is found 
in Transportation Insurance Company v. Maksyn.<2tl where the Supreme Court of 
Texas held that gradual mental stress is not compensable, and that recovery for mental 
injury was limited to those claimants who had suffered sudden injury. In this particular 
case the claimant, an employee of a publishing company, was subjected to an excessive 
work load that required constant and excessive overtime, and therefore, because of the 
ongoing nature of the injury it was not deemed compensable. <22> 
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Other courts, however, have not only allowed recovery for mental-mental 
claims caused by sudden or shocking stimuli, but also allowed recovery for mental 
injuries stemming from gradual and extraordinary stress as well, as shown in the recent 
Mississippi Supreme Court case of Borden v. Eskridge. (23) where the court upheld the 
disability claim based upon severe depression. Here, the claimant alleged maltreatment 
by his supervisor causing him to live in a state of anxiety and depression. The court 
held that a worker seeking benefits for psychological injury must show extraordinary 
causes, not those usually associated with the workplace. {24) 

State Courts that Permit Recovery in Cases of Unusual Mental Stress ,. 
The third category of states includes Arizona, Arkansas, Maine, Massachusetts, 

New Mexico, New York, Rhode Island, South Carolina, Colorado, Delaware, Indiana, 
Louisiana, Washington, Wisconsin and Wyoming, all of which allow compensation for 
mental-mental claims if the source of the mental stress is considered to be unusual and 
in excess of the amount of stress normally associated with everyday employment. (25) 

New York is one state that has adopted the majority view, after its highest court 
resisted ruling on mental-mental claims for years. In 1975, in the landmark case of 
Wolfe v. Sibley. Lindsay & Curr Co.,<26l the New York Court of Appeals for the first 
time considered the question of whether psychic trauma is a readily identifiable cause 
of psychological or nervous injury. Having earlier decided in Klimas v. Trans 
Caribbean Airways (27) that an injury caused by emotional stress or shock may be 
accidental within the purview of the compensation law, and having uniformly sustained 
awards previously where physical impact resulted in nervous or psychological 
disorders,<28> the court in Wolfe, by a four to two decision, and despite a vigorous 
dissent, reversed the Appellate Division's denial of the award, and held that the 
psychological or nervous injury precipitated by psychic trauma is compensable to the 
same extent as physical injury. <29> The claimant, employed as a secretary, worked for a 
department store security director who was suffering from a nervous condition. The 
supervisor relied heavily on the claimant who not only assumed some of her 
supervisor's duties, but became his confidante on the subject of his increasing anxiety 
and nervous condition. After calling the police in response to her supervisor's request 
and failing to reach him on the intercom, she entered his office and found him lying in 
a pool of blood caused by a self-inflicted gunshot wound in the head. She became 
extremely upset, lost time from work, and received psychiatric care with 
hospitalization. Her condition was diagnosed as acute depressive disorder. (30) 

The court, in reinstating the compensation award, noted that, having recognized 
the reliability of identifying psychic trauma as a cause of physical injury in some cases 
(mental-physical), and psychological injury as a resultant factor in other cases 
(physical-mental), it saw no reason for limiting recovery in the latter instance to cases 
involving physical impact.(31) Citing Battalia v. State of New York(32) which eliminated 
the "impact" doctrine in the field of torts, the court stated: "There is nothing 
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talismanic about physical impact. "(33) In passing, the court also noted that its analysis 
reflected the majority of decisions in this country. (34) 

Apparently, in an effort to restrict the application of its holding and to 
distinguish the instant case from its holding in Tobin v. Grossman.(35l which refused to 
extend to third parties a cause of action in torts for psychic injury incurred without 
impact, the court pointed out that the claimant here was not a third party merely 
witnessing an injury to another, but was an active panicipant in being involved in her 
supervisor's nervous condition. (36l In addition, not only did she consider his suicide a 
personal failure, but she was an integral part of the tragedy by virtue of his last 
communication and her discovery of his lifeless body. <37l 

Following Wolfe, the appellate courts in New York have affirmed a number of 
awards to claimants where psychological injury was attributable to psychic trauma. In 
Gamble v. New York State Narcotics Addict Control Commission.<38l an award for 
death benefits was affirmed where the claimant suffered psychic trauma resulting from 
a job change. The court held that the claimant's resulting psychosis and mental 
derangement caused his suicide and thereby constituted an accidental injury. (39) 

In another very recent New York case, Friedman v. NBC. Inc.<40> the court held 
that a widow of an NBC-TV employee was entitled to compensation due to her 
husband's work-related suicide. The court unanimously ruled that although the 
deceased suffered from undiagnosed depression for twenty years prior to his suicide, 
that his suicide was a result of the depressed condition that was related to stress in his 
employment. A reorganization of NBC in 1978 led to deceased's being forced to carry 
a beeper, and work extensive overtime during the nights and weekends. In 1980, he 
was given a new title and additional responsibilities as manager of the company's 
video tape library, an area that had long suffered from operational problems. In his 
final letters to his wife and supervisor, he stated that he could no longer face what he 
saw as his inevitable failure in this newly assigned capacity. The court held that 
workers' compensation death benefits may be awarded if work-related stress causes 
insanity or a pattern of mental deterioration. <41> It further noted that the "casual 
relationship" between an industrial accident and a resulting mental condition need not 
be direct and immediate rather, "it is sufficient that the work related stress be a 
contributing cause of the psychic injury. "<42> 

In some cases the New York appellate courts have denied awards to claimants in 
mental injury claims. In Everett v. A.S. Steel Rule Die Comoration.<43l the court held 
the claimant did not sustain an industrial accident within the meaning of the Workers' 
Compensation Act where he became incapacitated due to a mental condition causally 
related to his observation of a bloody bandage on the hand of a coworker. Relying on 
the holding in Wolfe, where the claimant was an active participant, the court stated that 
it does not extend compensability to mental-mental injury sustained by a claimant who 
merely observes an injured coworker.<44l 
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An example of how the appellate courts in New York have differed in the 
application of Wolfe is seen in Wood v. Laidlaw Transit. Inc .. <45) where the claimant, a 
school bus driver, came upon the scene of a gruesome automobile accident in which 
two young children, known to her, died. She thereafter developed symptoms of a 
psychological nature requiring hospitalization and treatment for a condition diagnosed 
as a post-traumatic stress disorder. Relying on the "active participant" criterion in 
Wolfe, the Appellate Division reversed the decision of the Workers' Compensation 
Board awarding benefits. On further appeal, the Court of Appeals, also relying on 
Wolfe, reversed the Appellate Division and affirmed the decision of the Board on the 
grounds that the claimant w~ "an active participant in the tragedy. "<46> 

Subsequent to Wolfe, other states in responding to the increase in workplace 
stress have placed themselves in the mainstream of workers' compensation 
jurisprudence by accepting mental-mental claims. Stokes v. First National Bank,<47) a 
South Carolina case is just such an example. Here, a bank employee suffered a 
nervous breakdown as a result of a greatly increased work load and job responsibility, a 
by-product of a corporate merger.<48l The South Carolina Court of Appeals, in 
accepting mental-mental claims for the first time, held that the claimants prolonged 
increase in work hours, combined with additional job duties constituted "unusual and 
extraordinary conditions of employment" which resulted in a compensable accidental 
injury. <49> 

In Candelaria v. General Electric Co., <50) a New Mexico case, the claimant 
suffered anxiety attacks with several hospitalizations resulting from personality conflicts 
with his supervisor. The court held that psychological injury resulting from a sudden 
or gradual emotional stimulus "arises out of' employment when it is causally related to 
job performance. (51) 

Until Sparks v. Tulane Medical Center Hospital & Clinic.<52) the Supreme Court 
of Louisiana had never considered the issue of the compensability of a mental-mental 
claim. Here, the employee claimed that she had been continually harassed and 
threatened by co-employees causing her to suffer a disabling mental condition. <53) The 
court noted that mental health is an intrinsic component of the physical structure of the 
body and that the circumstances here satisfied the requirement of an accidental 
injury. <54> 

State Courts that Permit Recovery if the Source of the Mental Stress is Not 
Unusual 

The final category of states, which have accepted mental-mental compensation 
claims, includes Alaska, California, Hawaii, 1\entucky, Michigan, New Jersey, 
Oregon, Pennsylvania and West Virginia, all of which have allowed such claims even 
if the cause of the mental stress is not deemed to be unusual or excessive. (55) 

Carter v. General Motors,<56l was one of the earliest cases to recognize the 
compensability of claims where mental injury results in the absence of physical impact 

\ 
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or physical stimulus. Here, the claimant developed a paranoid schizophrenia condition 
and required hospitalization after being unable to keep up with the pace of work 
demanded by his supervisor, although such work was shown not to be unusual. The 
Supreme Court of Michigan held that "emotional disabilities are compensable under the 
Workers' Compensation Act regardless of whether the cause was a direct physical 
injury or mental shock. "<57l 

Following Carter, the Michigan courts affirmed awards in mental-mental cases, 
including those based upon workers' subjective perceptions of stress. <58> However, 
following a 1980 amendment to the Michigan Compensation Law, <59> in 1991 the Court 
of Appeals in Iloyan v. General Motors Corp.<60> clearly rejected the subjective 
standard test applied in earlier cases. Here, the plaintiff alleged having "major 
depression" with the onset emotional disorder occurring in relationship to the stress he 
allegedly experienced in his workplace, where he described himself as "feeling 
mistreated, pressured and demeaned."<61> In reversing an award by the Workers' 
Compensation Board, the court held that the Board mistakenly applied the invalidated 
Deziel subjective standard and that the correct legal standard to be applied was that of 
an actual, precipitating, work-related trauma, event, or events and not just an 
unfounded perception thereof. (62) 

Human Rights Cases and Job-Related Stress 

While the greater number of job-related stress claims are made under workers' 
compensation, in some instances, employees have been able to successfully pursue such 
claims outside of the workers' compensation area. In New York City Transit Authority 
v. State Division of Human Rights (Adrienne Nash)<63> the New York State Court of 
Appeals reversed an appellate court ordered reduction of a $450,0000 award for mental 
anguish in a sex discrimination case, and remitted the matter to the Appellate Division 
for reconsideration. The high court noted that, "Mental suffering is not only 
compensable, but also a frequent sometimes sole, consequence of unlawful 
discriminatory condition. "(64) 

Another recent case from New York's highest court, exemplifying its 
willingness to compensate employees for mental anguish and humiliation in 
discrimination cases, is Consolidated Edison Company of New York. Inc. v. New 
York State Division of Human Rights (Pamela Easton).<65> The court held that there 
was substantial evidence supporting the finding of the State Commissioner of Human 
Rights, that Consolidated Edison discriminated against Pamela Easton, a black woman, 
on the basis of sex and race, by promoting two white males to supervisory positions, 
both of whom lacked her experience level. In upholding the Commissioner's award of 
$10,000 for hurt, humiliation, and mental anguish suffered, the court noted "the effects 
of discrimination were perceived everyday when the complainant reported to white 
males, petitioners had promoted over her. "<66> 
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Tort Cases and Job-Related Stress 

Workers' compensation acts typically provide the sole or exclusive means for 
inju~ed workers to receive compensation benefits, with recovery unaffected by any 
negligence on the part of the employer. Yet because workers' compensation limits the 
recovery, attorneys frequently search for alternatives to employer's exclusivity of 
remedy protection. In recent years we have seen instances in which appellate courts 
have carved exceptions to th~ exclusive remedy provisions of workers' compensation 
law, particularly with respect to non-physical employee tortious acts, such as 
intentional infliction of emotional distress, sexual harassment, and discrimination. 

In some work-related mental stress claims pursued under state discrimination 
statutes, employers have raised the issue of the "exclusive remedy" provisions of the 
state workers' compensation laws. This issue was squarely faced in Boscaglia v. 
Michigan Bell Telephone Co., <67l where the claimant brought an action for damages 
alleging violation of her civil rights and sought recovery for physical and mental or 
emotional injury. Here, the court held that the exclusive remedy provision of the 
Workers' Compensation Act did not bar such an action where the employee was 
alleging a violation of the Fair Employment Practice Act or the Michigan Civil Rights 
Act.<68> 

'• .o; ... -.;. ... 

In Rojo v. Kliger,<69> where an employee brought an action against her employer 
and co-employees for sexual harassment under the Fair Employment and Housing Acts 
and intentional infliction of emotional distress, the California Supreme Court held that 
an employee need not seek remedy through the Fair Employment and Housing Acts 
before filing suit on common law grounds of sexual discrimination. This decision lends 
support to the argument that civil and workers' compensation remedies should be 
cumulative rather than mutually exclusive. The California Labor Code allows tort 
damages to be awarded against coworkers guilty of sexual harassment, without a 
reduction of workers' compensation benefit awards. (70) 

In Levinson v. Prentice Hall. Inc.<71), the United States District Court permitted 
a handicapped employee to first prove that the employer violated state fair employment 
practice and then to receive back pay, compensation damages and reinstatement. The 
court then permitted the employee to apply common law principles to seek punitive 
damages. This case demonstrated how common law employment rights can be used to 
obtain large punitive awards on top of those awards already granted by state and federal 
civil rights law. Levinson claimed he had been denied several promotions and had 
been repeatedly subjected to ridicule and mimicked for his uneven walk. Levinson 
claimed that the ridicule emotionally hurt, resulting in his crying in bed to his wife, 
apologizing for not getting the promotion and for being less of a man for not receiving 
a promotion. Levinson, who suf\ered from multiple sclerosis, sued for punitive and 
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compensatory damages for emotional distress. The court awarded him $100,000 for 
mental suffering due to discrimination and 2.3 million dollars in punitive damages<72l. 

In Pikop v. Burlington Northern Railroad Company, <73> a railroad employee 
filed suit for intentional infliction of emotional distress alleging that she was constantly 
insulted by her supervisor, forced to observe as her coworkers tortured and killed rats 
and birds, and the company refused to listen to her complaints. <74> The Supreme Court 
of Minnesota held that claims of employees against the railroad for intentional infliction 
of emotional distress did not necessitate the showing of physical injury under state tort 
law and, thereby, were not preempted by either the Railway Labor Act or the Federal 
Employers Liability Act, which limit recovery to intentional torts that cause physical 
injury. <75> 

legislative Responses to Stress-Related Claims 

State legislative bodies have responded to the flood of stress-related claims and 
to the liberal and expansive judicial interpretation of compensation statutes, which has 
broadened the application of the concepts of "accident" and "injury" to include mental­
mental claims. Some legislative amendments to workers' compensation statutes 
narrowly redefine "accident" and "injury" to expressly prohibit mental stress claims. 
Other amendments establish new criteria in the determination of mental injury claims, 
and some create more demanding standards of proof. 

It appears that Montana has taken an extreme position in excluding all mental 
stress claims when it amended its definition of "injury" under its compensation act by 
excluding physical and mental conditions arising from emotional or mental stress or 
non-physical stimulus or activity. <76> Thus, workers who suffer heart attacks from job­
related stress are no longer covered (mental-physical claims), nor are workers who 
suffer a disabling nervous breakdown or any psychological disorder resulting from 
emotional or mental stress (mental-mental claims).<77l 

On the other hand, Massachusetts and New York have taken a more modest 
position in excluding job-related mental stress claims that arise out of bona fide 
personnel actions. The Massachusetts legislature amended its compensation laws, and 
in effect overruled the decision in Kelly's Case,<78> by adding the following: "No 
mental or emotional disability arising principally out of a bona fide, personnel action 
including a transfer, promotion, demotion, or termination except such action which is 
the intentional infliction of emotional harm shall be deemed to be a personal injury 
within the meaning of this chapter. "(79) Strikingly similar language is found in the New 
York amendment which states that the "terms 'injury' and 'personal injury' shall not 
include an injury that is solely mental and is based on work-related stress, if such 
mental injury is a direct consequence of a lawful personnel decision, involving a 
disciplinary action, work evaluation, job transfer, demotion, or termination taken in 
good faith by the employer. "<SO) It appears that this amendment in effect reverses the 
holding in Gamble. <81l 
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The recent legislative enactments regarding mental-mental claims in other states 
vary in the degree of complexity. The amendments in Louisiana, Oregon, Michigan, 
Colorado, California and New Mexico are good examples. 

Apparently, in a direct response to Sparks,<82> Louisiana's Workers' 
Compensation Act was amended to provide a new definition of "injury" as follows: 
"Mental injury or illness resulting from work-related stress shall not be considered a 
personal injury by accident arising out of and in the course of employment and is not 
compensable . . . unless the me~ tal injury was the result of a sudden, unexpected, and 
extraordinary stress related to employment and is demonstrated by clear and convincing 
evidence. "(83) Furthermore, a new subsection for mental injury or illness requires a 
diagnosis by a licensed psychiatrist or psychologist and the diagnosis must meet the 
criteria of the American Psychiatric Association.<84> This would appear to rule out an 
employee's subjective allegation as to the appearance of symptoms of mental injury 
such as anxiety, and that the mental injury must be precipitated by an "accident". In 
addition, the requirement of "clear and convincing evidence" creates a new element of 
proof, more demanding than previously required. <85> Oregon, similar to Louisiana in 
complexity, and in establishing new criteria for mental injury claims, amended its 
statute providing for a strict set of standards for the compensability of such claims. 
First, the claimant must now establish that the work conditions creating the mental 
disorder exist in an objective sense; second, the employment conditions establishing the 
mental disorder are not conditions inherent in everyday work situations, such as 
disciplinary actions, job performance evaluations, and termination of employment; 
third, the diagnosis of the emotional disorder must be acceptable in the medical 
community; finally, the claimant must present clear and convincing evidence that the 
mental disorder arose out of and in the course of employment. <86> 

Michigan's legislature limited mental injury claims by amending its 
compensation statute to read that "mental disabilities and conditions of the aging 
process, including but not limited to heart and cardiovascular conditions shall be 
compensable if contributed to or aggravated or accelerated by the employment in a 
significant manner. Mental disabilities shall be compensable when arising out of actual 
events of employment, not unfounded perceptions thereof w<81l (italics supplied) In 
requiring that the mental disability be related to employment in a significant manner 
creates a stricter standard than that found in ~.<88> Moreover, this amendment 
clearly invalidates the subjective "honest perception" test found in Dezie1,<89> 

Colorado's amendment now defines "accident", "injury", and "occupational 
disease" as not including "disability or death caused _by or resulting from mental or 
emotional stress unless it is shown by competent evidence that such mental or 
emotional stress is proximately caused solely by hazards to which the worker would not 
have been equally exposed outside the employment. "<90> 

California by amendment has estabVshed a new and higher threshold of 
compensability for psychiatric injury by ~uiring a diagnosis of mental injury or 
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disorder meeting the criteria of the American Psychiatry Association or criteria 
generally approved and accepted nationally by practitioners in the field of psychiatric 
medicine.<91) Additionally, the employee must demonstrate by a preponderance of 
evidence that actual events of employment were responsible for at least 10% of the total 
causation from all sources contributing to the psychiatric injury. <92> 

Governor Pete Wilson proposed an amendment that would require workers to 
prove that their mental disability came from their employment, not their families or 
personal lives. (93) Although, the legislature did not agree to this reform, they did enact 
a requirement that workers must be employed six months prior to their claim. <94> 

Finally, the New Mexico legislature, in response to Candelaria<95> amended its 
compensation act by redefining primary mental impairment "to mean a mental illness 
arising from an accidental injury involving not physical injury and consists of a 
psychologically traumatic event that is generally outside of a worker's usual experience 
. . . but is not an event in connection with disciplinary, corrective or job evaluation 
action or cessation of the worker's employment. "<96> 

Business Responses to Stress-Related Claims 

A variety of actions have been undertaken by employers to prevent the sources 
of stress that are precipitating mental stress claims, such as making use of diagnostic 
stress systems, providing individual counseling, and creating stress-reduction and 
control programs. (97) Employees from companies that offer stress reduction programs 
are 50% less likely to miss work or quit their jobs due to stress, according to the 
Northwestern Life Insurance survey. <98> Researchers calculated the average cost of 
rehabilitating stress disabled employees at $1925 and, if not rehabilitated, the cost 
would be an average of $73,270.<99> The survey also showed that the employers who 
offered stress-reduction programs have more healthful employees, with higher rates of 
productivity, lower turnover and less absenteeism.<100> Due to the increase of mental­
mental claims, and the frequently ensuing likelihood of litigation, it has become 
essential for employers to learn to protect themselves. 

The optimal strategy appears to be one of teaching employees to effectively 
handle the pressure of their jobs, and thus reduce the occurrence of work-related stress 
tnJunes. For example, Texas Instruments Inc. has initiated a holistic stress 
management philosophy that encompasses a wide range of programs. <101> The National 
Employee Services and Records Association, a non-profit organization with over 15 
million members nation-wide, cited Texas Instruments Inc. as the Employer of the 
Year in 1991, based largely on their employee services and recognition programs along 
with their organizational structure that places a high value on people. 002> Texas 
Instruments sees stress as a useful and positive force in the workplace and attempts to 
educate employees through their wellness program, Lifetrack.<103> This program is 
available at three major United States facilities, and includes health assessments and 
recommendations for participation in company-sponsored wellness programs. <104> The 
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Lifetrack materials cover a wide range of topics and provide explanations of the 
mechanism of stress in the workplace; the materials are family-oriented and promote a 
balanced life style for employee~ Within the past three years, employees participating 
in Lifetrack health assessments have shown a 7% improvement in how they cope with 
stress. <105> 

In companies throughout the United States increasing numbers of professionals 
and managers are rejecting grueling work loads, much of which leads to stress despite 
the frequent high salaries that accompany these positions. Employees are reconsidering 
their priorities and are seemingly willing to accept salary reductions in exchange for 
time they need for their personal lives. John P. Robinson, Director of Americans Use 
of Time Project for the University of Maryland, claims that leisure time not money, 
will be the status symbol of the 1990's.006> In a study Robinson conducted for the 
Hilton Hotel Corporation, 50% of all workers surveyed were willing to forego one 
day's pay per week for the additional day of rest time. 0°1l Over three quarters of the 
respondents place "more time to spend with friends and family" as their top priority, 
whereas only 61% chose "making more money" as their primary goal.0°8> Similar 
concerns for a balanced lifestyle in reducing stress have been addressed by Texas 
Instruments, Inc. which has established part-time work-pilot programs. 009> 

Developing Trends in Job-Related Stress 

The number of stress ~laims in the 1990's is expected to increase as a result of a 
changing work environment, namely, work-place technology becoming more 
sophisticated (the use of VDT terminals, computers, and electronic monitoring), the 
increased presence of workers with AIDS and HIV positive, the employment of 
disabled persons, and the perceptions of workers being sexually harassed and 
discriminated. 

In ILC Data Device v. County of Suffolk0 10> a New York appellate court 
recently heard arguments in an attempt to resurrect a 1988 law regarding the use of 
video display terminals in companies with over 20 terminal users. The law was voided 
in late 1989 by the New York State Supreme Court, which ruled the county was barred 
by the State Home Rule law from enaCting laws affecting employee/employer 
relations.0 1n The 1988 law required employers with more than 20 video display 
terminal users to provide equipment meeting standards for stress reduction, specified 
lighting and noise reduction devices, as well as 15-minute breaks for every three hours 
of employee work time. 012) A similar law was struck down in California as being 
overridden by the State's Occupational Safety and Health law; the issues being raised 
challenge whether these statutes directed at workplace stress conflict with the federal 
OSHA Act of 1970.<113) 

At the 1991 annual meeting of the ~uman Factors Society commentators 
indicated that the effect of technostress wa~-area that required increased research. 
Thomas Sheridan, a professor of Man-Machines Laboratory at MIT, asserted that 
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computers and automation have alienated workers, and the use of computer networks 
has led to a blurring of the lines of work responsibility and accountability. 014> 
Lawrence Schleiter, a research psychologist with the Stress Reduction Laboratory at the 
National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health, is concerned by the findings of 
his investigation regarding electronic performance monitoring. <115> Although Schleiter 
believes technology can contribute to positive changes in the workplace, he fears that it 
also brings with it an interference into the dynamics of interaction in the workplace. <116> 

Researchers have found that employees who are electronically monitored by 
their supervisors report higher levels of stress and repetitive strain illnesses. Dr. 
Michael Smith, head of Industrial Energy Department of the University of Wisconsin, 
in his study of seven regional telephone companies, Ol7) found that monitored workers 
reported greater work load dissatisfaction, and a perception of less control over their 
jobs and greater levels of anxiety and tension. Smith's study concluded that electronic 
monitoring had a negative effect on employee perceptions of their work. 0 18> 

Another area of growing concern for potential increase of stress claims is the 
increase of AIDS in the workplace.<119> William Donnelly, Public Education 
Coordinator for the AIDS Foundation, citing statistics on the impact of AIDS in the 
workplace, projected that at least one million HIV positive employees are currently in 
the workplace and forecasts a dramatic increase in stress-related claims from 
employees working closely with HIV positive coworkers.<12°> The stresses related to 
those working in high risk professions ·(public health, medical , public safety) have 
shown the need to minimize the risk and stress through educational programs. Work­
related stress can also become a contributing factor in accelerating the HIV virus for an 
HIV positive employee. It is believed that stress hastens the disease's progress and 
companies might eventually have to deal with claims based on this factor.0 21 >. For 
example, in a recent New York decision, Castro v. New Life Insurance Company,022> 
the court upheld a claim for negligent infliction of distress in an AIDS phobia case. 
Here, the claimant, a cleaning woman, developed AIDS phobia after being struck by a 
negligently disposed hypodermic needle. 

The employment of disabled persons poses another area of concern for 
employers. California workers' compensation attorney, Richard H. Jordan, 
recommended that congress should amend the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA), 
or the EEO Commission should issue new regulations to avoid the difficulties 
employers are now facing from employees claiming emotional stress caused by 
personnel actions. 0 23> In many states, employees currently have the right to seek 
workers' compensation benefits and ADA remedies when they are suffering from 
emotional disorders and are denied employment opportunities by the employer they 
worked for at the time of their injury.<124> Jordan recommends eliminating job stress 
claims based on personnel actions from workers' compensation, establishing a new 
grievance system, and prohibiting employees from using decisions from workers' 
compensation tribunals to support claims of mental impairments under the ADA; he 
believes these changes would free employers from a fear of unlimited and unrestricted 
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liability for mental injuries and would further the intention of the workers' 
compensation law and the ADA. (125) ~ 

Another developing trend relating to job stress is found in the area of sex 
~iscrimination and ~xual harassment, where victims report difficulty in sleeping, 
hstlessness, depressiOn, deep feelings of worthlessness and self-blame. (126) Some 
estimat~ the stres~-~elated sexual harassment claims are costing American companies a 
staggenng $11 bilhon annually .<127) Under a 1986 Supreme Court decision sexual 
harass~ent was deter~ined to be a form of discrimination, for which the employer is 
held hable.028> Studies show 90% of the women in the work force see sexual 
harassment as a major problem. 029> Companies with stringent sexual harassment 
policie~ ~eport imp~oved productivity and morale. (130> According to a survey conducted 
by Tramm~: magazme 74% of all companies have sexual harassment policies.031J The 
key to a successful sexual harassment prohibition policy appears to be a combination of 
commitment by management, education and intervention. Companies who choose not 
to deal effectively with this problem, may one day find themselves paying vast sums in 
discrimination suits. 

Conclusion 

Stress induced psychological disorders are becoming the fastest developing 
segment of occupational ills, with the number of mental-mental claims continuing to 
grow each year. This growth can be attributed to a number of economic 
psychological, and sociological reasons, including technological advances in societ; 
and overall work environment situations. In addition, the courts liberal interpretation 
of workers' compensation laws, human rights law and common law torts, to embrace 
work-related stress claims, have contributed to the growth of such claims. There can 
be little doubt that mental claims caused by workplace stress will continue to increase 
with more. litigation in the workers' compensation and state court systems, with the 
resultant high cost to employers, employees and society at large. 

While employers have in some measure met with success in lobbying state 
legislatures for changes in workers' compensation laws in order to reduce mental­
mental claims, it is questionable whether this will be an effective solution to the 
em~rging crisis in society engendered by stress related disability claims. While the 
legislatures, and to a lesser degree, the courts, are faced with the difficult and delicate 
task of balancing the interest of employers, workers, and society at large, the pervasive 
nature of work-place stress and its resultant disability cannot be ignored. As one court 
noted, ~undue anxiety, strain and mental stress from work are frequently more 
devastatmg than a mere physical injury . .. ". (132) 

Perhaps a better solution would be for employers to adopt a holistic strt­
managem~nt philosophy ~hich would focus more on the value of workers as perso s 
and ta~e mto account ~ntlcal human needs. <133> Employers might develop progra s 
promotmg a balanced hfe style and allowing time for their employees' personal and 
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family lives. Other stress reduction and stress control programs could be instituted by 
employers. These might include educating employees to effectively handle stress, 
providing individual and group counseling, and adopting new policies designed to 
foster better work environments and better relationships between employers and 
employees. These initiatives will go a long way toward the resolution of this emerging 
crisis . 
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COMPARATIVE ASPECTS OF ANTITRUST LAW 
BETWEEN JAPAN AND THE UNITED STATES 

By 
Roy J. Girasa* 
Pace University 

Antitrust law in the Unites States and in Japan are 
fundamentally similar. There are, however, significant 
and minor differences. Both aspects will be explored in 
this paper. We will first summarily examine the nature 
of antitrust law in the United States and then compare 
its common and dissimilar characteristics with that of 
Japan. 

There are three basic statutes which together Wi·th 
their amendments define antitrust prohibitions and 
sanctions in the United States. They are: the Sherman 
Antitrust Act of 1890, the Clayton Act of 1914 and the 
Federal Trade Commission Act to 1914. 

The Sherman Antitrust Act of 18901 

The act as amended states: 

Section 1 "Every contract, 
combination in the form of trust or 
otherwise, or conspiracy, in 
restraint of trade or commerce among 
the several States, or with foreign 
nations, is hereby declared to be 
illegal. Every person who shall make 
any such contract or engage in any 
such combination or conspiracy shall 
be guilty of a felony ... 

Section 2 "Every person who shall 
monopolize, or attempt to 
monopolize, or combine or conspire 
with any other person or persons, to 
monopolize any part of the trade or 
commerce among the several States, 
or with foreign nations, shall be 
deemed guilty of a felony ... " 

Jurisdiction The constitutional basis for 
Congressional intervention in antitrust activities is 

*J.D., Ph.D., Professor of Law, Lubin School of 
Business, Pace University, Pleasantville,New York. 
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its power under Article I, Section 8 to regulate 
interstate commerce . Although the U.S. Supreme Court 
initially interpreted the commerce clause a~ excluding 
manufacturing as well as service industries, the court 
found activity to be in interstate commerce if it 
actually involves multi-state transactions or affects 
persons in other states in little more than a minimal 
way. In addition to interstate commerce, the 
prohibitions also affect foreign commerce. Activities by 
companies abroad which if domestic would violate the 
statute and cause an effect within the United States, 
come also within the constitutional power to regulate 
commerce. 3 

Conspiracy The Sh•rman Act, Section 1, prohibits 
agreements or conspiracies to restrain trade. As in the 
entire field of antitrust litigations, the wording of 
the statute, though simple in appearance, is enormously 
complex. This section is concerned with "horizontal" 
restraints. The activity must involve more than one 
legal person. Generally, a corporation cannot "conspire" 
or contract with its officers, directors or employees to 
violate the statute even though such persons are 
affiliated with a subsidiary company.

4 

conscious parallelism An expressed agreement 
between competitors clearly comes within the purview of 
the statute. The difficulty arises when there is no such 
agreement but the conduct of the parties exhibit 
behavior which the courts may prohibit. In one case, 
Interstate Circuit. Inc. v. United States5

, the United 
states Supreme Court held that a conspiracy contract or 
combination may be formed without direct proof of such 
an agreement. It would be sufficient to show that 
participants acted in a substantially similar manner, 
possessed the motive for so acting and had knowledge of 
the actions which would be taken by the other parties. 

"Rule of reason" v. per se" illegality. The statute 
forbids conduct which restrains trade. Although the 
Supreme court initially gave literal application to the 
statutory wording so as to forbid all conduct having any 
restraint on trade, it later modified its ruling so as 
to prov;.de that only unreasonable restraints would be 
banned. Under the rule of reason, the Court would 
determine whether or not conduct was illegal by 
examining a variety of factors such as the nature of the 
restraint, its purpose, possible benefits to the public, 
harmful effects and other factors. Nevertheless, there 
were certain types of conduct which were by their very 
nature (per se) violative of the Sherman Act. These 
include: 

{1) Price fixing Any agreement between competitors 
whose purpose is to raise, depress or stabilize pric~s 
in interstate or foreign commerce is per se unlawful. 

( 2) Division of markets. Any arrangement by 
competitors on the same distributive level ' which 
explicit!~ or implicitly divides territories is 
wrongful. Even indirect divisions of markets which 
affect interstate or foreign commerce is prohibited. 9 

(3) Boycotts Agreements betweenwcompetitors which 
prohibit them from dealing with certain other 
competitors or trades are per se illegal. 

(4) Resale price maintenance It is useful for a 
seller to dictate the price at which a buyer of the 
goods may resell them. on·ce a seller has disposed of the 
goods, they may be resold at whatever price the 
distributor or retailer desires. 

"Rule of reason" Not all restraints are 
automatically invalid under Sherman {1). In most cases 
the "Rule of reason" applies, i.e., only unreasonable 
restraints are prohibited. Examples include: 

{1) Agreement to exchange data such as price 
information. 10tendency to stabilize prices rather than 
allowing market forces to determine the price structure. 

{2) Self-regulation by associations. 
(3) Joint ventures in themselves are legal, i.e., 

two or more companies banding together to perform a 
particular project (e.g., the construction of a dam, 
building of a pipeline, etc.). The problem arises when 
two or more competitors join together for unlawful ends. 

Monopolies. Section 2 of the Sherman Act forbids 
monopolizing or attempts to monopolize. It does not 
forbid monopolies in and of themselves. There are two 
elements necessary to establish an offense: "{1) the 
possession of monopoly power in the relevant market and 
(2) the wilful acquisition or maintenance of that power 
as distinguished from growth or development as a 
consequence of a SUPjfior product, business acumen or 
historical accident." 

Monopoly power is the power to control prices or 
exclude competition. Crucial to an understanding of 
monopolizing is the determination of the relevant 
geographic or product market. Product market refers to 
possible substitutes or reasonable interchangeability of 
products. 

Geographic market is the area in which a 
particular company and its competition operate. The area 
may be nationwide, regional or local. Whether or not a 
company appears to be monopolistic often depends upon 
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the geographical area which the court determines to be 
the relevant market. 

Wilful act. In addition to possessing power which 
alone is not sufficient to be violative of the statute, 
a company must commit an act to acquire or enhance its 
monopoly power. If a company becomes a monopoly simply 
because others fail to enter the market or because of an 
exclusive product, there is no violation of Sherman. 

Attempts and conspiracies to monopolize are also 
prohibited by Sherman (1). Attempt relates to the effort 
made by a party to accomplish the goal of monopolizing, 
intending to and committing an overt act in so doing. 
The conduct required is similar to the conduct described 
above for monopolizing. 

Conspiracy to monopolize is the attempt ·to 
monopolize in unison with at least another person with 
intent to monopolize. 

Sanctions for violations The Sherman Act is the 
only statute of the three major antitrust laws which 
imposes criminal as well as civil penalties. Individuals 
who violate the Sherman Act can be imprisoned up to 
three years and issued a fine up to $100,000.00. 
Corporations can· be fined up to $1,000,000.00. Corporate 
officers acting on behalf of the company can be fined up 
to $5,000.00 and/or one year in prison. It is more 
likely, however, that the federal government will 
utilize the equitable powers of the court, i.e., the 
prosecution will generally ask the Court to issue an 
injunction to prevent and restrain the offending 
conduct, divide the assets of a company, compel a 
divestiture of subsidiaries of a company, grant licenses 
to competitors, cancel contracts and other court­
fashioned remedies. 

THE CLAYTON ACT OF 1914 12 

After a decade of antitrust experience, many of the 
abuses which previously existed continued to prevail in 
a variety of forms. They were due in part to experienced 
corporation counsel who devised a multi tude of 
techniques to avoid Sherman Act restraints. Congress 
attempted to close these loopholes in 1914 by the 
enactment of two major statutes, namely, the Clayton Act 
and the Federal Trade Commission Act. These statutes, as 
amended, cover a variety of abuses of which corporate 
and other business persons should be aware. 

Price Discrimination Section 2 of the Clayton Act 

as substantially modified by and known as the "Robinso':l­
Patman Act of 1936, "provided in subsection (a) that 1t 
is unlawful to engage in price discrimination "between 
different purchases of commodities of like grade and 
quality •.. where the effect of such discrimination may be 
substantially to lessen competition or tend to create a 
monopoly in any line of comm?rc;:e ... " The stat~te t~us 
requires a number of prerequ1s1tes before a v1olat1on 
will be found, namely: 

(a) The persons involved must be engaged in 
interstate commerce; "" 

(b) There must be at least two sales between 
different purchases at a discriminatory price .. There 
must be two distinct sales, not merely a lease, l1cense, 
consignment or other like arrangement; 

(c) The sales must be fairly contemporaneous. 
(d) Sales "of commodities of like goods and 

quality" must be involved. Only tangible rather than 
intangible products are within the statute. 
(e) There must be a "discrimination in price." "Price" 
is not merely the charge for the goods but includes 
terms of sale such as credit and preferential 
allowances. Allowing some buyers preferential credit 
treatment may violate the statute. 

Defenses A person charged with a Robinson-Patman 
price discrimination offense may defend against 
liability by interposing a number of defenses 
specifically authorized by the Act. These defenses 
include: 

(a) Cost differential Section 2(a) says that 
the statute does not "prevent differentials which make 
only due allowance for differences in the cost to 
manufacture, sale or delivery resulting from the 
differing methods or quantities in which such 
commodities are to such purchasers sold or delivered ... " 
A seller can classify an average customer into various 
groups provided they are relatively homogenous. 

(b) Changing conditions Another defense which 
a person may interpose is proof that price variations 
took place in response to a change in conditions such as 
"actual or imminent deterioration of perishable goods, 
obsolescence of seasonal goods, distress sales under 
court process, or sales in good faith in discontinuance 
of business in the good concerned." The mr:t common 
example is the lowering of prices for o tdated or 
seasonal items. 

(c) Meeting competition Section 2(b) states 
that a seller can justify price differentiation by 
"showing that his lower price or the furnishing of 
services or facilities to any purchaser or purchasers 
was made in good faith to meet an equally low price of 
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a competitor, ol the services or facilities furnished by 
a competitor." 1 

Indirect price discrimination-broker allowances 
section 2 (c) makes it unlawful "to pay or grant,, o:.; to 
receive or accept, anything of value as a comm~ss~on, 
brokerage, or other compensation, or any allowanc.:; or 
discount in lieu thereof, except for serv~ces 
rendered ••. " 

compensation for services and promotions Section 
2(d) makes it unlawful for a seller to pay for services 
or facilities rendered or furnished by a buyer unless 
such compensation is available on a proportionate basis 
to all other customers of competing products. Section 
2(e) forbids a seller from furnishing services or 
facilities to buyers unless they are rendered to all 
buyers on a proportionate basis. 

Tying arrangements Section 3 of the Clayton Act 
forbids a seller or lessor of a commodity from 
conditioning or tying its sale or lease to the purchase 
or lease of another product. There must be at least two 
separate products: the tying and the tied product. A 
second requirement is that the seller or lessor have 
substantial market power so as to be able to lessen 
competition substantially. 14 . , 

Mergers The first paragraph of Section 7 of the 
Clayton Act, amended in 1950 and 1980, sets forth the 
merger provision: 

"No person engaged in commerce or in 
any activity affecting commerce 
shall acquire, directly or 
indirectly, the whole or any part of 
the stock or other share capital and 
no person subject to the 
jurisdiction of the Federal Trade 
Commission shall acquire the whole 
or any part of the assets of another 
person engaged also in commerce or 
in any activity effecting commerce 
where in any line of commerce or in 
any activity affecting commerce, in 
any section of the country, the 
effect of such acquisition may be 
substantially to lessen competition, 
or to tend to create a monopoly." 

The merger involves the combining of previously 
separate firms into one having a common ownership and 

control. Originally, the Clayton Act forbade the 
acquisition of stock in another corporation which tended 
to lessen competition. The Cellar-Kefauver Act of 1950 
amended Section 7 to include asset acquisitions as well 
as stock mergers. 15 
· · Remedies The Clayton Act provides only for civil 
remedies as distinguished from criminal penalties. The 
United States Government acts through the Justice 
Department and the Federal Trade Commission in its 
administrative hearings. Private parties have broad 
remedies for statutory violations directly affecting 
them. Equitable remedies allowable to the government 
include actions to: (1) enjoin or stop the defendant 
from committing the offending act; (2) cause a 
divestiture or severing· of relationship if an action 
such as a completed merger has taken place; (3) 
preliminarily enjoin a present activity pending 
determination of the outcome; (4) compel a company· to 
license or give permission to others to use its patents, 
trademarks or copyrights; and (5) divide the assets of 
a company. In addition, the parties may be induced to 
enter into consent decrees whereby the parties settle 
under certain terms and conditions. Approximately 85 
percent of all cases are resolved in this manner. 

The most potent private remedy is an action for 
treble damages. A private party is able to collect three 
times its provable damages plus a reasonable attorney's 
fee for loss of profits, added costs attributable to the 
forbidden activity and decrease in value, if any, of the 
injured party's investment. The litigant, however, must 
establish a causal relationship between its damages and 
the action of the offending party. 

Exceptions Exempted from the prohibitions of the 
Clayton Act include labor unions and business concerns 
controlled by other governmental agencies, such as 
banks, railroads, airlines and stock exchanges. 

THE FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION ACT OF 1914 16 

The third major piece of legislation governing 
antitrust activities is the Federal Trade Commission Act 
enacted at the same time as the Clayton Act. The Act 
created the Federal Trade Commission. Section 5(a) (1) 
grants antitrust jurisdiction to the FTC by providing: 
"Uniform methods of competition in commerce, and unfair 
or deceptive acts or practices in commerce, and unfair 
or deceptive acts or practices in commerce, are hereby 
declared unlawful." Section 5 (a) ( 6) provides: "The 
Commission is hereby empowered and directed to prevent 
persons, partnerships or corporations ... from using 
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unfair methods of competition in commerce and unfair or 
deceptive acts or practices on commerce." 

The FTC is solely empowered to enforce Section 
5(a) (1) above and to enforce, together with the Attorney 
General, the Sherman and Clayton Acts. Section 5(a) (1) 
is so broad that virtually all conduct prohibited by the 
Sherman and Clayton Acts comes within its purview. For 
example, conspiracy or attempts to monopolize, price 
fixing, vertical and horizontal restraints are "unfair 
methods of competition." The provision is broader than 
the Sherman and Clayton prohibitions. Thus, certain 
conduct not forbidden under these laws may be proscribed 
under the Act. 

The FTC is empowered to protect the consumer 
against deceptive and unfair acts or practices such as 
false and misleading advertising, deceptive claims, 
nondisclosure of hazardous products and deceptive 
warranty representations. It has the power to conduct 
broad investigations of possible antitrust violations 
• • • I 1nclud1ng the 1ssuance of subpoenas. It may issue 
guidelines, advisory opinions and enter into consent 
decrees with persons who may be violating the laws 
within FTC jurisdiction. It may sue in Federal Courts 
for the issuance of an injunction and can issue cease 
and desist ·order's directly, Violations of its orders can 
result in civil penalties of up to $10,000.00 per day. 

We will now review the manner in which Japan 
promulgates and enforces its antitrust laws. 

Japanese Antitrust Law 

The historical development of Japan's policy with 
respect ot cartels may be divided into three major eras, 
namely, the Tokugawa Shogunate Era (1603-1868) · the post 
Meiji Restoration of 1868 and the post World W~r II Era. 
Prior ~o ~86~, the Tokug~wa governments were essentially 
feudal1st1c 1n nature w1th emphasis upon the concept of 
"wa" or social harmony which mandated that commercial 
d~sputes be resolved without litigation. Individual 
r1ghts were subsumed to that of society. 17 

The Tokugawa government was overthrown in 1868 and 
re~~~ced by a ~overnment under the Emperor known as the 
Me1J1 R7s~orat1on of 1868. The Restoration brought about 
a trans1~1on of the feudal based society into the modern 
~orld ~1th a reformed monetary, educational and 
1n~ustr1~l system. Government worked closely with 
pr1~ate. 1ndustry to create ,, a unique form of Japanese 
cap1tal1sm. As in the U.S., various cartels formed known 

as 7he Zaibatsu combines, led by a number of families. 
Unl1ke the u.s. which passed the several antitrust laws 
referred to in this paper, the government virtually 
fostered cartels and monopolies which it found easi1r to 
control than a more pluralistic industrial complex. 1 The 
four major Zaibatsu families of Missui Mitsubishi 
Sumit~mo and Yasuda controlled 544 co~panies which 
const1tuted almost half of the financial sector and a 
third of heavy industry. 

The allied victory over Japan led to a dissolution 
o~ the Zaibatsu groups. President Harry s. Truman • s 
d1rective of September 6, 1945 to General Douglas 
MacArthur mandated the development of democratic 
o:ganizations in labor, industry and agriculture 
d1rected to peaceful ends, It stated: 

"To this end it shall be the 
policy of the Supreme Commander 
(a) to prohibit the retention in or 
selection of places of importance in 
the economic field of individuals 
who do not direct future Japanese 
economic effort solely toward 
peaceful ends; and 
(b) ro favor a program for the 
dissolution of the large industrial 
and banking combinations which have 
exercised control for a great part 
of Japan's trade and industry. 

. Mac~rthur issued a Directive calling for the 
d1ssolut1on of the Zaibatsu and other combinations of 
enterprise, the abolition of private monoP.~lization and 
the establishment of a competitive system. 1 Ultimately, 
the statute, which was an enactment of these goals was 
passed and made effective on July 20, 1947 and was known 
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as the "Act Concerning Prohibition of Private Monopoly 
and Maintenance of Fair Trade. 1120 The Act was modeled 
upon the three major u.s. antitrust enactments, namel~ 
the ~he:man Act, the Clayton Act and the Federal Trade 
comm1ss1on Act. 

The Japanese Antimonopoly Act of 19472 1 

The purpose of the Act is set forth in Section 1: 

"This Act, by prohibiting 
private monopolization, unreasonable 
restraint of trade and unfair 
business practices, by preventing 
the excessive concentration of 
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economic power and by eliminating 
unreasonable restraint of 
production, sale, price, technology, 
and the like and all other undue 
restoration of business activities 
through combination agreements and 
otherwise, aims to promote free and 
fair competition, to stimulate the 
initiative of entrepreneurs, to 
encourage business activities of 
enterprises, to heighten the level 
of employment and people's real 
income and thereby to prevent the 
domestic and wholesome development 
of the national economy as well as 
to assure the interest of consumers 
in general." 

The purpose clause clearly is reflective of the 
goods of the U.S. statutes outlined above. The 
substantive requirements are set forth in Section 3 of 
Chapter II which states that "No entrepreneurs shall 
effect private monopolization of any unreasonable 
restraint of trade." The section is a summary of the two 
substantive sections of the Sherman Anti-Trust Act. 
Section 19 ref~ects Section 5 of the Federal Trade 
Commission Act by forbidding an entrepreneur from 
employing unfair business practices. The Federal Trade 
Commission Act created the Federal Trade Commission to 
enforce the provisions for the Act. Enforcement of the 
Japanese Antimonopoly statute is by the Fair Trade 
Commission. The similarity in nomenclature is not 
coincidental. 

Section 2 of the Antimonopoly Act defines each of 
the key words of Section 3. "Entrepreneur" is any person 
who carries on a commercial, industrial, financial or 
other business including officers, employers or agents 
or thereof. "Private monopolization" refers to business 
activities by any person acting alone or in combination 
or conspiracy with other entrepreneurs [almost identical 
to Sherman Act, Section 2. "Every person who shall 
monopolize .... or combine or conspire with any other 
person"] which excludes or controls business activities 
of other entrepreneurs causing a substantial restraint 
of competition in any particular field or trade 
[Sherman: "Every contract combination .... or conspiracy, 
in restraint of trade or ~ommerce among the several 
States, or with foreign nations is declared to be 
illegal."] "Unreasonable restraint of trade" is defined 
as business activities by contract or concerted 
activities which mutually restrict their business 

practice so as to fix, maintain, or enhance prices, or 
to limit production, technology, products, facilities or 
customers or suppliers causing a substantial restraint 
of competition [Section 2(6)] This definition is very 
similar to Section 2 of the Robinson-Patman Act. 

Fair Business Practices The prohibition against 
monopolization extends to international agreements or 
contracts containing subject matter which constitutes 
unreasonable restraint of trade or unfair business 
practices [Section 6(1)]. Unfair business practices 
refers to any act which tends to impede fair competition 
and which: ( 1) unduly discriminates against other 
entrepreneurs; (2) deals at undue prices; (3) 
unreasonably induces or coerces customers of a 
competition to deal with oneself; (4) trading with 
another party so as to unjustly restrict the business 
activities of the latter; (5) abusing one's bargaining 
position; or (6) unjustly interfering with a transaction 
between a competitor and its customer or causing an 
officer or shareholder to act against the interest of 
hisjher company. The definition again is reflective of 
u.s. law particularly, the Robinson-Patman Act, with 
respect to price discrimination and predatory pricing 
practices (Section 2,3) as well as Clayton's prohibition 
of tying and boycott (Section 3). The last aspect of 
the definition is similar to u.s. Common law injunction 
against interference with contracts. (Pennsoil 
litigation) . 

The Fair Trade Commission further elaborated upon 
the meaning of "unfair busines~ practices" in its 
notifications of 1953 and 1982. 2 Among the specific 
prohibitions were: 

Unduly refusing to deal with a certain entrepreneur 
or restricting the quality or a substance of a commodity 
or causing another to so refuse service [U.S. - boycott 
provision of Clayton); 

Price discrimination [Compare Robinson-Patman); " 
Affording favorable or unfavorable treatment of and~ 

entrepreneur (Robinson-Patman 2(d)]; 
Unjustly excluding an entrepreneur from a trade 

association or unjust discrimination against it; without 
proper justification, supplying a commodity or service 
excessively below cost or at a low cost on a continuous 
basis so as to cause difficulties to other 
entrepreneurs; 

Unjustly purchasing a commodity or service at a 
high price as to cause difficulties to other 
entrepreneurs; 

Wrongful inducement to customers of a competitor to 
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deal with oneself by alleged unsubstantial claims that 
one's commodity or service is better then competitor or 
by· offering unjust benefits in the light of normal 
business practices; 

unjustly causing a purchaser to purchase a 
commodity or service by tying it with another purchase 
or otherwise coercing the party to deal with oneself; 

Unjustly dealing with a party on condition that it 
does not deal with a competitor; 

Imposing resale price restriction without . p:oper 
justification upon the purchaser of one's commod1t1es; 

Abusing one's dominant bargaining position by 
unfairly compelling the other party to purchase a 
commodity or service not involved in the transaction ~r 
causing it to provide money, service or other econom1c 
benefit not warranted under the circumstances, setting 
or changing terms of the transaction in . a 
disadvantageous way to the other party or otherw~·se 
imposing a disadvantage upon the other party regard1ng 
execution of the agreement; 

Interfering with the formation of a contract or 
inducing a breach of contract by a competitor; 

Interfering with the internal operation of a 
competitor by wrongful inducement of a shareholder in 
its exercise of voting rights divulgences of secrets or 
by any other means. 

Filing Section 6 (2) of the Act mandated that any 
entrepreneur entering into a international transaction 
which the Fair Trade Commission finds a tendency towards 
unfair business practice or unreasonable restraint of 
trade, shall file a report within 30 days with the FTC 
together with a copy of the contract or agreement or a 
memorandum of the substance of an oral agreement. Forms 
are provided by the FTC in accordance with the nature of 
the agreement. Failure to file such a report would 
subject the entrepreneur to a fine of up to 2 million 
yen and further subjects the offending officer, agents 
or e~~loyees committing the violation to a similar 
fine. No such comparable statute or regulation exists 
in the u.s. 2' 

Trade Association The act specifically addresses 
activities of trade association. Section 8(1) states: 

"No trade association shall engage 
in any one of the following acts: 

i) Substantially 
restricting competition in 
any particular field of 
trade; 
ii) Entering into an 

international agreement or 
an international contract 
as provided for in Section 
6(1) (Contracts which 
unreasonably restrain 
trade or unfair business 
practices; 
iii) Limiting the present 
or future number of 
entrepreneurs 
particular 
business; 

in 
field 

any 
of 

iv) Unduly restricting the 
functions or activities of 
the constituent 
entrepreneurs (meaning an 
entrepreneur who is a 
member of the trade 
association; hereinafter 
the same); 
v) causing entrepreneurs 
to do acts as constitutes 
unfair business 
practices." 

The reason why trade associations are specifically 
addressed · is because historically these associations 
were meeting grounds for the formation of cartels. Every 
trade association is given 30 days to file a report with 
the FTC of its formation (Sec. 8(2)) as well as for any 
changes or termination thereof (Sec. 8(3) (4)). 

The FTC guideline formulated in August, 1979 
elaborated upon the statutory prohibition. Generally 
they prohibit price fixing of every nature, enforcement 
of resale prices maintenance, restriction of output, 
restriction of governing sales territory, and 
competition, restriction concerning development or use 
of technology, defamation of non-members and other 
restrictions. 

The remedy provided is similar to the remedy set 
forth above but in addition thereto. The FTC is 
empowered to issue a dissolution of the trade 
association and take any measure to carry out the 
statute. 

Monopolistic Situations If the FTC determines that a 
monopolistic situation exists, it may order the 
entrepreneur to transform a part of its business or take 
any other measures necessary to restore c~rpetitiveness 
with respect to such goods and services. The statute 
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does place some limitations upon the FTC by foregoing 
statutory injunction if such action by the FTC reduces 
the business of the entrepreneurs to such an extent that 
the cash required for the sale of goods or services will 
rise sharply, undermines the financial position of the 
entrepreneur or makes it difficul~ for it to maintain 
its international competitiveness. 6 

The FTC in making its determination is to consider 
the entrepreneur's (1) assets, means of expenditures; 
(2) officers and employees; (3) location of factories, 
workyards and offices; (4) business facilities and 
equipment; ( 5) the substance of intellectual property 
rights; ( 6) capacity of production and sales and for 
obtaining funds and materials and (7) aspects of supply 
and distr!bution of supply and distribution of goods or 
services. 7 

A "monopolistic situation" is defined at length in 
the Act in terms of market structure and market 
performance such the situation occurs whenever such 
structure or performance exists in an area of business 
where the total amount of prices of goods of the same 
description and those of other goods essentially similar 
thereto are supplied in Japan or the total amount of 
prices of servi~e supplied in Japan is in excess of 50 
billion yen for a one year period and; (a) the market 
share of one entrepreneur exceeds 50% or the combined 
share of entrepreneurs exceeds 75%; or (b) conditions 
exist which make new entrants very unlikely; or (c) 
where the increase in price for the goods or service or 
the decrease therein is slight considering the charges 
in the market place; and where the entrepreneur has 
earned for excessive profit rate or is expending for 
cost and administrative expenses far in excess of the 
norm. 28 

In such event the FTC shall notify the appropriate 
governmental ministry of the monopolistic situation who 
shall render his view regarding the existence or non­
existence of such a monopolistic situation as well as 
his recommendation as to which measures should be taken 
if such situation does exist. 29 A public hearin~ is then 
held by the FTC to obtain the public's views. 3 The FTC 
will then issue a c~Tplaint but only after it consults 
with such minister. The complaint must be in writing 
outlining the case. After the hearing in which all 
parties present their position, the commission renders 
its decision which may include the remedies heretofore 
stated. 32 

STOCKHOLDING, INTERLOCKING DIRECTORATES, 

MERGER AND TRANSFER OF BUSINESS 

The Act addresses the prohibitions addressed by 
President Truman to General MacArthur. To eliminate the 
pre-war Zaibatsu combines, the Act specifica~ly 
prohibits the formation of a holding company. A "hold1ng 
company" is defined as: "a company whose principal 
business is to control the business activities of a 
company or companies in Japan by means of holding of 
stock (including shares of partnership ... " 3 It applies 
only to Japan and not to holding companies possessing 
the shares of a foreign company. 

Giant Company Giant companies also face restriction in 
stockholdings. Any stock company, other than one engaged 
in financial services (banks, insurance, securities), 
whose capital is larger than 10 billion yen or whose net 
assets are larger than 30 billion yen is not allowed· to 
acquire stock in Japanese companies in excess of its 
capital or its net assets whichever is larger. 
Exceptions include governmental corporations, 
corporations engaged in development of industries as 
permitted by a Cabinet Order and companies involved \~ 
international business or foreign investments. 
Companies engaged in financial service have much 
stricter limitations (l~mit purchases t~ 5%) ~[ stock of 
mother company; 10% of 1nsurance compan1es . 

The Act prohibits the purchase of any stock of a 
company in Japan where the effect is to substantially 
restrain competition in any field of trade. 36 Compare 
section 7 of the Clayton Act which forbids the 
acquisition of stock or other share capital of assets of 
another corporation where the effect is to substantially 
lesser competition or tends to create a monopoly. The 
Japanese FTC, like the u.s. FTC has guidelines with 
respect to mergers. 

The FTC will closely examine all stockholdings 
where the combined market share is 25% or more; the 
combined market share is one-third and the combined 
share of the top three companies is 50% or more where 
there are seven or few competitors; and where the total 
assets of one corporation is 100 bil}ion yen and the 
other party is 10 billion yen or more. 7 

Financial Company The Act restricts stockholding by a 
financial company by forbidding the acquisition of 
shares by a company engaged in the financial sector from 
acquiring or holding stock of another company in Japan 
to the extent of greater than 5 percent or 10 percent if 
the purchase is of insurance company stock. The FTC is 
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given the authority t .o . grant ex?eptions. with 
consultation with the M1n1ster of F1nance 1f the 
acquisition was the result of enforcement of a lien, 
pledges mortgage or payment of an indebtedness or 
purchas~ was of shares in a securities firm or it was 
acquisition of stock in the form of trust property or 
securities trust. 38 

Interlocking directorates The Act forbids an officer or 
employee of a company from holding a similar portion in 
another company in Japan where the effect is to 
substantially lessen competition in a field or trade. A 
company in Japan cannot compel a competing company to 
hire one of its officers or employees to act as an 
officer in such other company. If an officer or employee 
does possess such status and the total assets of either 
company exceeds 2 billion yen, sfhe must file a report 
with t~~ FTC within 30 days of assumption of such 
office. Compare Section 8 of Clayton Act which 
provides that "No person at the same time shall be a 
director in any tow or more corporations, any one of 
which has capital, surplus, and individual profits 
aggregating more than $1,000,000 ... " 

Restriction on purchase of shares by an individual The 
Act forbids a person other than a company from acquiring 
or ., holding stock of another company which such 
acquisition may restrain competition in such acquisition 
is accomplished by unfair business practice. If a 
purchase of shares in mutual competing companies exceeds 
10 percent of the second companys he must file a report 
with the FTC within 30 days of acquisition. 40 

Restriction on mergers The Act forbids mergers or 
consolidation (a) where the effect may be to 
substantially restrain competition in any field or trade 
or (b) when unfair business practices have been emf{oyed 
in the course of such merger or consolidation. All 
mergers or consolidations must be done by filing a 
report with the FTC and must wait for the expiration of 
a 30 day waiting period from date of filing. The FTC may 
extend the period to 60 days with consent of the 
companies or shorten the said period. The FTC must file 
its complaint or recommendation within the said waiting 
period unless there has been false statement~ made in 
the filing with respect to important matters.' 

Restrictions on acquisition of assets De facto mergers 
are also subject to the preceding section where a 
company acquires the business or fixed assets of a 
competing company or leases most of the business of 
another company or enters into a join profit and loss 

account arrangement with another company. 43 

It should be noted that the prohibition of this and 
preceding section are applicable only within Japan. It 
is not unlawful to merge or acquire assets in competing 
companies beyond its borders. 

Parallel Price Increases Historically, u.s. courts have 
applied the concept of "conscious parallelism" where 
direct proof of concerted price fixing or other wrongful 
conduct has not been established but where conduct has 
occurred and the parties had knowledge, motive and 
substantifl unanimity with respect to each other•s 
actions. The Antimonopoly Act addressed similar 
parallelism with respect ·to price increases. The FTC may 
inquire and compel a report from entrepreneurs 
requesting reasons for the in price of goods and 
services where the total price of goods or services · of 
the same type is in excess of 30 billion yen and the 
rises by the largest entrepreneur with an aggregate 
market share in excess share in excess of 70 percent is 
almost identical within a 3 month period. 45 

Exemptions The U.S. exempts certain entities from the 
antitrust laws. They include air carriers, agricultural 
organizations, , motor, rail and interstate water 
carriers, export trade associations, stack ·exchanges and 
labor union. Similarly, exemptions are granted under the 
Antimonopoly laws to persons engaged in a rail way, 
electricity, gas and other enterprises which by nature 
are monopolies. Other exemptions include those permitted 
by law, monopolies arising under intellectual property 
right enactments (patents, copyright, trademark), acts 
of cooperative and statutory exception for agriculture, 
consumer coops, labor unions, forestr~ cooperativ~ and 
public service mutual aid association. 6 

Enforcement of the Antimonopoly Law Violations of the 
Antimonopoly laws are enforced against in four ways: (1) 
administrative guidance; (2) formal action by the FTC; 
(3) criminal proced~re initiated by the FTC; and (4) 
private litigation. 7 The FTC is given broad powers 
under the Antimonopoly laws to initiate both civil and 
criminal proceedings. Any person is allowed to file a 
complaint with the FTC which may undertake an 
investigation. The FTC then determines what action if 
any, to undertake. A report of its investigation is 
given to the complainant. If action is mandated, the FTC 
then initiates the appropriate procedure ,~ich varies 
depending upon the nature of the violation. 

In its investigation, the FTC may order persons 
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affect or witnesses to appear for interrogation. It may 
further order experts to appear and give expert 
testimony, order submission of accounting books and 
records and enter upon any place of business being 
investigated to inspect conditions rf its operations as 
well as its books and records. 4 A record of its 
investigation must be maintained. 

The FTC upon a finding of a violation of 
monopolization of unreasonable restraint of trade, trade 
association violation and other violations, may 
recommend that the persons affected take appropriate 
measure to cure the violations. If the person accepts 
the recommendation, a decision is rendered without a 
formal hearing. If the FTC finds a violation of Section 
7 of the Act (private monopolization or restraint of 
trade), it may order the entrepreneur to pay the 
Japanese Treasury a surcharge. If the perso~ objects 
timely, a hearing procedure will be commenced. 0 

A formal hearing is initiated by the issuance by 
the FTC of a complaint which is in writing and which 
outlines the case. The respondent submits an answer. 
Generally a hearing examiner then conducts the 
proceeding in which both sides submit their evidence. 
The hearing is public unless it is necessary to protect 
trade secrets. The commission then makes a 
determination, based upon the hearing, whether a 
violation has taken place. A certified copy of the 
written decision is served upon the respondent. The 
respondent may bring on a lawsuit in Court to grant a 
decision of the FTC; however, the findings of fact by 
the FTC shall, if supported by substantial evidence, be 
binding upon the Court. The Court may grant the decision 
if the decision is not supported by substantial evidence 
or is inconsistent with the constitution or other laws 
or prders. 51 

General Considerations American companies wishing to do 
business in Japan must be attentive to the above stated 
statutory prohibitions. A U.S. company must be careful 
no to become designated as a holding company, i.e. , 
where its principal business is to control business 
activities of other companies. The exception are: ( 1) 
where the holding company is engaged in the same line of 
business and (2) a foreign holding corporations and its 
related companies may control one Japanese corporation 
even if it is not in the same line of business. 

Like the U.S., the Antimonopoly Law has 
extraterritorial reach. In order to be affected by the 
statute, a presence is necessary either by way of a u.s. 

corporation's acquisition of a Japanese corporation or 
its assets or at least "close contracts" with Japan. 
service of process howevez::, must be .acco;'llplished 5 fY 
service upon a place of bus1ness or off1ce 1n Japan. 

CONCLUSIONS 

The Anti trust laws of Japan and the U.S. have a 
great deal of similarity. It appears initially that the 
Japanese legislation may be stricter than the U.S. but 
enforcement tends to be relatively lax. Nevertheless, 
companies doing business in Japan must conform to the 
statutory requirements to avoid conflict with local 
authorities. 
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DISCRIMINATION IN EMPLOYMENT AND EDUCATION 

BECAUSE OF DYSLEXIA 

by 

Dr. Sharlene A. McEvoy* 

ABSTRACT 

Despite advances in medical science in 
the area of brain studies, the identification 
of some causes of learning disabilities and 
instructions to sufferers on how to cope with 
them, the law has lagged behind and dyslexics 
remain victims of discrimination in employment 
and education. This paper analyzes cases in 
which dyslexics have sued to gain their 
rights, under the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 
and the Education of All Handicapped Children 
Act of 1975 and The Americans With 
Disabilities Act. 

INTRODUCTION 
See spot nur 
Spot likes to dlay 
in the bark 
with other gods 
There are many animals in 
the dark. There are dirbs 
and squirrels and fish in 
a bond. 1 

This is the world of the dyslexic, which, despite some popular 
misconceptions, is not an illness or a form of mental retardation. 
It is a complex learning disability that often runs in families. 
It does not only cause a person to see letters backward like 
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an M.A. from Trinity College, A J.D. from the University of 
Connecticut Law School and a Ph.D. from U.C.L.A. 
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"p" for "g" or "b" for "d." People with dyslexia do not process 
information well and it often becomes confused in the brain. 2 In 
addition to having difficulties with reading, a dyslexic may have 
irregular handwriting, math difficulties, organizational problems, 
and a poor sense of direction and time. Some dyslexics may have 
difficulty performing simple tasks, following instructions or 
conducting casual conversations. 3 

Dyslexia was recognized as long ago as 1887 as a form of word 
blindness but for decades it was thought to be caused by a disease, 
the effect of an injury, or upbringing. 4 While some researchers 
believe that dyslexia is a case of differently wired-circuits in 
the brain, a recent study published in the Proceedings of the 
National Academy of Science states that the cause of dyslexia might 
indeed be a failure of visual system circuits to keep proper timing 
caused by an autoimmune disease before or after birth. Abnormally 
processed sights and sounds might begin to shape the infant's brain 
and cause it to be wired differently from the start. 5 

Whatever the cause, studies have shown that dyslexia 
boys more than girls, that it may run in families, and 
affects 4-5 percent of the population or some 12 
Americans. 6 

affects 
that it 
million 

Although dyslexia affects a significant number of Americans, 
the number of research dollars allocated to it is low, and many 
academics are unwilling to recognize dyslexia's role in this 
country's illiteracy problem. 7 If children were properly tested 
for dyslexia when young and offered appropriate education, the 
problem related to the disability could begin to be remedied. 

Since this is not the case, the educational system must deal 
with students who suffer from this problem and later~oyers must 
deal with testing them for jobs. When dyslexics have problems that 
cannot be resolved with employers and educators, the courts must 
get involved. This article discusses several cases in which 
dyslexics have been forced to bring actions to fight discrimination 
against them involving important laws the Education of All 
Handicapped Children Act, (EAHCA) which makes learning disabilities 
a legally recognized handicap and entitles afflicted students to a 
range of services in elementary and secondary school, and Section 
504 of the Rehabilitation Act which covers certain employers and 
causes public and private colleges and universities to lose federal 
assistance if they discriminate against qualified learning disabled 
students as well as the Americans with Disabilities Act. Clearly 
dyslexics have rights under these laws. It is unfortunate that 
they have had to resort to the courts on so many occasions to 
enforce them with mixed success. 

II EMPLOYMENT DISCRIMINATION AGAINST DYSLEXICS 

There are three cases in the area of employment discrimination 
~hat underscore the difficulty that dyslexics have in obtaining 
Jobs: Stutts v. Freeman, 8 Fitzgerald v. Green Valley Area 
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Education Agency, 9 and DiPompo v. West Point Military Academy. 10 

In Stutts v. Freeman, Stutts was hired in 1971 by the 
Tennessee Valley Authority as a temporary laborer at the TVA's 
Colbert Steam Plant in Colbert County, Alabama and then hired 
permanently in 1973. 11 In 1979, Stutts applied for an opening in 
the apprenticeship training program to become a heavy equipment 
operator but his application was denied because of a low score on 
the GATB, a test used by the TVA to predict the probability of 
success of applicants in the training program. 

Stutts had been diagnosed as a dyslexic, which impaired his 
ability to read. In fact, the record showed that Stutts could not 
read beyond the elementary level and that this was the reason for 
his poor performance on the GATB. 12 

Stutts was subsequently evaluated by a doctor and given non­
written tests. He was judged to be of above-average intelligence, 
coordination, and aptitude for a position of heavy equipment 
operator. 13 

Attempts to persuade the testing service to give Stutts an 
oral GATB were unsuccessful because the scoring on the test is 
based on standardized and uniform testing conditions which could 
not be accurately translated from an oral test. Thus Stutt's non­
selection was based solely on his low score on the GATB. 

Stutts argued that he was the victim of discrimination under 
the Rehabilitation Act of 1973. 14 The policy of the law is to 
promote and expand employment opportunities in the public and 
private sectors for persons with handicaps. Even the TVA agreed 
that Stutts was handicapped and that the GATB could not accurately 
reflect Stutt' s abilities. 15 

The Court found considerable evidence that Stutts was fully 
capable of performing the job of equipment operator and that there 
was a genuine issue as to whether he could complete the training 
program with the help of a reader or by other means. 

The Court noted that congress has clearly directed that 
employers make efforts to expand opportunities for handicapped 
persons, 16 but that TVA did not satisfy its obligation under the 
Rehabilitation Act by merely asking for the results of Stutt's oral 
tests and then accepting a rejection. 17 

The Court did not state that Stutts had to be given a position 
as a heavy equipment operator or that he had to be admitted to a 
training program, but it did hold that "when the TVA uses a test 
which cannot and does not accurately reflect the abilities of a 
handicapped person as a matter of law, they must do more to 
accommodate that individual than the TVA has done in regard to 
Stutts. " 18 

Despite the TVA's protestation that it sought to give Stutts 
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a non-written GATB test and get the results of his oral 
examinations, the fact remained that the TVA was not successful and 
it made its employment decision based on the GATB. The Court said, 
"TVA's unsuccessful efforts do not amount to a reasonable 
accommodation of the handicapped as required by 45 C.F.R. 84.12 
(1981). " 19 

The Appeals Court concluded that the district court's reliance 
on the GATB test results was in error saying, "when an employer 
like the TVA chooses a test that discriminates against handicapped 
persons as its sole hiring criterion and makes no meaningful 
accommodation for a handicapped applicant, it violates the 
Rehabilitation Act of 1973."m 

Although the landmark case in the area of handicapped 
discrimination is Southeastern Community College v. Davis. 21 the 
court held that it did not apply to Stutts. In Southeastern, the 
supreme Court held that a nursing school was not compelled by the 
Rehabilitation Act to admit an applicant with a serious hearing 
disability because evidence showed that the ability to hear speech 
was a necessary qualification for a nurse. The Court refused to 
order the school to hire a person to follow Davis around every day 
to interpret speech whenever necessary. 22 The Appeals Court said 
that the TVA had not shown that the ability to read was a necessary 
physical qualification for the job or that if Stutts needed 
accommodation it would be an unreasonable burden on TVA to provide 
it. The court stated that the ultimate test is whether, with 
reasonable accommodation, an individual is able to perform the 
functions of the job without endangering the health or safety of 
the individual or others. The Court was convinced that Stutts 
could perform competently as a heavy equipment operator and that if 
he had trouble with the outside reading requirement, that obstacle 
could be overcome by obtaining a professional or family member to 
act as a reader. 23 ~ 

In DiPompo v. West Point Military Academy, DiPompo also 
suffered from dyslexia which, like Stutts, hampered his ability to 
read. When DiPompo was calm, he could read about as well as an 
advanced first grader, but when under stress, evidence showed that 
he was illiterate. 24 

DiPompo was a mason's helper at West Point and a volunteer 
firefighter in the Beacon, New York fire department. In September 
1980 and June 1982, DiPompo applied to work as a fire fighter at 
West Point but on both occasions his applications were rejected. 
In January, 1984, DiPompo even sought a temporary summer fire 
fighter position but was denied. 

After mediation efforts failed in June, 1984, DiPompo filed an 
Equal Employment Opportunity complaint alleging that West Point's 
decision not to hire him temporarily was illegal based on his 
handicap. 25 

While this claim was being investigated, DiPompo applied to 
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become a structural fire fighter, took a physical examination and 
was required to read from a fire fighters manual. Because West 
Point requires its firefighters to read at a twelfth grade level in 
order to be accepted, DiPompo was rejected and in January, 1985 
filed a second EEO complaint against asserting that West Point 
illegally discriminated against him because of his handicap. 

In April and July, 1986, the Army determined that DiPompo was 
a victim of discrimination and issued him two right to sue 
letters. 26 

DiPompo sued, claiming violation of the Rehabilitation Act of 
1973, and sought relief for violation of section 503 of the New 
York Human Rights Law. 27 He also sought damages from individual 
defendants for the intentional infliction of emotional distress for 
aiding and abetting West Point to violate the latter. 

DiPompo asserted two different theories of liability under 
Section 501 of the Rehabilitation Act28 : disparate impact and 
surmountable barrier discrimination. 29 

Once a prime facie case of handicap discrimination had been 
established, the Army secretary had to show that persons who could 
read at a twelfth grade level could not efficiently perform the 
position of structural fire fighter, said the Court. 

DiPompo also raised the issue ·of surmountable barriers, so the 
secretary was required to show that no accommodation could 
reasonably be made that would enable DiPompo to perform the duties 
of the job safely and efficiently, 30 because it would impose an 
undue hardship on the fire fighting program. The criteria for 
determining undue hardship included: 

1. The overall size of the program, 
number of employees and facilities 
and size of the budget. 

2. The composition and structure of the 
fire fighting unit. 

3. The cost of accommodating 
DiPompo. 31 

The court found that the West Point fire department was a 
small force that worked out of three scattered fire stations, with 
small crews and that the fire fighters are often required to work 
w~thout much supervision. Also, because there are not many fire 
f1ghters, each one had to be able to do every task, including those 
that required reading at the twelfth grade level. Thus, the Court 
found in favor of the Army. 32 

Despite DiPompo's attempt to bring his claim under the ambit 
of Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act, the court held that his 
suit was limited to Section 501 because the legislative history of 
the Act makes it clear that that section is the federal employee's 
exclusive remedy for employment discrimination based on handicap.33 
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Fitzgerald v. Green Valley Area Education Agency posed another 
challenge under the Rehabilitation Act, Section 504. Fitzgerald 
was a multiply-handicapped individual. While he suffered from 
dyslexia, he also had left side hemiplegia due to cerebral palsy 
and nocturnal epilepsy which he controlled by medication. 
Fitzgerald's dyslexia caused him to read between a third and sixth 
grade level. 34 

Despite this disability, Fitzgerald was able to earn a 
bachelor's degree in sociology and psychology and master's degree 
in education by using tape, records, and readers and also managed 
to work as a teacher's aide or substitute teacher for children 
whose reading skills were less than his. Upon completion of his 
masters in 1979, Fitzgerald responded to an advertisement placed by 
Green Valley, seeking a pre-school teacher of the handicapped and 
a special education instructor but did not mention his handicap. 35 

When the Director of Special Education for Green Valley, one 
Steen called Fitzgerald to arrange an interview, the latter told 
Steen of his disabilities and learned that pre-school handicapped 
teachers had to be able to drive a school bus. Fitzgerald said 
that he had a license to transport students in New York. When 
Steen called the Iowa Department of Public Transportation, he 
learned that Iowa law required a bus driver permit holder to have 
full and normal use of both hands, arms, feet and legs, and due to 
his hemiplegia, Fitzgerald could not qualify.~ 

Steen then called Fitzgerald to tell him it would not be worth 
his while to travel to Iowa. But Steen had expressed no 
reservations to Fitzgerald about his qualifications for the 
teaching portion of the job. 

Fitzgerald felt a combination of inadequacy, anger, rejection 
and bitterness because he had worked hard to gain his degree and to 
overcome his handicap. Because he was married with a family, he 
also feared for his ability to provide for them and felt 
embarrassment and humiliation.~7 

Based on the evidence presented at trial, the District Court 
concluded that Fitzgerald was better qualified in terms of 
education and experience to teach pre-sch~l handicapped children 
than the person who was hired. The court also found that were it 
not for his hemiple~a and bus driving pr blem, Fitzgerald would 
have gotten the job. 

The Court said that in order to come under the coverage of 
Section 504 of the Act, Fitzgerald had to prove to a preponderance 
of the evidence: 

1. 

2. 

He was handicapped due to his nocturnal 
epilepsy, dyslexia and cerebral palsy with 
left side hemiplegia. 
He was qualified due to education and 
experience. 
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3. He was excluded from 
because of his handicap. 
The program received 
assistance. 39 

the program solely 

4. federal financial 

The court found it puzzling that, as a recipient for 
Education for All Handicapped Children Act (EAHCA) funds, Green 
Valley could not have been unaware of its duty "to take positive 
steps" to employ qualified handicapped persons in its programs. 

The Court also noted that Green Valley failed to consider 
alternatives that would have eliminated the bus driving 
requirement, and so failed to fulfill its "special obligation" to 
accommodate Fitzgerald's handicap. 40 

The Court found it particularly objectionable that Steen gave 
Fitzgerald the impression that coming to Iowa would have been 
futile and that Green Valley did not consider whether accommodation 
was possible. Thus, the Court concluded that Fitzgerald had met 
his burden of establishing all four elements of a 504 claim and 
proved violation of Iowa law. 41 

The court found that Fitzgerald was entitled to damages for 
mental anguish ($1,000.00) and $5,150.00 in loss earnings, 
attorney fees, but not punitive damages. Noting that there is a 
split of authority as to whether damages are available under 504, 
this court concluded it was "the better view that the full panoply 
of remedies is available to Fitzgerald under 504. 1142 

III. EDUCATIONAL DISCRIMINATION AGAINST DYSLEXICS 

There are four cases that are representative of the problems 
that dyslexics have experienced in education. They are Wynne v. 
Tufts University School of Medicine, 43 Jaworski v . Rhode Island 
Board of Reaents for Education 44 Riley v. Ambach, 45 and Koeppel 
v. Wachtler>6 

In Wynne, a medical student was dismissed from the Tufts 
University School of Medicine after failing several courses during 
two attempts to complete his first year program. Wynne alleged 
that he failed the multiple choice examinations because of his 
dyslexia and argued that Tufts could have reasonably accommodated 
his handicap by offering him another form of examination. 

The u.s. District Court granted summary judgment to Tufts 
because it found that Wynne was unable to show that he could meet 
the school 's requirements. 47 

Wynne appealed, relying on Section 504 of the 
Act, and the 1ssue was whether the university 
reasonable accommodation to Wynne's disability 
meaningful access to Tuft's education. 48 

Rehabilitation 
could make a 
to give him 

The Court admitted that on the surface, it appeared that a 
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medical student who failed half of his classes - some after 
multiple attempts - had demonstrated his inability to get a medical 
education. But Wynne attributed his failure to Tuft's 
"unwarranted" refusal to test him in courses by any means other 
than written multiple choice exams. 49 

He offered as proof of his ability his substantially higher 
scores in Practicum, a type of examination which required him to 
apply his knowledge to a problem, which he described as being 
"closer to the actual practice of medicine than a multiple choice 
examination. " 50 

Tufts claimed that Wynne's problem with the multiple choice 
format was "an inability to process complex information, a 
necessary requirement for a medical degree at Tufts. 1151 The school 
maintained that the decision to administer written multiple choice 
examinations was a matter that a court or jury should not be 
permitted to second guess. 

The Court stated that it subscribed to the principle of 
academic decision making, but that Section 504 required it to 
examine academic decisions to determine if they "mask even 
unintended discrimination against the handicapped. 1152 The court 
found Tufts offered no evidence to explain why multiple choice 
examinations as distinguished from all other types of examinations 
were better tests of a student's ability "to assimilate, interpret, 
and analyze complex material . 1153 , - ... , _ _ 

The Court believed that essay examinations would accomplish 
the same objective, and moreover, Tufts did not respond to Wynne's 
claim that the Practicum Exam is a more appropriate method for him 
to evaluate a medical student's ability to synthesize complex 
data. 54 

The Court concluded that the record failed to show that a 
different testing method would fundamentally alter the program or 
that Wynne inevitably would fail if freed of the burden of taking 
multiple choice exams. The Court noted that Section 504 does not 
require a recipient of federal funds to disregard the disabilities 
of the handicapped, but it does require ~hat decisions be based on 
actual abilities, not on assumptions tha the handicapped are less 
capable than others. 55 

Koeppel v. Wachtler was a case that also dealt with an 
advanced student who had a problem with an examination - the New 
York state Bar Exam. Koeppel was a law student who also suffered 
from dyslexia. In July, 1984, Koeppel took the exam as required by 
N.Y.C.R.R. 22 CRR 520.6. 56 

To accommodate his disability, the New York State Board of Law 
Examiners allowed Koeppel an additional nine hours to take the exam 
and to mark his answers to the multiple choice questions on the 
question sheet than the computer scored answer sheet. 57 
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Despite these adjustments, Koeppel failed the bar examination 
and sought a waiver of the requirement of passing a written bar 
exam. The Board responded that it had neither the power nor the 
discretion to modify the requirements of 22 N.Y.C.R.R. 520.6 to 
permit a restructured or oral examination. 

Koeppel's petition was also reviewed by an Associate Justice 
of the Court of Appeals who determined that it should be denied. 58 

Koeppel appealed the ruling claiming that he was denied equal 
protection of the law in violation of the Fourteenth Amendment to 
the U. S. Constitution, the New York Constitution Article I, 
Section II. He also argued that the failure of the Board to 
certify Koeppel's name to the Appellate Division's Second 
Department violated a right conferred upon him by Executive Law 296 
(1) (a) . 59 The Court found the first two claims to be barred by 
the Statute of Limitations but not the third. The case was 
remanded for further proceedings. 60 

In Weintraub v. Board of Bar Examiners61 , Richard P. Weintraub 
won an order from the Massachusetts Supreme Judicial Court that 
granted him twice the generally alloted time to take the July, 1992 
Massachusetts Bar Examination. The court ruled that the American 
With Disabilities Act applies to the Board of Bar Examiners and 
that Weintraub was entitled to accommodations prescribed by the Act 
because of his dyslexia and attention-deficit disorder. Weintraub, 
a B student at Boston University Law School, graduated in 1991 and 
failed both the July, 1991 and February 1992 bar exams by small 
margins. On these occasions he was given 30 extra and 45 extra 
minutes per each three hour segments respectively. Weintraub and 
his attorney Ernie Katz argued that the Board of Bar Examiners' 45 
minute per segment limit violated the ADA's provision that each 
person's individual needs should be addressed . The court's order 
allowed Weintraub to take the July 1992 exam over a four day period 
in a private room during the same week others took the exam. 
Although the order deals with one case in Massachusetts, it 
effectively delivers a signal to bar examiners around the country 
and to other agencies within the state that certify professions to 
take note about how they accommodate the disabled. Stephen Fedo, 
a Chicago lawyer, who advises the National Conference of Bar 
Examiners said that the ADA opens the door for a greater number of 
more specialized or individualized accommodations at examinations 
which could pose numerous problems for bar examiners in terms of 
cost and practicality. 

Not only do students from professional schools have problems 
with regard to acceptance of the limits of their dyslexic condition 
but so also do younger students and their parents. There are two 
cases that explore the issues of the Rehabilitation Act and the 
Education of All Handicapped Children Act (EAHCA).62 

In Riley v. Ambach, the facts involved an action brought by 
eighteen handicapped children and their parents to enjoin 
regulations made by the New York Commissioner of Education, Ambach, 
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with regard to their education of learning disabled children. 
Ambach made a rule that required such children to exhibit a 
discrepancy of 50% or more between expected and actual achi7vement 
based on intellectual ability in order to qualify as a hand~capped 
child" under the appropriate federal and state laws. 
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The parents alleged that Ambach violated the Rehabilitation 
Act and the Education of All Handicapped Children Act of 1975, 
which established federal and state programs to secure "free 
appropriate public education for all handicapped children and 
expanded federal funding of state educational efforts for that 
purpose. " 64 

that 
have 
meet 

The court discussed at length the legislative history and said 
children with specific learning disabilities and their parents 
a right to expect that individually designed instruction to 

. f. d . "1 bl 65 their children's spec~ ~c nee s ~s ava~ a e. 

In order to participate, states have to meet eligibility 
requirements and must submit plans to meet the educational needs of 
the handicapped.~ 

The parents argued that the 50% discrepancy rule violated 
federal statutory requirements because it ex~luded. from 
identification as handicapped those severely learn~ng d~sabled 
children who did not meet the 50% cut-off. 67 

one student John Riley had been classified as handicapped by 
Levittown School District Committee on the Handicapp~d (COH) 
because of his dyslexia. The Committee recommended that he be 
placed at Landmark, a residential school in Massachusetts that was 
on the commissioner's approved 1 ist. But Landmark had bee~ removed 
from the approved list so Riley's tuition would not be pa~d by the 
state. In the wake of the rule change, the COH :r;ecommen~ed 
placement in the Levittown Memorial Junior High School w~th spec~al 
education classes . Riley's parents viewed the placement as 
unsatisfactory and put their son at Landmark at thei: .own 
expense.~ similar things happened to other students who JO~ned 
the suit . 

The parents argued that the 50% rule .is inco.ns.istent with 
federal standards which require that a ch~ld exh~b~ t a severe 
discrepancy between expected and actual .achievemen~ because it is 
a more restrictive criterion ~d that ~mplementat~on of the 50% 
rule caused the number of lear ing disabled children in New York 
schools to drop from 28, 172 t 12, 167 from 1977-1979. Expert 
witnesses testified as to the ina propriateness of the 50% standard 
to determine if a child is learning disabled.~ 

The court concluded that the 50% standard interfered with the 
proper identification of learning disabled children since it 
operated to eliminate consideration of factors and the use of 
techniques which "do not, given the present state of the art, lend 
themselves to quantification. 1170 
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The court was troubled because no evidence had been presented 
to show that the 50% rule is interpreted by local COHs in a 
flexible way. In fact, the school districts reached decisions 
"primarily if not exclusively on the basis of quantitative tests 
and grade scores which lend themselves to quantification. " 71 Even 
the Assistant Commissioner admitted that testing procedures were 
very poor. The court stated that Congress was concerned about the 
inadequacy of testing procedures used to evaluate students for 
special education programs, and noted "the usefulness and 
mechanistic ease of testing should not become so paramount in the 
educational process that its negative effects are overlooked."n 

Thus, the court concluded that the 50% rule and the 
elimination of residential schools by the Commissioner violated 
federal law. The Court ordered restoration of the residential 
schools to the approved list and reimbursement of the cost of the 
current year's placement costs.~ 

A similar struggle took place in Jaworski v. Rhode Island 
Board of Regents for Education, in which James Jaworski's parent 
sued under the EAHCA seeking an injunction requiring the Pawtucket 
School Committee to fund his placement in a private school and 
other procedural safeguards. 74 

The issue in the case was whether the Pawtucket School 
Committee should be required to reimburse James' parents for money 
they were required to spend because of the Committee's failure to 
provide him with a free appropriate education within the school 
system. 75 

James began his checkered educational career in the Pawtucket 
School System in 1967. During his early school years, he had 
considerable difficulty in reading, writing and arithmetic. But it 
was not until December, 1973 that an examination revealed that he 
suffered from dyslexia. Jame's parents decided in June, 1974 to 
place him in a private school, Eagle Hill. Mr. Jaworski approached 
the Pawtucket Director of Special Education, Leo Dolan, to seek 
funding for such a placement and was informed that there was a 
program for dyslexia with the school system.n 

The Jaworskis filed a petition seeking reimbursement for costs 
in keeping James at Eagle Hill, but after an evaluation by a 
doctor, school psychologist and, on recommendation of Dolan, the 
School committee notified the Jaworski's that the school system 
could provide an appropriate education. The Jaworskis then 
appealed to the Commissioner of Education who found that the 
school's program was appr~riate, a decision affirmed by the Board 
of Regents for Education. 

The case became moot once James graduated but the Court had to 
consider if a retrospective award of compensatory damages was 
available under the EAHCA. The judge concluded that while there 
were cases on both sides of the issue, the term "relief" meant 
injunctive relief and not damages.re 
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The Jaworskis also claimed damages under Section 504 of the 
Rehabilitation Act of 1973 but the judge found that this issue was 
not raised in a timely fashion. 

The Jaworskis also argued that the Pawtucket School Board 
denied them a hearing which would have allowed them to rebut the 
information the Committee relied upon in reaching its decision. 
The Court found that the denial of a hearing violated the 
regulations of the Board of Regents Governing the Special Education 
of Handicapped Children, which specifically provided an opportunity 
to appeal to the School Committee if the decision of the 
Superintendent was not acceptable to the parents. But the court 
found that the Jaworskis failed to show in any way that, if they 
had been given a second hearing a different decision would have 
been reached or they would have been spared an inju~. The Court 
only awarded the Jaworskis nominal damages of $1.00. 

CONCLUSION 

As the cases discussed in this article have shown, it is no 
easy task for dyslexics to achieve their rights in this society. 
In each of these cases, dyslexic employees, students and their 
parents faced a long struggle to achieve justice due to the 
presence of this learning disability. 

There has been a greater awareness of learning disabilities in 
the last few years and activity in developing programs for the 
learning disabled at all levels of education. Colleges have even 
displayed more willingness to allow untimed admission tests in 
undergraduate and graduate programs and help in taking' SATs and 
GREs. But only about 150 two and four year colleges offer 
comprehensive programs to provide intensive support to the learning 
disabled while they earn their degrees. 80 

In addition to the Rehabilitation Acts and the Education of 
All Handicapped Children Act, protection is afforded dyslexics was 
in 1992 by the Americans With Disabilities Act which affect 
employers with 25 or more employees. The ADA takes a different 
tack from the Americans With Disabilities Act which should provide 
even more opportunities for the learning disabled to gain 
employment opportunities. 81 The focus is on what handicapped 
people can do . Under the law, if a qualified applicant or employee 
with disabilities cannot perform essential work functions or fully 
participate in employment programs because of their impairment, he 
or she is entitled to have ba~iers removed through reasonable 
accommodation. \ 

Experts agree that dyslexia is an incurable malady. Dyslexics 
can learn and work but special steps must be taken to help them 
achieve these goals. It is unjust that a society allows 
discrimination against persons with immutable characteristics like 
race, sex, and handicap. Dyslexia is a neurological impairment. 
As two authors have put it, despite advance in many areas of 
neurology, psychology and linguistics, dyslexia remains an 
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MORAL TURPITUDE AND THE TENURED TEACHER: 
DISCHARGE OF COLLEGE AND UNIVERSITY FACULTY 

by 

Robert s. Wiener* 

INTRODUCTION 

Although college and university faculty often see tenure 
contracts as iron-clad, there are a number of ways by which we 
can lose the protection tenure affords. This paper explore<:: 
the path of moral turpitude. 

I. HISTORY 

The history of tenure is a long one, going back to th~ 
Middle Ages. 1 More recently, representatives of the American 
Association of University Professors (AAUP) and of the 
Association of American Colleges, in a series of conferences 
begun in 1934, discussed tenure. On 7-8 November 1940 they 
agreed to the 1940 Statement of Principles on Academic Freedo:t 
and Tenure and Interpretive Comments. "Institutions of highe .. 
education are conducted for the common good .... (which 1 

depends upon the free search for truth and its fre,, 
exposition. Tenure is a means to: "(1) Freedom of teachinq 
and research and of extramural activities and (2) a 
sufficient degree of economic security to make the profession 
attractive to men and women of ability." The service o:': 
teachers who "have permanent or continuous tenure . . . should 
be terminated only for adequate cause, except in the case of 
retirement for age, or under extraordinary circumstances 
beoause of financial exigencies." Examples of cause referred 
to in passing are "incompetence" and "moral turpitude". The 
reference to "moral turpitude" suggests that "[t)eachers on 
continuous appointment who are dismissed for reasons . 
involving moral turpitude (need not) receive their salaries 

* Assistant Professor, Lubin Schools of Business, Pace 
University Westchester 
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for at least a year from the date of notification of dismissal 
" 

Additional interpretive comments on the 1940 Statement 
drafted by a 1969 Joint Committee of the AAUP and th~ 
Association of American Colleges, were endorsed by the AAUP in 
1970. They note "relevant developments in the law itself 
r~fl~cting a grow~ng insis~ence by the courts on due process 
w1th1n the academ1c commun1ty which parallels the essential 
~once~t~ of.the 1940 Statement; particularly relevant is the 
1dent1f1cat1on by the Supreme Court of academic freedom as a 
right protected by the First Amendment. 112 These comments 
also elaborate on moral turpitude. 

II. FACULTY QUALIFICATIONS 

As the cases show, cour~ typically defer to the judgment 
of .scho?l administrators ~~en teachers are dismissed. 
Leg1slat1ve language establishing the foundation for dismissal 
for cause is often quite broad, such as "evident unfitness for 
service"3 and is interpreted broadly by judges. 

(T)he calling (of a teacher) is so intimate 
its duties so delicate, the things in which'a 
teacher might prove unworthy of fail are so 
numerous that they are in capable of 
e~umeration in any legislative enactment •... 
H1s h~bits, his speech, his good name, his 
cle~n~1ness, the w1sdo~ and propriety of his 
off1c1al utterances, h1s associations all a:t""! 
involved. His ability to inspire child;en and 
to govern them, his power as a teacher, and 
the character for which he stands are matters 
of major concern in a teacher's selection and 
retention. 4 

With standards such as these and discretion placed in the 
~and~ o~ the colleges and universities, teachers may well find 
1t d1ff1cult to prove their fitness. 

. At least one case seems to put the burden of proof for 
d1scharge on the school. 

(A)n individual can be removed from the 
t~aching p:ofe~sion only upon a showing that 
h1s retent1on 1n the profession poses a 
significant danger of harm to either students, 
school employees, or others who might be 
affected by actions as a teacher.s 

III. MORAL TURPITUDE 

As observed in 1958, "(o)ne persistent source of 
difficulty is the definition of adequate cause for the 
di~mi~sal of a faculty member. Despite the 1940 statement of 
Pr1nc1ples on Academic Freedom and Tenure and subsequent 
attempts to build upon it, considerable ambiguity and 
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misunderstanding persist throughout higher education, 
especially in the respective conceptions of governing boards, 
administrative officers, and faculties concerning this 
matter. 116 This observation is, if anything, more true of 
moral turpitude than incompetence. 

What is moral turpitude? According to the 1970 
Interpretive Comments 

The concept of "moral turpitude" identifies 
the exceptional case in which the professor 
may be denied a year's teaching or pay in 
whole or in part. The statement applies to 
that kind of behavior which goes beyond simply 
warranting discharge and is so utterly 
blameworthy as to make it inappropriate to 
require the offering of a year's teaching or 
pay. The standard is not that the moral 
sensibilities of persons in the particular 
community have been affronted. The standard 
is behavior that would evoke condemnation by 
the academic community generally. 7 

This standard differs from the 1973 Hiller v. Californi~ 
obscenity test of "whether the 'average person, applyinq 
contemporary community standards' would find that the work 
taken as a whole, appeals to the prurient interest, .... • 8 

Here the community is not the average person but the academic 
community. The comment suggests that this academic community 
is not local, but national. 

The 1966 AAUP Statement on Professional Ethics speaks of 
the enforcement of ethical standards. In this context, it 
discusses a professor's responsibilities to his subject, 
students, colleagues, institution, and community. Issues of 
possible moral turpitude raised are sexual misconduct, a 
professor "avoids any exploitation of students for his private 
advantage .... "and plagiarism, a professor "acknowledges 
his academic debts 11 . 9 

Standards for dismissal include: " ( 1) incompetence 
(including inefficiency); (2)immorality (including 
dishonesty); (3) neglect of duty (such as violating 
institutional rules and missing classes); and 
(4)insubordination (including excessively disruptive 
behavior)."10 Although several of these standards are often 
used together, this paper investigates immorality. 

What does a teacher's morality have to do with teaching? 
"One of the prerequisites of a teacher is good moral 
character .... It need not be found in the Education Law. It 
is found in the nature of the teaching profession. Teachers 
are supposed not only to impart instruction in the classroom 
but by their example to teach students. 1111 "If adherence tc 
a code of proper personal conduct is not essential in al' 
callings, it is in the teaching profession. 1112 

A. Sexual Misconduct 

1. With a current student 
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A case of sexual misconduct by a male teacher to a female 
student is Cockbu1~ v. Santa Monica Community College Dist. 
Personnel Comm•n. Donald Cockburn, a physical sciences 
laborat~ry techni?i~n and instructor for about 17 years, was 
respons1ble f~r h1r1ng and supervising laboratory assistants 

Dur1a Suncar, an 18 year old Oriental student 
at the college asked (Cockburn) about 
~mplo~ent as a lab assistant.... (She] was 
1nterv1ewed by (Cockburn who] met her and put 
her to work immediately washing beakers. He 
then asked her to come with him to the 
basement to do~ome work. In the basement he 
held her hand, sking how her hands felt 
washing all thos dishes. He then grabbed 
her, holding her tightly. He kissed her on 
the cheek then on the mouth, saying 
afterwards, •o.k., go to work.' Five or ten 
minutes later he tried to embrace her again. 
(Suncar) said 'no, I don't want to. ,14 

Cockburn was confronted with the incident and was 
eventuall¥ to~d that he would need to have an evaluation by a 
psycholog1st 1ndependent . of ' the college before the president 
of the ~allege decid~d. on Cockburn's employment. The 
psycholog1st, as a cond1t1on of his employment insisted that 
Cockt;>urn tell his wife. Cockburn rejected that' condition, and 
subm1tted a request for retirement which was granted. Even 
so, .the c?llege retained the psychologist for 12 therapy 
sess1ons w1th a now amenable Cockburn. In the psychologist's 
opinic;m, "the possibility of a recurrence of the above 
beh~v1o~ ap~~~rs to be very minimal given ongoing therapy and 
m~n1tor1ng. Cockburn unsuccessfully attempted to 
W1thdraw his resignation request and brought this case on 
grounds of a lac~ of procedural due process, an issue outside 
the scope of th1s paper. No mention was made of Cockburn's 
tenure. status. The court noted the "grave responsibility" 
both 1t and the Santa Monica Community College District 
Personnel Commi~sion have "to the (Santa Monica community 
College) and the1r personnel, the professors, instructors and 
students they embrace and to the general public.nl6 

Jos~ph William Stubblefield, a teacher at compton Junior 
College 1n Los Angeles County, after teaching a night class on 
28 J~nuary 1969, ~rove a female student to a secluded 
locat1on. A patroll1ng police officer flashed a light on the 
cou~le who were in a state of undress: he with his pants 
unz~pped and penis exposed, she nude above the waist and 
unz 1pped bel~w ·. The court observed that, " ( i] t would seem 
that, as a m1n1mum, responsible conduct upon the part o! a 
teacher, even at the college level, excludes meretriciousl~ 
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relationships with his students ulB 

Manuel Loera's disch~rge by the oregon State Board of 
Higher Edication was upheld, based, in part, on his entry into 
women's dormitories against orders allegedly for room checks, 
conversations with sexual overtones with female students, and 
sexual advances toward a female resident assistant. 19 

on 26 February 1992 the Supreme Court ruled 9-0 that 
students may sue for monetary damages for sexual harassment 
based on Title IX of a 1972 federal education act. 20 The law 
banned sex discrimination in any "education program or 
activity receiving Federal financial assistance", that is, all 
public and many private schools and colleges. Justice Byron 
R. White, who wrote the opinion of the Court joined by five 
other justices, "presumed the availability of all appropriate 
remedies" when none are specified by Congress, as in this law " 
Clarence Thomas and Chief Justice William H. Rehnquist 
concurred with Antonin Scalia's opinion that a 1979 decision 
that private individuals have a right to sue under the act was 
incorrect, but that because Congress had endorsed that 
decision (and apparently on principles of stare decisis), "it 
is too late in the day" to deny damages. The case was brought 
in 1988 by Christine Franklin's who claimed that one of h"'1· 
high school teachers in Gwinnett County, Georgia forced sexua:... 
relations on her School officials were informed and 
investigated but took no action other than to discourage her 
from pressing criminal charges against the teacher. The 
teacher resigned and the investigation was ended. 21 

A recent case is that of Dr. Margaret Bean-Bayog, a 
Harvard Medical School psychiatrist. She has been accused of 
seducing Paul Lozano, a student at the school whom she 
counseled from July 1986 to June 1990. In April 1991 Mr. 
Lozano committed suicide. court papers filed in a medical 
malpractice and wrongful death action allege that Dr. Bean­
Bayog led Mr. Lozano "into a dangerous cycle of regression and 
transference wherein the patient was caused to become 
completely dependent, as a 3-year-old child, on Dr. Bean-Bayog 
as his mother." Also, that she caused him to "participate in 
vivid sadomasochistic sexual fantasies" resulting in sexual 
intercourse. Harvard placed Dr. Bean-Bayog on leave as of 
May 1991. 22 

2. With a former student 

A 1966 California case deals with a relationship between 
a male teacher and a female student from the previous school 
year. Eugene Clarence Hartman was a permanent teacher 
disaissed by the Board of Trustees of Mount San Antonio Junior 
College District of Los Angeles County23 for immoral conduct 
and evident unfitness for service. 24 The principal grounds 
for dismissal was Hartman's relationship with a woman 
(designated by the court as Patricia). 

71 

Beginning about 12 December 1961 and for much 
of 1962, Hartman cohabited with Patricia who 
was married to a[nother) man ... , that such 
relationship commenced on the day that 
Patricia left her husband, that the 
defendant's wife had died less than 30 days 
prior thereto, and that Patricia had been a 
student of [Hartman] at Mount San Antonio 
Junior College [in 1960-61 school year) 25 . 
[N)either Patricia nor defendant "believed in 
good faith that their activities in Tijuana, 
Mexico, on December 19, 1961, had resulted in 
that day or at any later time in a valid 
diforce [sic] between Patricia ... and her 
husband, or in a valid marriage between 
[Hartman) an~ Patricia .... n26 

The California ap~llate court considered this to be 
adequate grounds for dismissal as a result of immoral conduct. 
Cohabitation raises the presumption of sexual relations, but 
even had there been none, "the evil [target of the statute] 

is the harmful impression on others, particularly 
students, arising from the fact of a teacher and a woman to 
whom he is not married living together openly as man and 
wife. tt2 7 The appeal was largely based on procedural issues 
and failed by a 3-0 vote. 

3. With a non-student 

The trial court in the Hartman case also determined that, 
in the fall of 1960, while married to Barbara Jean Hartman, 
Mr. Hartman lived in an apartment with a woman designated as 
Frances under the name of Mr. and Mrs. Hartman. This was 
considered sufficient grounds for dismissal on the grounds of 
immoral conduct. 28 The appelljite court apparently agreed. 
This case is probably even more dated now. I have found no 
more recent cases of discharge based extramarital relations 
with a non-student. 29 

Homosexuality has also been considered a matter of 
immorality. 30 However, one of the few cases won by a 
teacher, evidence of a single "undescribed but noncriminal 
private act "of a homosexual nature" with a consenting adult 
three years earlier was not considered sufficient cause for 
discharge as a result of moral turpitude. 31 

B. Language 

One case deals with a teacher who used graphic language 
sometimes combined with descriptive actions. William Hensey, 
a permanent junior college philosophy teacher in Palo Verde, 
California was dismissed for "evident unfitness for service 
and immoral conduct." 32 The trial findings included the 
following: 
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[That Hensey] 
(2) stated the bell system of the college 
"sounded like a worn out phonograph in a 
whorehouse" and made numerous references 
during the semester to "whore" and 
"whorehouses" and, following a reprimand for 
this conduct, submitted to the president of 
the college a thesis on the justification of 
his of these terms in his class. 1 

(3) ... directed himself to several Mexican­
American students seated in the rear of the 
classroom and stated, "I understand you have 
been to San Luis; I understand they have 
super-syphilis there, and you know that they 
don't have drugs to cure that. Be careful 
when you're there." This statement was made 
in a tone loud enough to be heard by all of 
the students in the class, both male and 
female. 
(4) advised his philosophy class that the 
district superintendent •.. "··· spends 
too much time ... (at this point in the 
statement he stepped over to the wall and 
simulated licking the wall with his tongue in 
an up and down manner and then continued 
speaking) ... licking up the Board." 
(5) •.. qe~9gatorily referred to the walls of 
the high schooi and on one occasion he 
referred to them as looking as though "someone 
had peed on them and then smeared them with 
baby crap." 

As to the bell characterization (incident 2), the court 
opined that teaching fitness standards applied to elementary 
and high schools may well be different than those applied to 
college and university faculty. 33 "[W]hile the use of the 
words may have shown bad taste and vulgarity (footnote: On one 
occasion he referred to the public address system as sounding 
like a constipated elephant.) we cannot find that these 
charges constitute or are evidence of immorality. 1134 

For the safe sex warning (incident 3), "[a)gain, while we 
find this incident to be in bad taste, we can find in it no 
evidence of immorality." 35 Venereal diseases was apparently 
not a subject in the course and I believe that a current 
court, more sensitive to issues of demographic diversity, 
would respond more strenuously. 

Concerning wall licking (incident 4) the court states, 
[h)ere, we have passed the limits of bad taste 
and vulgarity. The defendant's contention 
that he was imitating a deaf mute orderi.1g an 
ice cream cone was an insult to the 
intelligence of the trial judge. Rather, it is 

obviously a gesture which was intended to 
describe a person who would rather curry favor 
with his superiors than to do his duty and was 
specifically directed to the County 
Superintendent of Schools. The defendant's 
explanation that, in this context, he meant 

"face licking" was obviously not accepted by 
the trial court nor do we so accept it. Quite 
to the contrary, this expression means in 
common parlance licking in an entirely 
different portion of the anatomy. It was 
obviously so intended by the defendant and so 
understood by his college-age students. This 
obscene incident indicates both "immorality" 
and "evident u~itness. 1136 

Hensey•s speech is consid red "far outsidl! the protection of 
the First Amendment ..•. 113 

The court's response to the wall description (incident 
5) implies that language acceptable to males is unacceptable 
to females. The courts notes that "this was a class made up 
of both males and females. We assume that each of them at 
that age was familiar with the words used .... Nevertheless 
a teacher has a responsibility to respect the feelings an: : 
sensitivities of the members of his class and to conduc·-. 
himself with a certain degree of rectitude. His behavior i il 
this incident is inexcusable in the presence of his 
students." 38 The characterization of the depiction as 
"barrack's language" may be another observation relating to 
gender specific language reflecting a time before females were 
in the barracks. The court does "not consider the language 
used to be immoral, (however) its obvious vulgarity was 
evidence of "evident unfitness." 39 

Of the six points considered by the court, only the wall 
licking was deemed immoral, but "(a)ll of the incidents taken 
in the aggregate serve as substantial basis for the trial 
court's determination that the charges of "immoral conduct" 
and "evident unfitness for service" were true and constituted 
cause for dismissal. 1140 

c. Course Content 

Despite the Bertrand Russell case, the best argument 
against dismissal for cause based on moral turpitude 1s 
probably a claim of academic freedom to determine course 
content. One of the rare faculty winners was Deena Metzger, 
a permanent teacher at Los Angeles Valley College. 41 The 
approved textbook in her first-year junior college English 
class was Girvetz 's "Contemporary Moral Issues". In 
conjunction with a unit on obscenity, Metzger distributed her 
poem "Jehovah's Child" , "liberally sprinkled with Anglo-saxon 
obscenities, slang references to male and female sexual organs 
and to sexual activity, and profane references to Jehovah and 
Christ. 1142 Supplementing a propaganda section, a brochurE~ 
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"You can Become a sexual superman" and advertisement.for "The 
Picture Book of sexual Love" were used. Even so, w~despr7ad 
support from her peers and students was apparently qu~ te 
helpful to Metzger and the court. warned the they w~3e not 
granted a carte blanche to obscen~ty and pornography. 

It remains to be seen if Professors Jeffries and Levin of 
city college will withsta~d attac~s against them based on the 
alleged immorality of the~r teach~ngs. 

D. Teachings 

A particularly noteworthy case is t~;t of ~ay.v. Board of 
Higher Education of city of New York. Th~s ~s the. case 
against the appointment of Bertrand Russell .to cha~r of 
philosophy at city College by the New York C~ty Board . of 
Higher Education. Despite the d.ef.ense of the C<?ri?orat7on 
counsel of New York city and the f~l~ng of three am~c~ cur~~e 
briefs on his behalf, Russell's appointment was re:voked. Th~s 
case again reflects the judicial understand~ng of t~e 
potential impact of a teacher on ~ollege students. Even ~f 
Mr. Russell were to teach mathemat~cs, . 

his very presence as a teacher w~ll cause the 
students to look up to him, seek to know more 
about him and the more he is able to charm 
them and lmpress them with his personal 
presence, the more potent will ~row.his 
influence in all spheres of the~r l~ves, 
causing the students in many instances to 
emulate him in every respect. 45 

The argument the court found "most co~pelling" was th~t 
"the appointment of Bertrand Russell has v~olated the pu~l~c 
policy of the state and of the nation because of the notor~ous 
immoral and salacious teachings of Bertrand Russell and 
because (Jean Kay] contends he is a man not of good moral 
character. ,.46 "The contention . • . that Mr. Russell has 
taught in his books immoral and salacious doctrines, is amply 
sustained by the books conceded to be the writings of B7rtrand 
Russell ••.• ,.47 The writings quo{fd recommend "ch~ldless 
marriages"48 and pre-marital sex and do not condemn 
infantile masturbation50 and homosexuality. 51 The court 
sees Russell 1 s hiring as an "expenditure that seeks to 
encourage the violation of the provisions of the Penal 
Law. n52 

The scathing denunciation of Bertrand Russell by Justice 
McGeehan of the New York County Supreme Court deserves lengthy 
quotation. . . 

The appointment of Dr. Russell ~s an ~nsult to 
the people of the City of New York and to the 
thousands of teachers who were obligated upon 
their appointment to establish good moral 
character and to maintain it in order to keep 

their positions. Considering the instances in 
which immorality alone has been held sufficient 
basis for removal of a teacher and mindful of 
the aphorism "As a man thinking in his heart, 
so he is," the court holds that the acts of 
the Board of Higher Education of the City of 
New York in appointing Dr. Russell to the 
Department of Philosophy of the City College 
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of the City of New York, to be paid by public 
funds, is in effect establishing a chair of 
indecency and in doing so has acted 
arbitrarily, capriciously and in direct 

~~~!~;i~~ ~~e~~=o~~=l~~-~~~}th, safety and 

CONCLUSIONS \ 

Conventional legal research is particularly difficult in 
this area of law. From my discussions with college and 
university faculty and administration it is clear that in most 
cases of moral turpitude neither teachers nor schools want the 
publicity litigation brings. Teachers want to avoid the stain 
even a charge of moral turpitude brings. Schools do not want 
it known that such teachers taught at their institutions. 

The future of moral turpitude cases is hard to predict. 
On the one hand, cases upholding -dismissal of tenured college 
and university faculty for moral turpitude often require a 
sense of violated community values. Therefore, as our society 
seems to have become one of permissiveness based on concepts 
of relative ethics, the number of cases has decreased. 

On the other hand, a new player may appear on the scene, 
students, the purported victims of moral turpitude. 
Especially after Anita Hill's testimony, and the William 
Kennedy Smith and Mike Tyson rape cases, victims of sexual 
offenses may be somewhat less reluctant to bring cases. The 
case provides a monetary incentive to bring cases against 
schools. At the same time, we appear to be more sensitive to 
such women's rights issues as sexual harassment. Therefore, 
the number of litigated moral turpitude cases will probably 
rise, at least for sexual misconduct cases brought by students 
against colleges and universities that do not take adequate 
preventive and corrective measures against sexual misconduct. 
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42. Id. at 1173. 

43. "[O]ur ruling should not be viewed as insulating permanent 
teachers from discipline on account of their classroom use of 
indecent or profane works or writings. Id. at 1176. 

44. Supra note 11. 

45. Id. at 830. 

46. Id. at 826. It seems that had he been teaching only 
mathematics, his private life and writings would have been 
considered less relevant to his fitness. "It has also been argued 
that he is going to teach mathematics. His appointment, however, 
is to the department of philosophy .... " 

47 . Id. at 827. 

48. Id. "It is not necessary to detail here the filth which is 
contained in the books. It is sufficient to record the following: 
from "Education and the Modern World," pages 119 and 120: "I am 
sure that university life would be better, both intellectually and 
morally, if most university students had temporary childless 
marriages. This would afford a solution of the sexual urge neithe= 
restless nor surreptitious neither mercenary nor casual, and dr 
such a nature that it need not take up time which ought to be given 
to work." 

49. Id. "From "Marriage and Morals," pages 165 and 166: "For my 
part, while I am quite convinced that companionate 
marriage would be a step in the right direction, and would do 
a great deal of good, I do not think that it goes far enough. 
I think that all sex relations which do not involve children 
should be regarded as a purely private affair, and that if a 
man and a woman choose to live together without having 
children, that should be no one's business but their own. I 
should not hold it desirable that either a man or a woman 
should enter upon the serious business of a marriage intended 
to lead to children without having had previous sexual 
experience." ("The peculiar importance attached, at the 
present, to adultery, is quite irrational." From "What I 
Believe," page 50.) 

50. Id. at 830. 

51. Id. at 831. "[W)e are confronted with Dr. Russell's 
utterances as to the damnable felony of homosexualism, which 
warrants imprisonment for not more than twenty years in New York 
State, and concerning which degenerate practice Dr. Russell has 
this to say in his book entitled "Education and the Modern World," 
at page 119, "It is possible that homosexual relations with other 
boys would not be very harmful if they were tolerated, but even 
then there is danger lest they should interfere with the growth of 
normal sexual life later on . " 
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52. Id . at 828-29. 

53. Id. at 831 . 
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FAMILY AND PARENTAL LEAVE STATUTES: A STATUS REPORT 

by 

Rosemarie Feuerbach Twomey* 

INTRODUCTION 

Con9ress was unable to override President Bush's veto of 
legislat1on that would have provided mandated leave, upon 
request, to employees of private companies for "famil¥ 
related" purposes--birth of a child, adoption of a ch1ld, or 
to care for sick or disabled family members. However, 
nineteen states and the District of Columbia have passed such 
legislation. Of that number, nine states and the District of 
Columbia have passed laws mandating leave for both parental 
and family reasons, and ten states require leave for birth 
and/or adoption of a child only (parental leave). Congress 
has vowed to revisit the issue at its next opportunity, and it 
is highly probable that a federal family leave bill will be 
passed into law during the Clinton administration. 

A comparison of the states' parental and family leave 
statutes reveals wide variations in provisions. This gives 
rise to a number of questions. Should the federal government 
pass a family or parental leave law to insure uniform 
protection to employees and avoid the problems of wide 
differences between the laws of one state and the laws of 
another? Would a Uniform Family Leave Act accomplish the 
major objectives of a federal statute while still allowing 
states some discretion to consider the impact of such laws on 
their unique business environments? Should emplo¥ers be free 
of the requirements of any such legislation and, 1n lieu of 
those laws, be encouraged through tax benefits or other 
governmental assistance to provide leave to employees for 
family related purposes? In light of demographic trends 
indicating higher percenta9es of women, minorities, and 
disabled persons entering 1nto the workforce [1], employers 
might prefer to offer cafeteria style benefits to their 
diverse workforces (including, as an option, parental or 
family leave) rather than be required by law to grant one type 
of benefit at the risk of having to forego others [2]. 

The primary focus of this paper is on parental and/or 
family leave laws, although maternity and pregnancy leave laws 
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will also be addressed . Since there are inconsistencies in 
the labellin9 of the 'various types of leaves, it is suggested 
here that un1form labels be adopted as described below. 

The passage of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 
as amended by the Pr~nancy Disability Act led many states to 
enact statutes requi 1ng that leave be granted to an employee 
who 9ives birth. Su leave may or may not include a period 
of t1me for the care f the newborn as distinguished from time 
to heal and recuperate from the act of giving birth. These 
leaves are usually called "maternity" or "pregnane¥" leaves, 
but are sometimes referred to as "medical," "disab1lity," 
"parental," "child care," or "family" leaves. 

It is recommended here that those labels be refined and 
used as follows: "Maternity" and "pregnancy" leave should 
refer to leave for a female emplo¥ee in relation to the birth 
of that employee's child. To be 1n compliance with federal 
law, such leave should be equal to or greater than, but not 
less than, leave made available to employees for other 
temporar¥ disabilities [3]. "Parental" leave should refer to 
leave wh1ch is granted to care for a newborn or newly adopted 
child. The EEOC uses the term "parental leave" to refer to 
leave which is taken "to care for a child of any age, or to 
develop a healthy parent-child relationship, or to help a 
family adjust to the presence of a newborn or adopted child" 
(4). "Family" leave should refer to leave for the purpose of 
caring for a sick or disabled--family member, or for some other 
family-related reason. "Medical" and "disability" leave 
should refer to leave for the employee who cannot work due to 
his or her own temporary disability or illness. 

The states' parental and family leave statutes ride a 
continuum from minimum to maximum concern for employer needs . 
The statutory provisions of the several family/parental leave 
laws are presented below with comments indicating which are 
the most and the least favorable to employers. Also addressed 
is whether the provisions of the laws pose any significant 
legal problems; and, where appropriate, comparisons are made 
with the federal bill which was vetoed b¥ President Bush. The 
paper concludes with a discussion compar1ng the advantages and 
disadvantages of enacting federal law on the subject, 
formulating a Uniform Parental/Famil¥ Leave Act, leaving the 
matter completely to the states' leg1slators, or, conversely, 
discouraging passage of more legislation in this area at 
either the state or federal level. 

The twenty statutes which provide for mandated parental 
andfor family leave for private sector em~loyees have been 
divided into two categories: Section I l1sts and describes 
those which ~rovide for both parental and famil¥ leave, and 
Section II 11sts and describes those which requ1re leave only 
for birth and/or adoption of a child (including maternity and 
pregnancy leave laws). Section III describes statutor¥ 
provisions in four states' laws which provide alternat1ve 
means of addressing family concerns in employment. 
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For purposes of this pap7r, only statutes ~hich app~y to 
private sector employers are 1ncluded. Laws wh1ch perta1n 
only to public sector employers are not covered. 

I. COMPREHENSIVE STATUTES MANDATING BOTH PARENTAL AND 
FAMILY LEAVE. 

Nine states and the District of Columbia require both 
parental and famil¥ leave. Those states are California, 
Connecticut, Hawai1, Maine, New Jerse¥, Oregon, Rhode Island, 
washin9ton, and Wisconsin. In analyz1ng.these laws, the 
follow1ng items were selected for compar1son: 

A. 

B. 

c. 

D. 

E. 
F. 
G. 

H. 
I. 
J. 

Provisions as to who is a "child" whose birth or 
adoption triggers the right to mandated leave. 
The circumstances under which family leave is to 
be granted. . 
Provisions indicating what constitutes an 1llness 
for purposes of family leave. . 
The number of employees needed to br1ng an 
employer within the coverage of the law. 
Employee's rights and remedies under the act. 
The employee's right to reinstatement. 
The employer's right to require notice and/or 
certification to confirm the need for the leave. 
Length of the mandated leave period. 
The employer's right to deny or limit leave. 
Effects of leave on employee benefits. 

A. Provisions as to who is a "child" whose birth 
or adopt1on tr1ggers the r1ght to mandated leave. 

All the statutes in Section I require employers to grant 
"parental" leave for both birth and adoption of a child. 
Leave granted for birth of a child always ~efers to a natural 
or biological child. With re9ard to adopt1on, the statute~ 
differ. California's (5) def1nition for purposes of ~dop71on 
includes a requ1rement of dependency status. connect1cut s 
(6) definition of child is limited ~o o~e.who 1s under the.age 
of 18 or who is a dependent due to 1nab1l1ty to care for h1m 
or herself. New Jersey (7J and Wisconsin [8) ar7 si~ilar to 
Connecticut in the1r def1n1tion of ch1ld. The D1str1ct of 
Columbia's [9J statute mandates leave for an employee w1th 
whom a ch1ld 1s placed--even when such placement is not for 
purposes of adoption, i.e:, as long as the employee ... . 
permanently assumes and d1schar9es parental respons1b1l1t1es 
for such a child. As such, it 1s the only statute which does 
not require a legal relationship to est~bli~h who is a.child 
for either a leave granted when such ch1ld 1s placed w1th the 
employee or leave granted to care for such a child up?n his or 
her illness. Maine (10], Rhode Island [11], and Wash1ntton 
[12] limit the-aerin1tion of ch1ld for purposes of adop 10n by 
age: for Maine and Rhode Island the child must be 16 years of 

age or less, and for Washington, 5 years of age or less. 
Hawaii (13] neither broadens nor limits its definition of 
ch1ld for adoption purposes. 
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Oregon (14] provides for both parental and family leave 
in two separate statutes--one which makes it an unlawful 
employment practice to refuse to grant an employee's request 
for a parental leave of absence and one which ~rovides for 
Family Medical Leave. Although Oregon is unl1ke the above 
states which provide the parental and family leave benefits in 
one comprehensive statute, it is included in Section I. Under 
Oregon's law a child, for purposes of requesting leave for 
adoption, is one who is under 6 years of age. 

Least Favorable to Em~lo~ers: The District of Columbia's 
statute g1ves broadest pro ec 1on to employees by requ1r1ng 
leave for the placement of any child with an employee, 
regardless of the existence of a legal relationship with such 
a child, as long as the employee "assumes and discharges" 
parental responsibility for such a child. 

The federal bill's definition describes a "son or 
daughter" as a 11 b1olog1cal, adopted, or foster child, a 
stepchild, a legal ward, or a child of a ~erson standing in 
loco parentis ..• " [15]. This definition 1s similar in scope 
to D.C.'s statute, and would preempt the state laws which have 
narrower definitions. 

Most Favorable to Em5loaers: Rhode Island and Maine, by 
omitt1ng def1n1t1ons of c 1l , could be narrowly construed, 
and thereby benefit employers. Washington and Oregon limit 
the definition of child in the case of adoption to children 5 
years of age or less, the most restrictive of the statutes 
which limit the definitiQn of child for adoption purposes. 

B. The circumstances under which leave is to be granted. 

Family leave, which refers to leave 9ranted in order to 
enable an employee to care for a sick fam1ly member, is 
mandated in all the statutes included in Section I. However, 
the definitions of family member, child, spouse, and parent 
differ; the criteria which constitute an illness which 
entitles an employee to such leave varies; and the states are 
not in agreement as to whether family leave (with its 
guarantees of reinstatement and other benefits) includes the 
right of an employee to take leave for his or her own 
illness. The questions of when family leave is to be granted 
and who is considered a family member are addressed first. 

Connecticut [16], Maine [17], Rhode Island [18], and 
Wiscons1n [19] provide fam1ly leave for the employee's own 
1llness, a logical extension of the concerns expressed in the 
objectives of family leave laws. 

The federal bill includes a provision for leave to an 
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employee whose serious health condition makes the employee 
unable to perform the functions of his or her position (20]. 

All the statutes, except Washington, indicate that an 
employee is entitled to family leave to care for a serious 
health condition or serious illness of a child, spouse, or 
parent of the employee. Under Washington's law (21) employers 
must grant leave to employees to take care of a newborn or a 
newly adopted child under the age of 6 or a child under the 
age of 18 with a terminal health condition. There is no 
provision for leave to care for a spouse or parent. 
Interestingly, the law does provide that an employee's accrued 
sick leave can be used to care for a child under 18 who simply 
requires "treatment" or "supervision"--no other statute 
addresses leave to care for a child who is neither seriously 
nor terminally ill, but only mildly ill. 

The District of Columbia (22] has passed the only statute 
which includes 1n 1ts def1nition of family member a child who 
lives with the employee and for whom the em~loyee permanently 
assumes and discharges parental responsibil1ty and a person 
with whom the employee shares or has shared, within the past 
year, a mutual residence and with whom the employee maintains 
a committed relationship. 

Least Favorable to Emploters: The District of Columbia 
has the broadest def1n1t1on o family member. It 1s the only 
one which includes .a . person with whom the employee shares 
or has shared a mutual residence and with whom the employee 
maintains a committed relationship. In addition, it includes 
as a child one who lives with the employee and for whom the 
employee permanently assumes and discharges parental 
resonsibility. This could include one who is the child of a 
live-in companion, whether or not a legal or blood 
relationship exists. 

Most Favorable to Employers: Washinlton does not require 
that leave be granted for the 1llness of am1ly members other 
than the child of the employee. 

c. Provisions indicating what constitutes an illness 
for purposes of fam1ly leave. 

California (23], Connecticut (241, the District of 
Columb1a (25], New Jerset (261, and W1sconsin (27] have 
substantially s1m1lar de init1ons for ser1ous health condition 
or serious illness: an illness, injury, impairment, or 
physical or mental condition that involves either inpatient 
care in a hospital or other health care facility, or 
continuing treatment or supervision by a health care 
provider. Wisconsin and Connecticut add the adjective 
"disabling" to the definition, a word that was found to be 
ambiguous in a Wisconsin case since it could mean any illness 
or injury that interferes with ~erformance of daily functions, 
not necessarily one that is lim1ted to long-term illnesses or 
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conditions. In the same case, it was decided that the 
employee who took one day off for bronchitis was not entitled 
to protection from discharge under this law because the 
illness did not call for outpatient care with "continuing 
treatment" by a health care provider (28]. 

The Rhode Island (29] statute defines a seriously ill 
person as one who b¥ reason of an accident, disease, or 
condition is in imm1nent danger of death, or requires 
hospitalization involving an organ transplant, limb amputation 
or other procedure of similar severity. Maine's (30] 
definition is the same, except that it adds a third 
possibility: a mental or physical condition that requires 
constant in-home care. The Washington (31] statute, which 
limits family leave to care for an 111 child only, is further 
limited to a child with a "terminal health condition" one 
which is caused by injury, disease, or illness, that is 
incurable and will produce death within the period of the . 
leave. This very restrictive definition is softened somewhat 
by the state's law which requires employers to allow employees 
to use accrued sick leave to care for a child who requires 
treatment or supervision due to a "health condition." Hawaii 
(32) defines a serious health condition as "an acute, 
traumatic or life threatening illness, injury, or impairment 
that requires a physician's treatment or supervision." 

Oregon (33) defines serious health condition in more 
severe terms, such as a condition which poses an "imminent 
danger of death, is terminal in prognosis with a reasonable 
possibility of death in the near future," but also includes in 
the definition the more general "illness of a child of an 
employee requiring home care" and "any mental or physical 
condition that requires constant care." 

Least Favorable to Emplo¥ers: California, Connecticut, 
D.C., New Jersey, and W1scons1n entitle emplorees to broad 
protect1on w1th regard to reasons for request1ng family 
leave. However, the California law states that the condition 
must be one which "warrants the participation of a family 
member to provide the care." An employer could require 
evidence that the em~loyee's personal presence is necessary to 
care for the ill fam1ly member. 

Most Favorable to Employers: Hawaii and Rhode Island 
allow employees a r1ght to fam1ly leave only in very 
restricted circumstances involving a terminal prognosis for 
the ill family member. 

D. The number of emtloyees needed to bring the employer 
w1th1n he coverage of the law. 

The following list shows the number of employees an 
employer must have in order to be considered an "employer" 
under the law. They are in order, from the lowest number of 
employees to the highest. Some of the statutes staggered the 
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effectiveness of their laws, making the law applicable to 
employers with a higher number of employees in the first year, 
and reducing the number in later years (District of Columbia, 
New Jersey, and Connecticut). The numbers below represent the 
lowest final numbers provided in the various states' laws. 

District of Columbia (34) - 20 or more. 
Ma1ne [35] - 25 or more. 
~n (36)- 25 or more (for its parental leave law). 

50 or more (for its family leave law). 
California (37) - 50 or more. 
New Jersey (38) - 50 or more. 
Rhode Island (39) - 50 or more. 
W1scons1n (40) - 50 or more. 
Connect1cut [41) - 75 or more. 
Rawa11 [42] - 100 or more. 
Wash1ngton (43) - 100 or more. 

Least Favorable to EmploSers: The District of Columbia's 
statute appl1es to a broaderase of employers (those w1th 20 
or more employees) than any of the other states' laws. Also 
broad is Maine (25 or more employees). 

Most Favorable to EmaloSers: Hawaii and washington are 
the only ones wh1ch exclu eus1nesses w1th less than Ioo 
employees from the law's requirements, indicating a concern 
about the impact of the law on small businesses. 

The federal bill covers employers of 50 or more (44). 

E. Employees' rights and remedies under the act. 

The extent to which there is statutory language which 
grants the benefactors of the laws (the employees) specific 
remedies with which to enforce the rights established in the 
laws is an indication of the seriousness of purpose which the 
legislators brought to their deliberations of these parental 
and family leave statutes. The statutory provisions range 
from no mention of remedies (in which case it is presumed the 
employee can take civil action in a court of general 
jurisdiction) to several clauses allowing for civil penalties, 
punitive damages, and other relief. 

The New Jersef law (45) attempts to balance the interests 
of business aga1ns the state's acknowledged policy of 
protecting and promoting the stability and economic security 
of family units. It provides that, in addition to other 
relief or affirmative action permitted, a penalty of not more 
than $2000 for a first offense, and not more than $5000 for 
second and subsequent offenses will be assessed against 
violators. Also, punitive damages of up to $10,000 for an 
individual and $500,000 for a class action (or 1% of the net 
worth of the employer, whichever is less) can be awarded to 
plaintiffs, as well as reasonable attorney's fees to the 
prevailing party. If the employer prevails, however, bad 
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faith must be shown in order recover attorney's fees. 

Other states which provide penalties against violators 
are Rhode Island (46), Washinfiton (47], and Maine (48). Rhode 
Island w1ll assess not more t an $1000 for eacn-day of a 
continuing violation; Washington will fine up to $200 for a 
first infraction and $1000 for each additional; and Maine 
provides liquidated damages of $100 per day for each day a 
violation continues. 

The District of Columbia (49J, Hawaii (50], Wisconsin 
(51], and Wash1ngton employ admin1strat1ve processes for 
parties seeking relief under these laws. Washington alone 
precludes the right of an employee to take civil action, but 
allows awards of reinstatement and backpay. Wisconsin 
requires filing with its agency within 30 days of the 
violation, and an attempt at conciliation will be made before 
a hearing will be given. After exhausting the 
administrative process, an employee may take civil action. In 
the District of Columbia a successful plaintiff may be awarded 
backpay plus interest, and up to three times that amount in 
consequential damages, medical expenses not covered by health 
insurance, and costs and reasonable attorney's fees. If the 
agenc¥ process goes beyond 150 days, the aggrieved employee 
may f1le a civil action. , 

Least Favorable to Employers: New Jersey specifically 
provides that an employee may seek pun1t1ve damages up to 
$10,000 for an individual. New Jersey also assesses the 
highest penalty on employers for violations--$2,000 for the 
first offense and up to $5,000 for each subsequent offense. 

The federal bill contains a provision unlike any of the 
state statutes. ~rants standing to any one or more 
employees for and in behalf of other employees to take action 
in any Federal or State court of competent jurisdiction 
against any employer, including a public agency (52). 

Most Favorable to Employers: Washinaton precludes a 
private r1ght of act1on for emplo¥ees, an assesses only a 
$200 fine for the first emplo¥er 1nfraction, and up to $1,000 
for each infraction if violat1ons continue. A successful 
employee may be limited to reinstatement and backpay. 

F. Employee's right to reinstatement. 

California ~53), Connecticut (54], Rhode Island (55], and 
Wiscons1n [56] s1mply mandate re1nstatement of the employee to 
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his or her former position, or to a position with equivalent 
duties, pay, benefits, and other terms and conditions of 
employment. The remaining states, while acknowledging 
substantially the same right of reinstatement, qualify the 
right by recognizing exceptions which operate in favor of 
employers. Hawaii (57] and New Jersey (58) state that 
reinstatement can be denied rr-the employer experiences 
layoffs or workforce reductions and the employee would have 
lost the position if not on leave pursuant to a bona fide 
layoff and recall system. 

The District of Columbia (591 allows an em~loyer to deny 
reinstatement to an employee who 1s among the h1ghest paid 10% 
of the employer's workforce if the employer can demonstrate 
that reinstatement would result in substantial economic injury 
to its operations. Oregon (601 and Washington [61] have 
similar language stat1ng that 1f the employer's circumstances 
have so changed that the employee cannot be reinstated to the 
former or equivalent job, the employee shall be reinstated to 
any other position that is available and suitable. 
Washington's statute goes on to state that the entitlement to 
reinstatement does not apply if the ~osition has been 
eliminated by a bona fide restructur1ng or reduction-in-force, 
the workplace has been moved to at least 60 miles away or is 
permanently or temporarily shut down for at least 30 days, or 
if the employee takes another job, or does not provide timely 
notice of his or her intent to take family leave, or did not 
return on the agreed-on-day. 

The broadest right to deny reinstatement is found in 
Maine's (62] law which states that reinstatement can be denied 
1f the employer proves that the employee was not restored 
because of conditions unrelated to the employee's exercise of 
rights under this act. 

Least Favorable to Employers: The statutes which are 
silent as to the r1ght of an employer to deny reinstatement 
could prove most beneficial to employees. These include 
California, connecticut, Rhode Island, and Wisconsin. 

Most Favorable to Employers: Those statutes which 
specif1cally recogn1ze the employer's right to deny 
reinstatement in particular circumstances are desirable for 
employers. In particular, Maine's catch-all exception 
provides a major loophole operat1ng in favor of employers. 

The federal bill contains an exemption for certain highly 
compensated employees--the highest paid 10 percent of the 
employees employed by the emplorer within 75 miles of the 
facility at which the employee 1s employed--which allows the 
employer to deny restoration to such em~loyee if it is 
necessary to prevent substantial and gr1evous economic injury 
to the operations of the employer (63]. 
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All of the statutes require notice of the intent to take 
a leave unless the reasons for taking the leave are 
un~oreseeable. Connecticut (64] requ~res 2 weeks' notice; 
Ma1ne (65] and Rhode Island (66) re9u1re 30 days' notice; and 
tneothers requ1re "reasonable" not1ce. Washington [67] is 
the only state which requires written not1ce (3 days for 
pa~ental leave and 14 days for family leave) . All except 
Ma1ne and Rhode Island state that employees should make 
r~asona~le efforts in schedul~ng leave dates to avoid 
d1srupt1ng the employer's bus1ness operations. 

All the statutes except Rhode Island specifically permit 
employers . to require certi~ication from a physician or health 
care prov1der, and Connect1cut alone requires that the 
empl?yee provide a written .certificate from a physician 
stat1ng the nature of the 1llness and its probable duration. 
New Jerset (68], Washington, and Wisconsin (69] permit the 
employero obtain a second medical op1n1on at the employer's 
~xpense, w~th New Jersey and Washington adding that if there 
1s a confl1ct between the two opinions, a third opinion may be 
sought--in New Jersey such party is chosen jointly. In 
Wash~ngton the third is chosen by the other health care 
prov1ders. 

Oregon (70) and ,Washington laws provide that if the 
employee fails to provide notice as required the employer may 
reduce the leave period by 3 weeks. ' 

Least Favorable to Em~loyers: By reason of its limited 
employee not1ce requ1remen s and its silence regarding the 
employer's right to require verification from a physician, 
Rhode Island shows less concern for employers. 

. Most Favorable to Em~loyers: Washington has a 30-day 
wr1tten not1ce requ1remen , a concern for d1srupting the 
business operations of the employer, an allowance for an 
employer's demand for confirmation from a health care 
provider, plus the right of the emplorer to punish an employee 
who fails to abide by the notice requ1rements. 

H. Length of mandated leave period. 

The length of the mandated leave periods fall between 2 
weeks in a 1-year period to 16 weeks in a 2-year period. In 
order from the shortest to the longest, they are: 

Wisconsin [71] - 2 weeks in a 1-year period for family 
leave. 

6 weeks in a 1-year period for 
parental leave. 

8 weeks in a 1-year period for a 
combination of leaves. 
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Hawaii [72] - 4 weeks in a 1-year period. 

Maine [73] - 10 weeks in a 2-year period. 

New Jersey [74] - 12 weeks in a 2-year period. 

Washington [75] - 12 weeks in a 2-year period. 

Oregon [76] - 12 weeks in a 2-year period for family 
leave. 

12 weeks in a restricted period of 
for parental leave.* 

Rhode Island [77] - 13 weeks in a 2-year period. 

Connecticut [78] - 16 weeks in a 2-year period. 

District of Columbia [79] - 16 weeks in a 2-year 
period. 

California [80] - 4 months in a 2-year period. 

time 

* Oregon's statute requires an employee to take the 
parental leave between the birth of the infant and the time 
the infant reaches 12 weeks of age. If the child was born 
prematurely, the 12-week period will be extended to the time 
the child will have reached the developmental stage equavalent 
to 12 weeks of age. For adoptions·, the leave must be within 
the 12-week period which begins when the employee takes 
physical custody of the child. 

The federal bill provides a total of 12 workweeks of 
leave during any 12-month period [81]. 

Least Favorable to Em~loyers: California, Connecticut, 
and the D1str1ct of Columbia permit the longest leave per1ods 
for employees. 

Most Favorable to Emtloyers: Wisconsin provides only 2 
weeks 1n a 1-year per1odor family leave, by far the shortest 
leave period of all the statutes. 

I. Employer's right to deny leave. 

The statutes of California [82], Connecticut [83], the 
District of Columbia [84], New Jersey [85], Ore£on [86], and 
Wash1ngton [87] specificall¥ recogn1ze the r1gh of employers 
to den¥ parental and/or fam1ly leave to employees in certain 
situat1ons. The California, Connecticut, Oregon, and 
Washington laws allow employers to restrict the combined leave 
of a husband and wife to the maximum leave period provided for 
one employee (in some states, even though they may work for 
different employers). In California, if an employee's spouse 
is unemployed, the employee cannot take a leave. Likewise, in 
Oregon leave can be denied to an employee if another family 
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member ~s av~ilable to be a caregiver. In oregon, washington, 
a~d ca~1forn1a the em~loyer can deny leave to a husband and 
w1fe s1multaneously (1n some states, whether or not they work 
for the same employer). 

Employers in California, the District of Columbia New 
Jersey, and Washington can deny leave to high paid employees 
when necessary to avoid substantial economic in~ury to the 
employer's operations. In California and the D1strict of 
C~lumbia t~is wo~ld include an employee who is one of the 5 
h1ghest.pa1d or 1s among the top 10% in 9ross salary. In New 
J~rsey 1t ~eans an employee who is salar1ed and among the 
h19hest pa~d 5% or one of the 7 highest paid employees 
wh1chever 1s greater. In Washington it includes u~ to

1

10% of 
the wor~force who are designated (in writing and d1splayed in 
a consp1cuous place) as "key personnel," or the highest paid 
10% of the employees. 

New Jersey has inserted a punitive clause in its 
par~ntalffamily leav~ statute stating that no employee shall, 
dur1ng the leave per1od, perform services on a full-time basis 
for ~ny p~rson,for whom.the emplo¥ee did not provide those 
serv1ces 1mmed1ately pr1or to tak1ng leave. However no 
sanctions are given for violators. ' 

Least Favorable to Employers: Hawaii Maine Rhode 
Island, and W1scons1n have no provis1ons spec1f1c~lly 9ranting 
e~ployers the r1ght to de~y parental and family leave 1n given 
c1rcumstances or to certa1n classes of employees. 

,Most Favorable to Emploters: California, New Jersey, and 
Wash1ngton recogn1ze at leas two types of s1tuat1ons 1n which 
emp~o¥ers can den¥ par~ntal or family leave to employees. 
Add1t1onal~y, Cal1forn1a has as open-ended provision which 
would perm1t an employer to deny leave if it would result in 
undue hardship to the employer's operations. 

J. Effects of leave on employee benefits. 

Preservation of rights and benefits which have accrued up 
to the comme~cement of a leave period is standard for all the 
parental/fam1ly leave statutes. The laws differ in regard to 
whether or no~ they requ~re 9ontinuation of benefits during 
the leave per1od. The D1str1ct of Columbia [88], New Jerset 
[89], Rhode Island [90], and W1scons1n [91J statutes 1nd1ca e 
th~ employers shall continue certa1n benef1ts for employees 
wh1le on leave. 

New.Jer~ey's law specifically states that the employer 
shall ma1nta1n.coverage under a group health insurance policy, 
a group subscr1ber contract, or a health care plan at the 
leve~ and.under the conditions coverage would have been 
prov1ded 1f the employee had continued to work. The law was 
challenged and was found to be pre-empted by the Employee 
Re~irement Income Security Act with regard to any plans 
wh1ch would come within the jurisdiction of the federal 
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law (92). The legal issue of pre-empti?n wo~l~ apply t? . 
several other of the state's statutes w1th s1m1lar prov1s1ons. 

For the protection of employers, some states have a 
provision that employees pa¥ to the emplo¥er a s~m of.money 
equal to the amount of the 1nsurance prem1ums wh1ch w1ll ~e 
paid during the time of the leave. Rhode Island makes th1s 
payment a statutory requirement, adding that the employer 
shall return such payment to the employee w~thin ~0 days. 
following the employee's return to work. W1scons1n perm1ts 
employers to require an escrow payment for this purpose. 

California (93], Washington (94], and Oregon (95) have 
provis1ons wh1ch specif1cally absolve employers from 
requirements of continuing benefits during leave. California 
allows employers to refuse to make pension or retirement 
contributions during the leave. Washington's law states, 
"Nothing in this act shall be construed to require the 
employer to grant benefits, including seniority or pension 
rights during any period of leave." Both states acknowledge 
the employees' rights to continue group health insurance plans 
at the employee's expense. Finally, under Oregon's law 
benefits are not required to accrue during the leave. 

Maine's [96) law requires that employers make it possible 
for employees to continue benefits at the employee's expense. 

Least Favorable to Emtloyers: Statutes which mandate 
continued benef1ts dur1nghe leave period include those of 
the District of Columbia, New Jersey, Rhode Island, and 
Wiscons1n. 

Most Favorable to Em~loyers: Rhode Island indicates a 
concern for the employers protection by requ1ring employees 
to make a prior payment to employers for the cost of . 
continuing benefits for the duration of the leave per1od. 
California, Washington, and Oregon allow employers to refuse 
to cont1nue certa1n benefits dur1ng that period. 

II. STATES MANDATING LEAVE FOR PREGNANCY, CHILDBIRTH, 
ADOPTION OR CARE OF A NEWBORN OR NEWLY ADOPTED CHILD 
ONLY. (These statutes contain no provisions for care 
of an ill family member.) 

The following statutory provisions reflect a deliberate 
effort to abide by civil rights re9uirements concerning sex 
and pregnancy discrimination. It ~s somewhat ironic that in 
an attempt to comply with those laws, several states have 
enacted laws which appear to violate those very laws. Part of 
the problem stems from the fact that it is legally necessary 
to treat pregnancy and childbirth the same as other temporary 
disabilities are treated, and that treating pregnancy more 
favorably than other temporary disabilities met with approval 
by the u.s. Supreme Court (97]. Since pregnancy and 
childbirth are biologically associated only with the female 
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gender, many of the statutes grant benefits such as leave only 
to female employees. As long as the benefits are tied to the 
related medical condition of pregnancy and childbirth there 
is no legal problem with grantin9 them only to female~. 
However, as stated earlier, by m~xing child care leave with 
pregnancy and childbirth leave, and 9ranting the benefit only 
t? females, there can be a sex discr~mination violation of 
T~tle VII as well as a potential constitutional question of 
equal protection (98). 

The followin9 statutes are presented in alphabetical 
order with code c~te accompaniments for reference. Many are 
part of comprehensive fair employment practice or civil rights 
statutes. Key words have been highlighted to enable the 
reader to scan the significant facts. 

Iowa: Th~ Iowa Civil Right~ Act ~equires.that eregnant 
emplo~ees be g1ven leave for the1r per1od of d1sability or for 
8 wee s, whichever is less (99). 

Kansas: The state's law against discrimination has been 
interpreted to require employers to grant a reasonable ~eriod 
of leave to female emplolees for childbearing and to re1nstate 
her to her or1g1nal (or 1ke) pos1t1on after leave [100). 

Kentucky: The Fair Employment Practices law requires an 
employer to grant a reasonable leave up to six 6 weeks to care 
for~ adopted child under the age of 7 (101). 

Louisiana: Under a pregnancy discrimination law an 
employer 1s required to grant a reasonable leave up t~ 4 
mont~s.for disability for pregnancy or a related medical 
cond1t1on (102]. ---

Massachusetts: Maternity leave shall be granted to a 
female employee for birth or the adoption of a child under the 
a9e of 18, or 1f-cfie-chiTd-rs-pliys1ca11y or mentally 
d1sabled, under the a9e of 23. The emplo¥ee shall be restored 
to her original posit1on or a similar pos1tion with the same 
status, pay, length of service credit and seniority. However 
this does not apply if there is a layoff [103). ' 

Note: Massachusetts' law is likely to be in violation of 
the federal C1v1l R1ghts Act, Title VII. The EEOC recently 
w~r~ed that leaves grant~d t? females only, which are not 
l1m1~e~ to pregnane¥, c~1ldb~rth, or related medical 
cond1t1ons, may be 1n v1olat1on of the sex discrimination 
prohibitions of the law (104]. Clearly, a leave granted to a 
woman for the purpose of adoption does not involve a medical 
condition and is only for child care. It therefore should 
also be made available to male employees in order to be in 
compliance with federal law. 

Minnesota: Leave shall be granted to an employee who is 
a natural or ado~tive parent in conjunction with the birth or 
adoption of a ch1ld. The leave may begin not more th~ 
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weeks after the birth or adoption (105). 
The act covers employers with 21 or more employees at at 

least one site [106]. 
The length of the leave period is~ weeks [107]. 
In addition to remedies otherwise prov1ded by law, a 

person may bring a civil action to recover any and all damages 
recoverable at law, together with cost and disbur~e~ents! 
including reasonable attorney's fees, as well as 1n)unct1ve 
and other equitable relief at court's discretion (108). 

The employee shall be entitled to return to his or her 
former position or a position of comparable duties, number of 
hours and pay. However, if the emplo¥er experiences a layoff 
and the employee would have lost a pos1tion pursuant to a bona 
fide layoff and recall system, the employee is not entitled to 
reinstatement, but retains all other rights under the system 
as if the employee had not taken the leave [109]. 

The leave shall begin at a time requested b¥ the 
employee. The employer may adopt reasonable pol1cies 
governing the timing of requests for unpaid leave (110]. 

The employer shall continue to make coverage available to 
the employee, wh11e-on-1eave, under group 1nsurance, group 
subscriber contract, or health care plan for the employee and 
dependents. Nothing in this act requires the employer to pay 
the costs [111]. 

Montana: Under the state's Fair Employment Practices 
law, an employer must grant a reasonable leave for 
pregnancy/maternity, the length to be determ~ned on a 
case-by-case bas1s. The employee must be re1nstated to her 
original or equivalent position [112]. 

New Hampshire: Under the state's law against 
discr1m1nat1on, leave is to be ~ranted for temporary 
disability due to pregnancy ch1ldbirth or a related medical 
condition and to re1nstate the employer to the same or a 
comparable position unless business necessity makes it 
impossible or unreasonable (113). 

Tennessee: An employer must grant a full-time female 
employee up to 4 months leave for pregnancyh childbirth, and 
nurs1ng of her Infant and reinstate her to er or1~1nal or 
s1m1lar position unless the position is so unique 1t cannot be 
temporarily filled after reasonable efforts have been made or 
if the employee has used the leave to pursue other employment 
or has worked full-time for another employer during the 
leave. The act specifically excludes male employees from 
taking "maternity leave" (114]. 

Vermont: Under the state's pregnancy leave law, an 
employer must grant ~ to 1 *ear to a female employee during 
pregnane! and follow1nA-oirt and reinstate her to the same or 
comparab e pos1t1on. n employee may seek relief for 
violation of the act in a private civil suit (115). 

Commentart: Because providing leave for childcare to 
females and no to males has been ruled as sex discrimination 
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~nder.federa~ law [116], states which run the risk of being 
1n~al1dated 1nclude: Kentucky and Massachusetts (both of 
wh1ch mandate leave for female employees for adoption) and 
Vermont (which mandates leave for female employees for'up to a 
per1od of 1 year (unless it is clearly granted only when a 
related medical condition is involved). 

III. ALTERNATIVE STATUTORY PROVISIONS ADDRESSING FAMILY 
CONCERNS IN EMPLOYMENT. 

, The following statutory provisions are included to 
1llustrate that other possibilities exist for addressing the 
need ~or fam~ly concerns in the context of employment. 
Creat1ve l~g1slators should be encouraged to propose statutory 
schemes wh1ch may better address the needs of employees with 
family obligations than the ones already enacted. 

, . California: Up to 4 ~ours per year must be granted for 
v1s1ts b¥ an em~loyee to h1s or her child's school. Employers 
may requ1re a s1gned document verifying the visit [117]. 

Connecticut: In conjunction with its family and parental 
leav~ ~a~, the state'~ D~partment of Labor shall report on the 
feas1b1l1ty of establ1sh1ng a statewide job bank of 
repl~cement employees available to work for temporary periods 
of t1me (118]. 

Oregon: The Oregon family leave law is not applicable if 
the emp~oyer offers to.the employee a nondiscriminatory 
caf~ter1a ~lan, as def1ned by the IRS Code, providing as one 
of 1ts opt1ons a parental leave benefit that is at least 
equivalent to the benefit required by this act (119). 

, Nevada: It is a misdemeanor to terminate an employee who 
1s a parent, guardian or custodian of a child and who (1) 
appears at a conference requested by an administrator of a 
school or (2) is notified during work of an emergency 
~eg~rding the child by a school em~loyee (120]. In addition, 
1t 1s an unlawful employment pract1ce to fail or refuse to 
gran~ leave to a pregnant female em~loyee if such a benefit is 
prov1ded to employees for other med1cal reasons [121]. 

COMMENTS AND CONCLUSIONS 

The foregoing statutes, with their varied and sometimes 
conflicting definitions, remedies, and even major provisions 
P?Se a challenge for l~rge, interstate employers who must de~l 
w1th the numerous requ1rements relating to their 
employer-employee relationships. One solution would be for 
Congress to successfully pass a family/parental leave bill. 
Proponents of a national policy on parental leave are 
co~cerned ab?ut balancing the needs of America's youn~ 
ch1ldren aga1nst the other demands made on their work1ng 
parents--demands which lead to the need for two-income 
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families and working mothers (122]. Others recognize a ~eed 
for a policy to help employees who choose to ca~e for ag1ng 
parents at a time when costs of health and nurs1ng care are 
rapidly increasing and people are living longer. 

There is reason to believe that a federal law which would 
provide minimum benefits andfor leave to employees.would be 
acceptable to employers. Many large corporate bus1nesses 
already make parental/family leave available to their workers 
and, as women become a larger ~ortion o~ the workforce,. 
management will respond to the1r needs 1n order to reta1n 
them. A recent study of 700 firms conducted by the National 
Chamber Foundation of the U. s. Chamber of Commerce revealed 
that 77 percent of the firms implemented policies that 
addressed the parental leave needs of workers (123). The 
benefits to employers of making family/parental le~v~ 
available to the workforce include greater product1v1ty, 
better quality of job performance, and reductions in 
absenteeism, tardiness, turnover, and stress. 

A federal law would establish uniform regulations to ease 
the burden on interstate employers. However, although the 
federal bill contains a preemption provision, it makes clear 
that states which pass leave laws more favorable to employees 
shall not be superseded by the federal law. The problem of 
conflicting statutory requirements would therefore still 
exist. A Uniform Family/Parental Leave Act may better address 
this problem. Those stat~s wanting to i~sure s?me mea~ure of 
job securit¥ for workers 1n the face of 1ncreas1ng fam1ly 
responsibil1ties and rising health costs, could turn to the 
Uniform Act and select from alternative provisions those which 
best fit their needs. Although the states may choose 
different options, there would be a standardization of 
definitions, remedies, and language which would make both 
compliance and enforcement more effective. 

Although small businesses have voiced opposition to a 
federal mandatory leave law on the basis of cost, the fact 
that all the states' leave laws as well as the proposed 
federal bill require only unpaid leave, leads othe~s to 
believe that the c?st burden 1s exag9erate~. A m~)or argument 
of small business 1s that when a bus1ness 1s requ1red by law 
to offer one type of benefit for its workforce, the effect is 
to make it more costly to offer varied benefit packages for 
workers with different needs. It has been suggested that a 
better alternative to mandated leave is to provide tax credits 
to employers who provide such leave (124]. 

The United States has been compared unfavorably to other 
western industrialized nations regarding its national and 
state policies on emplo¥IDent security issues, in 9eneral, ~nd 
parental leave, in part1cular. Most of those nat1ons prov1de 
medical care or health insurance for pregnane¥, and have 
maternity leave benefits which include a spec1fied leave 
before and after childbirth, in addition to replacement of all 
or some of the wages lost during the leave and a guarantee of 
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job reinstatement (125]. Although in those countries the 
burden is sha~ed by the taxpayers rath~r than by employers, 
mandated unpa1d leave may not be too h19h a price to pay to 
pre~erve the economic and social wellbe1ng of the American 
f~m~ly. Pro~onents of ~hese laws regard them as reasonable 
m1n1mum requ1rements wh1ch would secure the jobs of employees 
whose family responsibilities might otherwise lead to loss of 
employment, compounding already stressful situations. 

In conclusion, the objectives of parental and family 
leave laws can be met through either a federal statute or 
through the continued enactment of statutes in the individual 
~tates. The p~esent situation can be problematic for large 
1nte~state bus1nesses since the statutes present an arra¥ of 
requ1rements whi?h makes ~t difficult for such organizat1ons 
to compl¥· A Un1form Fam1ly/Parenta1 Leave Act is a possible 
alternat1ve solution to that problem. 

Beyond the statutory schemes presented above are other 
alternatives which could be explored by employers such as 
comp~ny-provided child care, flexible work schedules for 
wor~1ng parents, home ~ork, and job sharing arrangements. 
Leg1slators could cons1der other creative solutions to the 
problem, such as tax credits to parents for childcare 
e~enses, tax.benefits to employers to encourage policies 
a1med at help1ng em~loyees who are burdened with family 
r~s~onsibilities Wh1ch affect their employment, or laws 
s1m1lar to Nevada's and California's which require employers 
to be ~lexible in regard to employees who must attend to the 
educat1onal needs of their children by meeting with school 
personnel during working hours. 

The challenge for legislators at both the national and 
state level is to fashion laws which can satisfactorily meet 
the nee~s of both employees and employers and at the same time 
accompl1sh the larger, societal objectives of a ~reductive 
workforce without compromising the employees' ab1lity to meet 
family obligations outside of the workplace. 
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MAKING SENSE OF RULES IOb-5 AND 14e-3 

by 

Susan Lorde Martin* 

I. Introduction 

Npw that the "go-~o" eighties are gone and Michael 
Mil ken and Ivan Boesky and other high profile securities 
traders have served tlme in jail, the relative calm in Wall 
Street "wheeling and dealing" presents a wonderful opportunit~ 
for Congress to finally clarify insider trading law. 
Al thougp the newspapers have been full of insider trading 
stories and numbers of highly publifized insider trading 
cases have come before the courts, Congress has never 
clarified what insider trading is and what specific behavior 
should be prohibited. Leaving these "details" to the 
Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) and the courts has 
resulted in wrangling between the former and the latter and in 
a body of law that does not make much sense. 

·This article will first discuss the Congressional purpose 
and methods for prohibiting insider trading. Then, SEC Rules 
lOb-5 and 14e-3 will be explained and compared. The 
comparison will show that the statutes authorizing the SEC to 
promulgate those rules are not identical and, therefore, the 
letter of the law does not require those rules to be 
interpreted identically. Nevertheless, there is no policy 
reason to have rules prohibiting insider trading vary 
depending on whether or not the securities being traded are 
the subject of a tender offer. Therefore, this article 
concludes that Congress, in order to create coherent insider 
trading law, should explicitly indicate which of the two rules 
has been properly interpreted by the courts. Application of 
the rules is difficult enough without having the additional 
burden of incongruous policy. 

II. Prohibiting Insider Trading 

Congress has made clear its intention to stop insider 
trading as well as other market practices it considers abusive 
in order to maintain p~blic confidence in the fairness of the 
securities markets. The stock market crash 

*Assistant Professor of Business Law, Hofstra University 
School of Business 
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of October 1,9, 1987. magnified th~ importance
1 

of encouraging 
public conf1dence 1n the secur1 ty markets. That event, 
together witj the dramatic increase in insider trading cases 
in the 1980's and a public perception that inside traders are 
not caught, 9 ma~~ Congress intent on doing battle against 
insider trading. 

PecHliarly, although legislating against insider 
trading, Congress has purposefu1fY declined to. define 
statutorily what insider trading is. The House Comm1ttee on 
Energy and Commerce has defined insider trading as "trading in 
the securities markets while in possession of • material' 
information (generally, information that would be important to 
an investor in making a decision to buy .or Jfll a sec':'ri ty) 
that is not available to the general publ1c. The rat1onale 
for refusing to enact into law this or any other definition is 
to avoid restricting the reach of securities laws and to avoid 
facilhtating schemes designed to circumvent the intent of the 
laws. Using general antifraud provisions rather than a 
specific definition has, as noted approvingly by the House 
Committee, permitted courts to construe the prohibiti~ns 
broadly anft the SEC to use its rulemaking author1ty 
creatively. Moreover, according to the House Committee, 
court decisions and SEC actions h1fe sufficiently clarified 
principles of insider trading law. 

Unfortunately, since that House Committee report in 1984, 
the law has become more confusing rather than more lucid. 
This is particularly so because a recent opinion of the United 
States Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit interpreting 
Rule 14e-311 is at odds with the United States Supreme Court's 
interpretations of Rule lOb-5 • 18 

III. Rule lOb-5 

Section lO(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 19 

provides, in pertinent part, that 
[i]t shall be unlawful for any person ... 
(b) To use or employ, in connection with the 

purchase or sale of any security registered on a 
national securities exchange or any security not so 
registered, any manipulative or deceptive device or 
contrivance in contravention of such rules and 
regulations as the Commission may prescribe as 
necessary or appropriate in ~he public interest or for 
the protection of investors. 

Pursuflnt to that section the SEC promulgated Rule 
lOb-5 which provides, in pertinent part, that 

[i]t shall be unlawful for any person ... 
(a) to employ any device, scheme, or artifice to 

defraud, ... 
(c) to engage in any act, practice or course of 

business which operates ... as a fraud or deceit upon 
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any person, ifl connection with the purchase or sale of 
any security. 

Although nowhere specifically prohibiting insider 
trading, these general antifraud provisions have been the 
primary bases for lawsuits against those who have bought or 
sold securities while in possessio~ of material, nonpublic 
information about those securities. 3 Because Congress has 
declined to be specific about the prohibitions on insider 
trading, it has been left to the SEC and courts to determine 
what fraud means in this context. 

The SEC determined in re Cady, Roberts & Co. 24 that the 
common law imposes on corporate officers, directors, other 
insiders, and "tippees" who are privy to the same information 
';'s insi?ers, a duty to disclose material, nonpubli.c 
1nformat1on before trading in their company's securities.~~ 
The United States Supreme Court has also looked to the common 
law .definition of fraud and ~s used it in interpreting 
Sect1ofi lO(b) and Rule lOb-5. In Chiarella v. United 
States the Court held that one who trades in securities 
using material, nonpublic information is committing fraud and 
violating Rule lOb-5, only if he or she has a duty to dis~lose 
the information and such a dutY. arises only from a 
relationship of trust and confidence. 28 Thus, traders have no 
obligation to reveal material facts to those with whom they 
a~e ~oi~g ~usiness ~f they are neither insiders nor 
f1duc1ar1es. Accord1ng to the Court, silence cannot be 
fraudulent absent a duty to di,flose and duties arise only 
from some special relationship. 

Chiarella, who was employed by a financial printer, was 
able t~ deduce from documents he handled at work, the names of 
companies that were the targets of corporate takeovers.3l 
W~tho~t disclos~ng his knowledge, Chiarella bought the target 
firms stock wh~ch 3pe sold at a profit after the takeover bids 
were made publ1c. The Court reversed his conviction of 
violating Section lO(b) and Rule lOb-5 holding that 
Chiarella's use of the nonpublic information was not fraud 
because 3pe did not have a duty to disclose it before 
trading. The Court declined to rule on a theory, that had 
not been presented to the jury, that Chiarella violated the 
securities laws because he breachnd a duty that his employer 
had to the acquiring corporation. 

Chief Justice Burger, in dissent, asserted the theory 
that those, like Chiarella, who misappropriate material, 
~onpubli~ information h~ve ~~ affirmative duty to disclose the 
1nformat1on before trad1ng. Such a theory, he opined, would 
not limit legitimate professional securities activities, but 
would prohibit Jhe use of information inaccessible to others 
by legal means. Justice Blackmun, in dissent, also asserted 
that "persons having access to confidential material 
information that is not legally available to others generally 
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are prohibited by Rule 10b-5 from engaging in schemes to 
exploit their structural informational advantage through 
trading in affected securities. To hold otherwise ... is to 
tolerate ft wide range of manipulative and deceitful 
behavior." 

In Dirks v. SEc38 the Supreme Court reiterated that "mere 
possession of nonpublic information does not give rise to a 
duty to disclose or abstain; only a specific relationship does 
that." 39 The Court also repeated its rejection of a parity of 
information rule which would require that traders refrain from 
trading if they are in possession of information unavailable 
to others.'0 The Court held that a tippee, one who receives 
information from an insider, has a duty to disclose o~ a~staifl 
from trading that derives from the duty of the 1ns1der · 
Thus, a tippee's duty not to trade on material, nonpublic 
information arises from an insider's duty to shareholders and 
attaches only when the t4\ppee knows or should know of the 
insider's breach of duty. 

What is clear from Chiarella and Dirks is that Rule 10b-5 
liability requires the breach of a duty by one who trades on 
material, nonpublic information; mere possession of material, 
nonpublic information by one who trades on that information in 
the securities markets is not enough for liability. The 
misappropriation theory of liability outlined by former Chief 
Justice Burger adheres to this general formula but does not 
require that t~y breach be of a duty owed to buyers or sellers 
of securities. The br!ach may be of a d'ffY owed to an 
employer, 4 to a patient4 or to a relative, for example. 
Rule 10b-5 liability, according to this theory, attaches when 
people engage in securities transactions using material, 
nonpublic information they have misappropriated from any owner 
of that information in violation of a fiduciary duty or other 
relationship of trust and confidence. The misappropriation 
theory has bee~ adopted by the Second, Third, Seventh and 
Ninth Circuits. 7 It has not beyn definitively approved by 
the United States Supreme Court. 4 

In 1991 the United States Court of Appeals for the Seconfi 
Circuit, sitting in bane, decided United States v. Chestman, 
a case that illustrates the difficulties courts have in making 
sense of insider trading law as it currently exists. The 
occurrences that gave rise to the lawsuit began in November, 
1986 when Ira Waldbaum, the president and controlling 
shareholder of Waldbaum, Inc., a publicly traded company, 
negotiated the sale of the companYs to the Great Atlantic and 
Pacific Tea Company, Inc. (A&.P). 0 Mr. Waldbaum told his 
sister, Shirley Waldbaum Witkin, that he would tender her 
shares of Waldbaum stock as part of the sale so that she could 
avoid the fiomplications of tendering after the public 
announcement. ~e warned her not to discuss the impending 
sale with anyone. On November 24 Mrs. Witkin gave her stock 
certificates to her brother. Later that day, Mrs. Witkin told 
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her daughter, Susan Loeb, in response to questions about her 
whereabouts that morning, that she had gone out to turn over 
her Waldbaum stock, to her brother. Mrs. Witkin also told her 
daughter that it was important that she not tell anyone except 
her husband because it could jeopardize the sale. Mrs. Loen 
told her husband, Keith, and warned him not to tell anyone. 

On November 26 Keith Loeb called Robert Chestman, a 
stockbroker and

55 
financial advisor for Gruntal &. Co., a 

brokerage house. Loeb had been doing business with Chestman 
since 1982 and sfhestman knew that Loeb's wife was Ira 
Waldbaum's niece. According to Loeb's testimony, some time 
between 9 and 10:30 in the morning he told Chestman that he 
"'had some definite, some accurate information' that Waldbaum 
was being sold at a 'substfptially higher' price than the 
market value of the stock." Between 9:49 a.m. and 12:35 
p.m. that day Chestman purchased 11,000 shares of Waldbaum 
stock (including 3000 for himself, 1000 for Loeb, and 7000 for 
his other discretionary aliounts) at prices ranging from 
$24.65 to $26.00 per 51hare. Chestman denied having spoken 
to Loeb that morning. At the close of trading on November 
26 the tender offer was announced afid on November 27 the price 
of Waldbaum shares rose to $49.00. 

During an SEC investigation into the Waldbaum 
transactions, Loeb agreed to cooperate with the government, 
paid a fVfe, and disgorged the profits from his 1000 share 
purchase. Chestman denied any wrongdoing, claiming hiif! 
November 26th Waldbaum purchases were based on his research. 
Chestman was tried and convicted of, inter alia, ten counts of 
fraudulent trading in connection with a tender offer in 
v~olat~on of Rule 14e-3 frd ten counts of securities fraud in 
v1olat1on of Rule 10b-5. He was barred from the securities 
industry and turned over to the g~vernment $235,125 in gains 
from the Waldbaum transactions. 4 He voluntarily began 
serving a two-year sentence in Allenwood Federal Prison Camp 
in June 1988 and was released in May 1989 after his conviction 
was reversed by fs three-judge panel of the Second Circuit 
Court of Appeals. 

After the SEC and federal prosecutors complained that the 
Chestman decision would hamper their efforts to prosecute 
other insider trading cases, the Second circuit agreed to the 
unusual measure of a full court review. The court heard 
or~l_arguments in bane on Novl~ber 9, 1990 and handed down its 
op1n1on on October 7, 1991. The full court vacated the 
panel's decision on, inter alia, the Rule 14e-3 and Rule 10b-5 
questions and then affirmed the convictions for fraudulent 
trading in connection w\~h a tender offer, but reversed the 
Rule 10b-5 convictions. Judge Meskill, writing for the 
court, wa~ joined by four other judges and a fifth 
concurred. Five judges concurred in the Rule 14e-3 
conv~ct~ons 9~t dissen~ed from the reversals of the Rule 10b-5 
conv1ct1ons. One Judge concurred with the Rule 10b-5 
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reversals but dissented from the Rule 14e-3 affirmances.
71 

Chestman's Rule 10b-5 convictions had been based on (1) 
his purchase of Waldbaum stock for Keith Loeb "aiding and 
abetting Loeb's misappropriation of nonpublic information in 
breach of a duty Loeb owed to the Waldbaum family and to his 
wife Susan;" and, ( 2) his purchase of Waldbaum stock for 
himself and other clients re~ultlfg from his being a tippee of 
the misappropriated informat1on. Based on the past Rule 10b-
5 jurisprudence of Chiarella, Dirks and the misappropriation 
theory, the full court concluded that Chestman could not be 
convicted of violating the Rule unless Keith Loeb had breached 
a duty owed to his wife and/or her family because of a 
fiduciary-like relationship of 

3
trust and confidence, and 

Chestman knew of Loeb's breach. 7 The court then concluded 
that kinship alone does not create the required relationship 
and that there was no evidence offered that Loeb had a 
fiduciary-like relationship with his wife or her family nor 
that he had expressly agreed to keep con~identi~l thfi 
information about the impending sale of the fam1ly bus1ness. 
Without Loeb's having breached a duty by disclosing the 
information about Waldbaum's to Che~tman, Chestman could not 
be liable for violating Rule 10b-5. 

Nevertheless, the Second Circuf6 t affirmed Chestman' s 
convictions for violating Rule 14e-3. The court was able to 
so affirm while reversing the Rule 10b-5 convictions because 
of the different language of the two Rules and their 
authorizing statutes, as supported by other evidence of 
Congressional intent. 

IV. Rule 14e-3 

Section 14(e) of the Securiti~s ~xchange A.ct of 1~34 17 , 
which was enacted as part ~f t~e W1ll~ms Ac~ 1n 1968 and 
amended to its current vers1on 1n 1970, prov1des that 

[ i] t shall be unlawful for any person to make any 
untrue statement of a material fact or omit 
to state any material fact necessary in order to 
make the statements made, in the light of the 
circumstances under which they are made, not 
misleading, or to engage in any fraudulent, 
deceptive, or manipulative acts or practices, in 
connection with any tender offer or request or 
invitation for tenders, or any solicitation of 
security holders in opposition to or in favor of 
any such offer, request, or invitation. The 
Commission shall, for the purposes of this 
subsection, by rules and regulations define, and 
prescribe means reasonably designed to prevent, 
such acts and practices as ~re fraudulent, 
deceptive, or manipulative. 

Section lO(b) and Section 14(e) are similar. The former 
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p:ohibits the use of manipulation or decepti~p in connection 
w1th the purchase or sale of securities. The latter 
p:ohibi ts manipulatifin or decept~on or fr.au.d in connection 
w1th a tender offer. Both sect1ons spec1f1cally authorize 
the SEC to ~fomulgate rules designed to prevent the prohibited 
activities. 

Faced with the difficulty of prosecuting insider trading 
cases after the Chiarella decision because of the duty 
requirement, the SEC promptly promul~rted Rule 14e-3 pursuant 
to Section 14 (e) in October 1980. Many of the highly 
publicized insider trading cases involved buying shares of 
publicly traded companies just before tender offers for those 
shares were made public and then selling the sharfis at a 
substantial profit after the offer was announced. If 
Section 10(b) required the SEC to prove that such traders were 
breaching a duty in using the nonpublic information for 
personal gain or that they obtained their information from 
others who were breaching a duty for personal advantage, then 
the SEC would use Section 14 (e) instead to prosecute such 
insider trading cases. Contrary to the requirements the 
Supreme Court estab~ished in Chiarella for a Section 10(b), 
Rule 10b-5 prosecut1on, Rule 14e-3 says that in a situation 
involving a tender offer, trading by persons in possession of 
material~ nonpublic. in~ormation which they know or should know 
was acqu1red from 1ns1ders constitutes prohibited conduct.8ij 
There is no specification that such trading is prohibited only 
if the insider is breaching a duty created by some 
relationship of trust and confidence and the trader knows of 
the breach. 

In Che¥fman, the Second Circuit addressed the validity of 
Rule 14e-3. The court emphasized the deference given to an 
administrative agency's regulation promulgated under an 
express Congressional delegation unless the regulation is 
"'arbitrarrs, capricious, or manifestly contrary to the 
statut~. '" The court then consid;fed whether Congress 
author1zed the SEC to enact Rule 14e-3. After analyzing the 
plain meaning of the words of Section 14(e), the legislative 
history of the Section and subsequen~ legislation, it 
concluded that Congress did so authorize. 

Section 14(e) directs the SEC to "define ... such acts 
and practic~f as are fraudulent, deceptive or 
manipulative." Congress' specific use of the term "de~ine" 
rather than "explain" or sigive examples of" or "enumerate" o~ 
"identify and regulate", must mean that the SEC is being 
authorized to determine what acts and practices are fraudulent 
in the context of tender offer activity. In this connection, 
where the concern is maintaining securities markets that are 
fair, and appear to be fair, to the investing public, there is 
no purpose for requiring a breach of a fiduciary duty to any 
particular person or corporation as an element in a trading 
violation. The Congressional purpose in prohibiting insider 
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trading is to have the securities markets be fair so that the 
investing public will havf3 confidence. in .their integrity and 
keep investing in them. Thus, 1t 1s reasonable that 
Congress would have authorized the SEC to tinker with a 
definition of fraudulent acts and practices to make it suit 
the particular problem addressed by the Williams Act· The 
Second Circuit concluded that the wofids of the statute , 
particularly "define'', are dispositive. At the very leas~, 
that word makes it difficult to conclude that Rule 14e-3 1s 
" b1"trarx capricious, or manifestly contrary to the ar s~' 
statute." 

In addition, Judge Meskill, writing for the court , noted 
support for his interpretation of Secthon 14(e) in. the 
legislative history of the 1970 amendment. He also po1nted 
to legislative activity since the promulgation of Rule 14e-3, 
specif?,cally the Insider Trading. and Sanctions .A':t of 1984 
(ITSA) and the Insider Trad1ng and Secur1t1es Fraud 
Enforcement Act ( ITSFEA), 98 as indicative of the Rule's 
validity. The legislative hist<;>ries o~ ITSA and 1~0I'SFEA 
specifically mention Rule 14e-3 w1 th tac1 t approval. In 
fact the House Energy and Commerce Committee noted its 
inte~tion that the SEC adopt a rule under ITSA similar to Rule 
14e-3, 101 The whole tone of these legislative histories 
evidences Congress' primary interest in strengthening 
enforcement agains~ inside tz:aders . by giving ~t\e SEC broad 
authority and flex1ble laws w1th wh1ch to work. 

Nevertheless, critics have argued that Section 14(e) 
cannot be significantly distinguished from Section lO(b) and, 
therefore intenfretations of the latter also set precedent 
for the f~rmer. 0 The argument asserts that when the United 
States Supreme Court in Chiarella ruled that there can be no 
Rule lOb-5 violation by trading on material, nonpublic 
information absent a duty to spea~~ the Court was creating law 
that also applies to Rule 14e-3. 

V. Reconciling Rule lOb-5 and Rule 14e-3 

Because the language of Sections 10(b) and 14(e) are not 
the same, it is not a stretch to conclude, as the Second 
Circuit did, that Chiarella's interpretation of the former 
does not necessarily set precedent for the latter. Section 
14(e) instructs ttbr SEC to "define . .. acts and practices as 
are frauduhrnt," a much more "compelling legislative 
delegation" than exists in Section lO(b). This strong, 
clear language combined with Congress' subsequent extended 
considerations of insider trading law and passage of ITSA and 
ITSFEA make it hard to dispute Congress' intent to eliminate 
insider trading and to allow th~ S~C ~~ great deal of 
flexibility in pursuing that obJect1ve. That intent 
supports the validity of Rule 14e-3. 

Unfortunately, acceptance of Rule 14e-3 as a valid 
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exercise of SEC authority, although making it easier for the 
SEC to prosecute insider trading cases, creates an incoherent 
body of insider trading law. If the Congressional purpose in 
e~acti~g insider trading laws is to maintain the integrity of 
f1nanc~al markets so that outsiders will keep investing, then 
there 1s no reason to have liability attach with greater 
requirements under Rule lOb-5 than under Rule 14e-3 merely 
because the latter regulates trades in the context of tender 
offers . Outside investors may perceive themselves to be at an 
unfair disadvantage, and decline to invest in the securities 
markets, whenever they believe the markets are controlled by 
others who have access to any material , nonpublic information 
~nless . that acces~ is a~hieved through particular diligence: 
1~tell1genc~ ~r 1nexpl1cable fortuity. Holding investors 
l1able for 1ns1~e tradi~g only when they have breached a duty 
or have used 1nformat1on obtained from someone else who 
~reach~d a duty will permit many trades which threaten the 
1ntegr1 ty of the markets. For example, if the information 
Chestman received from Loeb was about a revolutionary new 
~roduct or marketing concept Waldbaum's was about to reveal, 
1nstead of about a pending tender offer, Rule 14e-3 would not 
h~ve been applicable and Rule lOb-5 would not have been 
v1olated under the Second Circuit's analysis of Loeb's absence 
of a duty. Nevertheless, outside investors would have been 
similarly disadvantaged because of their lack of access to 
i~forma~ion Chestman obtained through his special relationship 
w1th Ke1th Loeb. The inconsistencies in the· interpretations 
of the two rules resulted in the Second Circuit's peculiar 
~ec~sion in Chestman: ( 1) Chestman was guilty of being an 
7ns1de ~rader because he traded on material , nonpublic 
1nformat1on concerning a pending tender offer that he knew or 
should have known came from an insider and that is a violation 
of Rule 14e-3; but, (2) Chestman was not guilty of fraud in 
connection with the purchase and sale of his Waldbaum stock 
because Keith Loeb, from whom Chestman obtained the material 
nonpublic information on which he traded did not breach ~ 
fiduciary-type duty to his wife in disclosi

1

ng the information; 
therefore, there was no Rule lOb-5 violation.~~ 

It is reasonable for both Rule lOb-5 and Rule 14e-3 in 
view of the Congressional purpose of achieving fairness'and 
the perception of fairness in the securities markets to 
~reate .liability f.or trading on material, nonpu'blic 
1nformat1on .whenever 1t has been acquired in a way that is not 
legally ava1lable to the general investing public. The idea 
of unfair informational advantage serving as the basis for 
insider tfu,ding .violations has been circulating for more than 
a decade. Th1s theory responds to the basic Congressional 
purpose and to the psychology of investors. It oby~ates the 
need for creating. artificial theories of liability, that do 
~ot.reflect the a1m of protecting investors, in order to catch 
1ns1de traders who seem to elude standard interpretations of 
fraud. 
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The practical problem is, however, that a significant 
body of law, relying on common (yaw defini tiona of fraud, 
already exists for Rule 10b-5. 1 The Second Circuit's 
solution in Chestman was to interpret Rules 10b-5 and 14e-3 
differently relying on the differences in language in their 
authorizing statutes, but eschewing a discussion of pol icy 
reasons for the varying interpretations. 

VI. Conclusion 

It is time for Congress to define fraud, or to expressly 
empower the SEC to do so, in the context of all insider 
trading securities transactions. There is no policy reason 
for Sections 10(b) and 14(e) and the rules promulgated under 
them to be interpreted differently. There is no policy reason 
for the rules of common law fraud to govern securities law 
liability. There is no policy reason for insider trading to 
be illegal only when a duty is breached. The actual threat to 
public participation in security markets is the _ percept~on 
that insiders and their friends have access to Information 
that puts all others at a disadvantage when transacting 
purchases or sales in the securities markets. 

Therefore, liability under Rules 10b-5 and 14e-3 should 
attach when the method of acquisition of the information is 
wrongful. Achieving an informational advantage should be 
wrongful when it is the result of some special relationship 
and, therefore, is not lawfully available to the investing 
public. fn informational advantage achieved through mere good 
fortune 11 or extra diligence or superior intelligence could 
be traded on lawfully without prior disclosure. Congress' 
clear statement to this effect would help to achieve the goal 
of fair securities markets and would clarify for investors 
when disclosure before trading is required. 
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Transactions in securities on the basis of material, nonpubl ic 
information in the context of tender offers. 

(a) If any person has taken a substantial step or steps to 
commence, or has commenced, a tender offer (the "offering person " ), 
it shall constitute a fraudulent , deceptive or manipulative act or 
practice within the meaning of section 14(e) of the Act for any 
other person who is in possession of material information relating 
to such tender offer which information he knows or has reason to 
know is nonpublic and which he knows or has reason to know has been 
acquired directly or indirectly from (1) the offering person, (2) 
the issuer of the securities sought or to be sought by such tender 
offer, or (3) any officer, director, partner or employee or any 
other person acting on behalf of the offering person or such 
issuer, to purchase or sell or cause to be purchased or sold any of 
such securities or any securities convertible into or exchangeable 
for any such securities or any option or right to obtain or to 
dispose of any of the foregoing securities, unless within a 
reasonable time prior to any purchase or sale such information and 
its source are publicly disclosed by press release or otherwise. 

(d)(1) As a means reasonably designed to prevent fraudulent, 
deceptive or manipulative acts or practices within the meaning of 
section 14(e) of the Act, it shall be unlawful for any person 
described in paragraph (d) ( 2) of this section to communicate 
material nonpublic information relating to a tender offer to any 
other person under circumstances in which it is reasonably 
foreseeable that such communication is likely to result in a 
violation of this section except that this paragraph shall not 
apply to a communication made in good faith. 

(i) To the officers, directors, partners or employees of the 
offering person, to its advisors or to other persons, involved in 
the planning, financing, preparation or execution of such tender 
offer; 

(ii) To the issuer whose securities are sought or to be sought 
by such tender offer, to its officers, directors, partners, 
employees or advisors or to other persons, involved in the 
planning, financing, preparation or execution of the activities of 
the issuer with respect to such tender offer; or 

(iii) To any person pursuant to a requirement of any statute 
or rule or regulation promulgated thereunder. 

(d) ( 2) The persons referred to in paragraph (d) ( 1) of this 
section are: 

(i) The offering person or its officers, directors, partners, 
employees or advisors; 

(ii) The issuer of the securities sought or to be sought by 
such tender offer or its officers, directors, partners, employees 
or advisors; 

(iii) Anyone acting on behalf of the persons in paragraph 
( d ) ( 2 ) ( i i ) ; and 

(iv) Any person in possession of material information relating 
to a tender offer which information he knows or has reason to know 
is nonpublic and which he knows or has reason to know has been 
acquired directly or indirectly from any of the above. 
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(1987); Dirks v. SEC, 463 U.S. 646 (1983) ; Chiarella v . United 
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denied, 394 U.S. 976 (1969); In re Cady, Roberts & Co., 40 S.E.C. 
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CAN DEMAND NOTES REALLY 
BE DEMANDED? 

by 

Peter M. Edelstein* 
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Introduction 

Facts: 

Issue: 

Decision: 

ABC Bank lends $100,000 to B. Benny. B. Benny 
exec~tes and delivers to the bank a negotiable 
prom~ssory note payable "on demand". ABC later 
demands payment. B. Benny refuses. ABC sues B. 
Benny for $100,000. B. Benny defends on the grounds 
that reasonable notice was required and not given. 

Whether a holder of a demand note can demand payment 
at any time? 

Maybe •. . . 

. A "demand note" is an instrument payable on demand and 
~nclu~es thos7 payable at sight or on presentation and those 
~n wh~ch no t7me for payment is stated. 1 By its nature, and 
as reflected ~n long accepted case law and in the u c c 
demand note entitles the holder to freely determine th~ tlm: 
~or payment. In fa?t, such a note is actually due on the date 
~~ ~s I_Rade,, and ~t has been suggested that its name is 
m~slead~ng ~n t~at no actual prior demand is necessary to 
enforce payment. 

Questions concerning a holder's ability to require 
payment of f3 dem~nd note at any time arise because of two 
apparently ~nco~s~stent rules of law and because the intent 
of the part~es ~s not always clear. A two step analysis is 
call7d. for: (1) what is the effect of the applicable 
prov~s~ons of the Code? and, (2) what is the intent of th 
part~es? e 

*Professor of Law,,Pace University, Pleasantville, New York. 
Member of Edelste~n & Lochner, Armonk, New York. 
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The Problem 

u.c.c. Section 1 - 203, e~odies a principle l?ng ~ part 
of the common law of contracts, by imposing an obl1gat1on of 
good faith with respect to all tr~ns~ction~ covere~ by the 
Code: "Every contract or duty w1 th1n th1s Act 1mposes an 
obligation of good faith in its per~ormance ~nd enforcement." 
Good faith is defined as "honesty 1n fact 1n the conduct or 
transaction concerned 11 •

4 Since negotiable ~otes are cover7d 
in Article 3 (Commercial Paper) and secur1ty agreements 1n 
Article 9 (Secured Transactions), one .could fairly assum~ that 
demand notes are subject to the requ1rement of good fa1th. 

The Official Comment to Section 1-208, however, proves 
this assumption to be incorrect.. Section 1-208,. entitled 
"Option to Accelerate at Will", 1mposes the requ1rement of 
good faith on a party, who among other things, desires to 
accelerate payment or performance "at will" or "when h~ deems 
himself insecure." The Official Comment states: "Obv1ously, 
this section has no application. to d~mand in.struments wh~,s1 
very nature permit call at any t1me w1th or w1thout reason . 
(emphasis added). 

While the authors of the Code could have been more 
precise by setting forth the two rules in the body of Article 
2, the Official Comment is not unclear. The o~ligation of 
good faith simply does not app,l~ to de~and 1nstruments. 
Determining whether a demand instrument ex1sts, based on the 
intent of the parties may not be so clear. 

A "pure" demand note is simple and classic and by its 
terms is due "on demand". In the absence of any inconsistent 
language, either within or without the instrument, it may be 
called at any time with or without reason. By contrast, there 
is the note which was born as a demand note, but may have been 
bastardized into something else. 

Consider a demand note which contains a provision that 
it is due on demand, but if no demand is made, .the note. is 
payable "at a certain date"; or a demand note wh1ch cont~1ns 
a default interest rate which is "due and payable at matur1ty, 
on demand or otherwise"; or a demand note given in conjunct~on 
with the execution and delivery of a loan agreement wh1ch 
contains covenants, ratios, and other requirements, the 
default of which constitutes an "event of default". 

Since a court will look to the documents as a whole to 
determine the intent of the parties, it might conclude when 
reviewing the foregoing examples that the parties did not, in 
fact intend the instrument to be payable on demand. The 
court might wonder why the parties agreed to such additional 
and unnecessary language if the note was really due on demand~ 
These "demandable" types of notes have been labelled "impure" 
demand notes and can become a lender's worst nightmare. 
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. Shaughnessy v. Mark Twain State Bank, addressed this 
1ssue and concluded that the so-called "demand note" in 
question was not entitled to be treated as one: 

"First, the words "(o]n demand, and if no demand is 
made, then on the" are printed on the form but 
according .to the n~te' s l .anguage the date Feb~uary 
16, 1980 1s typewr1tten 1n. Second the interest 
rate is prime plus two but after th~ note becomes 
"due and payable (whether at maturity on demand or 
otherwise)" the interest rises to pri~e plus three 
~n add~tion, paragraph 16 of the deed of trust 

l1sts .e1ght events which constitute default. The 
deed 1tself recites 26 paragraphs of covenant by 
Sh~ughnessy. The deed then states that defaults or 
fa1lure to perform the covenants shall cause the 
oblig~tion to ~ecome due and payable regardless of 
matur1t~. Aga1n, we apply the court's analysis [in 
an earl1er case] to underscore the point that a 
demand note is, on issue, due. Further, 
Shaughn~ssy, in the security ... agreement, agreed 
that fa1lure to pay at maturity constituted default. 
Therefore, had the note been a demand note it would 
~;>e m.ature . and Shaughnessy would have been 
1mmed1ately 1n default. Likewise, with the deed of 
trust language, if this were a demand note, the note 
would not need default for it to be due and payable 
at the option of the bank. It would already have 
been due. 117 

Once the conclusion is reached that the instrument 
a117ged by the lender to be a demand instrument is not 
ent1tle~ to be treate? as such, the u.c.c. requirements of 
good fa1th apply by v1rtue of u.c.c. Section 1-203. In the 
context of commercial instruments this means that "neither 
party ~hall ~o. a~ything which will have the effect of 
destroy7ng or 1n)ur1ng the right of the other party to receive 
the fru1ts of the contract". 8 This obligation to protect the 
legal expectations of a party translates, in the case of 
demand notes,into an obligation to give fair notice to the 
borrower before requiring payment. 

K:M.c. Co.,. v. Irving Trust Company/ did not directly 
deal W1th the r1ght of the lender to demand its note but did 
require "the exercise of reasonableness" and "valid 1 business 
judgment"

10 
in electing to terminate a line of credit under 

an agreement by which the loan was payable on demand. 

K.M.c., a wholesale grocer, entered into a financing 
agreement with.Irving .Trust Company ("Irving") whereby Irving 
agreed.to . prov1de a l1ne of credit, in its discretion, up to 
$3.5 m1ll1on. The loan was due on demand and was secured by 
all of K. M. C. 's accounts receivables and inventory. The 
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proceeds of all of K.M.C.'s receivables were required to be 
deposited into a "blocked account" to which only Irving had 

access. 

K.M.C. requested an advance of $800,000, which was 
available under its line. Irving, which was fully 
collateralized, refused and eventually K. M.C. was forced to 
liquidate its business. 

K.M.C., in its lawsuit against Irving alleged, among 
other things, that Irving br~ach~d its implied. duty of ~ood 
faith and fair dealing by term1nat1ng the l1ne w1thout not1ce. 
Irving defended by arguing that since the line was due on 
demand and that because advances were discretionary, it could 
terminate the line at any time. 

The court found for K.M.C. The jury awarded K.M.C. $7.5 
million in damages on the theory ~hat Ir;'ing breached; ~ts 
implied duty of good faith and fa1r deal1ng by .not g1v1ng 
K.M.C. notice of its intention to terminate the l1ne. 

The court noted that even though the obligation of K. M.C. 
was evidenced by a demand note (to which the ~bl.igat~on of 
good faith under the. u.c.c. did not applX), pr?v1s1ons 1n the 
loan agreements ind1cated that the part1es d1d no~ actually 
intend the instrument to be due on demand. The ex1stence of 
financial c.ovenants and events of default required that Irving 
exercise discretion, in good faith. 

The court held: 

"The record clearly established that a medium­
sized company . . . such as K.M.C. could not o~erate 
without outside financing. Thus, the l1teral 
interpretation of the financing agreement . . . as 
supplemented by the "blocked account" mechanism, 
would leave K.M.C.'s continued existence entirely 
at the whim or mercy of Irving, absent an obligation 
of good faith performance ... Logically, at such 
time as Irving might wish to curtail financing 
K.M.C., as was its right under the agreement, this 
obligation to act in good faith would require a 

P
eriod of notice to K.M.C. to allow it a reasonable . f . . n11 

opportunity to seek alternat1ve 1nanc1ng 

Avoiding the Problem 

The problem, once recognized, is subject to avoidance by 
early and thorough attention to drafting. If a pure demand 
note is intended, care should be taken not to 1nclude any 
language inconsistent with the right to demand at any time, 
for any reason, or for no reason. 

If the transaction requires a demand instrument together 
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with other; loan documents, use a pure demand instrument 
together w1th clear and specific "saving" language in another 
document stating that the note is due on demand, in all 
events, . and that any other language is to be construed 
cumu~at1v~ly for the lender's benefit and not in derogation 
C?f 1t~ r1ght to demand without notice. Any apparently 
1ncons1stent language may be justified as serving to assure 
the continued credit-worthiness of the borrower or to provide 
t~e borrower with notice of circumstances when the note is 
l1kely to be called. 

The 
together 
interest 
wish. 

issue will never arise if you use a time instrument 
with such due dates, events of default, default 
rates and covenants, and like provisions, as you 

Related Problems 

"Dis t' d . c:e.1onary avances" language is subject to an 
analys1s s1m1lar to demand notes. Even where the language of 
the loan do~uments makes advances discretionary, the lender 
may be requ1red, by the rules of good faith and commercial 
rea~onableness (as in K.M.C.), to give the borrower fair 
not1ce that future advances will not be made. 

If oth~r ~erms in the loan documents require commitment 
fees or per~o?1c payments, for example, a court might find 
t~ese prov1s1ons 1nconsistent with the right to make 
d1scret1onary advances , and infer an obligation on the part 
of the lender to make the advances. 

To avoid this issue, consider using language in the loan 
~ocuments which commit the lender to make the advances 
1ns~ead o~ making . them discretionary, but make the agreement 
subJ~ct, 1n each 1nstance, to the borrower's satisfaction of 
a ~1st . of conditions (ratios, performance standards, 
aff1rmat~ve a~djor. negative covenants, absence of default, 
etc . ) wh1ch w1ll g1ve the lender sufficient comfort. 

The right to accelerate the entire indebtedness in the 
e~ent of default usually causes no problems. The risk lies 
w1th ti:e use of language permitting acceleration "at will" or 
when 11 1nsecure". The u.c.c., in Section 1-208, states that 
~he lender may accelerate at will or when it deems itself 
1nsecure only if it believes in good faith that the prospect 
of payment or performance is impaired (emphasis added). 

If the lender accelerates pursuant to an "acceleration 
at.will" clause the file should support the belief in good 
fa1th, that the loan is in jeopardy. As noted ab~ve, this 
U.C.C. section does not apply to demand instruments 
ther7fore, ~o avoid the issue consider, when appropriate: 
cast1~g the 1nstrument as "demand' and avoiding the use of the 
"at w1ll" language, or alternatively, using a time instrument 
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with well-defined events of default tied to performance 
standards. 

Like the "acceleration at will" language, an "insecurity" 
clause is subject to the provisions of u.c.c. Section 1-208, 
requiring the lender to believe in good faith that the 
prospect of repayment or performance is impaired .. ~o . cover 
this situation include in the loan documents a def1n1t~on of 
"insecure" or 'set forth those acts or events which would 
render the lender insecure; for example, state that a breach 
of a covenant requiring certain financial ratios to be 
maintained renders the lender insecure. Your client's file 
should then contain information evidencing the breach and 
supporting the determination of insecurity before the loan is 
called. Better yet, do not use or rely upon the"insecurity" 
clause. Whatever would make the lender feel insecure should 
be included as an event of default, in the case of a time 
instrument: or use a pure demand instrument to which the 
u.c.c. section does not apply. 

conclusion 

The K.M.C. decision and subsequent cases12 constitute 
notice to the bar that the courts will not consider the title 
of the instrument to be determinative of the intent of the 
parties. If the instrument is a pure demand instrument and 
there exists no documentary evidence indicating otherwise 
(ratios, covenants, events of default, etc.), the courts will 
not impose an obligation of good faith. Where, however, 
notwithstanding the title of the instrument, the intent of the 
parties is clear from other related agreements, the instrument 
may be held not to be a demand inst!='ume~t, but a "dema':ldable" 
instrument, and subject to the obl1gat1ons of good fa1th. 

At least one author has stated that"··· it is rarely, 
if ever appropriate to document a commercial loan transaction 
with a demand note ... ". 13 This suggestion surely deserves 
more than casual consideration. It is a common feeling by 
lenders that a demand note gives them more control over their 
money and its repayment. They feel that by being able to 
demand repayment at any time they can constantly.monit?r the 
credit-worthiness of their borrowers. Well, wh1le th1s may 
seem to make sense, consider the following: 

1. Case law (K.M. C.) tells us that the demandable 
instrument may not be subject to demand without reasonable 
notice. 

2. The same control and monitoring can be obtained by 
the use of time instruments with performance standards (tied 
to events of default) covenants, and ratios. 

3. Most importantly, as a matter of fairness and 
equity, what business person, dealing at arms length would 

1. 

2. 

3. 

4. 

5. 

6. 

7. 

8. 

9. 

10. 

11. 

12. 

13. 
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ever voluntarily execute and deliver a demand note which could 
have the effect, if demanded without notice of causing it 
substantial economic difficulties? ' 
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A SUGGESTED APPROACH TO HANDLING 
ESCROW ACCOUNTS FOR LA WYERS 

by 

Winston Spencer Waters and Frederick D. Heiman• 

This article reviews the controlling law as it 
pertains to the new rules for establishing and maint~ing escrow ~ccounts in 
New York State. This article illustrates the accountmg syste~ ~hich should 
be employed by presenting a suggested approach for the practicmg attorney 
in any judicial department. For purposes of discussion, emphasis is plac~d on 
the rules of the Appellate Division, Second Judicial Department because It 
has the most stringent requisites in the State. Consequently, .the rules of the 
Appellate Division, Second Judicial Departmen.t are ex_Plored m .greater 
depth, particularly with respect to the illustration outlined h~rem. These 
requirements are summarized herein, followed by a hypothetical set of facts 
used to illustrate the methodology suggested by the authors. The suggested 
record keeping should satisfy any disciplinary commit~ee con~ucting ~n 
investigation into an attorney's financial records relatmg to his practice. 

In November, 1988, the Appellate Division of the 
Supreme Court, Second Judicial Depa~ment, enacted the .new rule~ 

1 governing the Conduct of Attorneys With respect to finanCial recordmg. 
These rules were originally published in the New York Law Journal.2 

Throughout New York State, all judicial . 
departments require that attorneys maintain in a bank or trust co~pany m 
New York State a special account separate and apart from any busmess or 
personal accounts.3 The formal name for such accounts in New York State is 
"lOLA" (Interest on Lawyer Account).4 The lOLA is an outgrowth of the 
State Agency which uses accrued interest on lawyers escrow accounts to fund 
non-profit agencies which provide civil legal services for the poor a~d . 
programs that serve to enhance t~e judicial ~ystem.5 '!'his ~ccount IS required 
in every judicial department.6 This account. Is used ~nm~nly for short-te~ 
money being held in escrow.7 If the lawyer IS a fidu~ary m B:noth~r capacity, 
e.g., conservator, receiver, etc., the funds should be mvested man mterest 
bearing account as opposed to IOLA.8 

*Winston Spencer Waters, Associate Professor of Law and Frederick D. H~iman, Assistant 
Professor of Accounting, Adelphi University, Schools of Business and Bankmg, Department 
of Accounting and Law, Garden City, New York. 
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The escrow account is required to be opened in the 
attorney or firm name.9 The rule requires that such escrow account be 
sepa~ate from ~Y account which such attorney or firm maintains in a 
fiduCiary capacr~y such as !in executor, guardian, trustee or receiver, or in any 
ot~er such ~du~ary capacrty:10 The rule further requires that the deposit 
shps be mamtained for each m a separate and distinguishable manner. II 

. . All records of deposits and withdrawals must be 
mam~I~ed for sev~n years.t 2 Records must include the date, source and 
descn~tion of each It~m deposited as well as the date, payee and purpose of 
each Withdrawal or disbursement.J3 

The manager of such records should keep a record 
of all funds deposited, the names of all persons for who the funds were held 
the amount of such funds, the description and amounts, and the names of ah 
persons to whom such funds were disbursed in a separate ledger.J4 

. . Sanctions will be imposed for the failure to 
~ai?tam escrow account records. 15 Failure to maintain a ledger book or 
surular records for an escrow account are grounds for discipline.t6 Failure to 
pres~rve books ~nd records evidencing the identity of funds of clients 
previOusly held m escrow are grounds for discipline.J7 Moreover failure to 
account for funds would likewise be grounds for discipline. IS ' 

. In the Second Judicial Department, if an attorney 
places money to be held m escrow in a personal or business account with the 
II?-tent to leave m~ney des~gnated and approved by the client for 
disbursements; WithdraWing the amount claimed attributable to the client 
and placing it in another personal account; then finally placing it in an 
escrow account is grounds for disciplinet9 In Matter of Rolnick on October 
23 .• 1985, the attorney received $15,000 which was to be used f~r 
retm~ur~ement oflegal fees paid by his clients, members of a tenant 
a~socrat10n. The attorney claimed that $5,000 was owed to him to cover his 
disburse~ents .. on November 2, 1985, the attorney deposited $10,000 of the 
$15,000 m a saVIngs account at Crossland Savings Bank and $5 000 of the 
$15,000 in a separate savings account at the same bank.' Both a~counts were 
~ntitled "Sy L. Rol~ck." There~fter, the attorney withdrew the $10,000 plus 
mte.rest and deposited that sum mto a certificate of deposit at the American 
Savmgs Bank. He later closed out the certificate of deposit and placed the 
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$10 000 plus interest in an escrow account at Manufacturers Hanover Trust 
Codtpany on December 12, 1986. As of January 2, 1987, he was obligated as 
escrow agent to be holding that $10,000 in escrow. However, on that day the 
funds on deposit totaled only $5,945.52. 

The disciplinary committee charged the attorney 
with not only failing to maintain the $10,000 balance in the escrow account 
but charged him with breaching his fiduciary duty in failing to deposit his 
client's funds in a special account separate from his personal account.20 The 
sanction was disbarment.21 

Likewise, the First Department has held that 
failure to properly maintain trust accounts coupled with conversion of client 
funds warrants disbarment.22 The First Department held that in the absence 
of extremely unusual mitigating circumstances, failure to maintain escrow 
records, i.e., depositing escrow funds into a separate account and the 
intentional conversion of funds belonging to a client or a third party is so 
egregious in nature as to warrant disbarment.23 Lack of income due to 
surgery in a solo practice is not a sufficient mitigating circw;nstance. 24 T~e 
unrealized expectation of receipt offunds to cover a defalcatiOn cou~led With 
a failure to preserve the identity offunds will not excuse such a senou~ 
breach oftrust.25 Interestingly, the First Department has held that failure to 
adequately supervise an associate with respect to deposit and handling of 
funds received on behalf of an estate coupled with failing to preserved the 
identity.of.ap,estate's funds, and failing to have an estate's funds deposited 
into an escrow account or estate account only warrants censure.26 Moreover, 
this department has been so inconsistent that censure has been held to be 
sufficient where the attorney committs escrow account violations, coupled 
with misleading clients as to the status of their cases, as well as other 
professional misconduct. 27 

Interestingly, not all departments are in agreement 
that disbarment should result from either the failure to (1) maintain an 
escrow account; (2) maintain accurate records, or (3) maintain an accurate 
escrow account balance. In Matter of Purser, the Third Department merely 
suspended an attorney for failure to maintain rec?rds.of deposits. an~ 
withdrawals from his escrow account as well as his failure to mamtam a 
balance of$44,000 in his escrow account.28 This was not an isolated inci~ent, 
the same department again merely suspended an attorney from the practice 
oflaw even though he was suppose to be holding $50,000 on deposit and at 
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one time had .a negative balance.29 Additionally, there were other occasions 
wh~re t:he Third Department displayed leniency when an attorney failed to 
~amtau~ an escrow acco~t and ledger books with supporting records.3o Yet, 
m other mstances, the Third Department has held that conversion of client 
funds, co~~gling, failure to ~aintain adequate records, deceiving other 
attorneys, failmg to cooperate With and misleading the disciplinary 
committee would warrant disbarment.31 

. . The Fourth Department has held that failing to 
mamtain true and correct records of a client's fiduciary account coupled with 
t~e balance of an escrow account falling below the amount belonging to his 
chent and on at least two occasions, the account having been overdrawn 
w~rrants .suspension.32 This. same department held that an attorney 
WithdraWing $50,00~ for a chent's trust account and depositing it into the 
firms ~en~ral operating acco~t would support a finding of impermissible 
comnunghng, but not conversiOn, for p.urposes of disciplinary proceeding, 
altho~gh the amount due the firm for Its fee had already been withdrawn 
~rom Its trust a~count, only warrants censure.33 There are many other 
mstances oflement treatment of trust account violations in this 
department. 34 

Finally, maintaining escrow funds in a safety 
deposit box is insufficient to avoid discipline35 Failure to maintain an 
escrow account ~ay result in disbarment.36 Failure to deposit assets which 
s~ould be pl~ced .mto an escrow account is grounds for disbarment coupled 
With oth~r VI~latiOn~ of the Code ~£Professional Responsibility.37 In other 
factual Situations failure to deposit escrow funds only warrants suspension.38 

In cases where an attorney maintains two offices 
forth~ practice ofla~ in two different states, there is a duty to deposit escrow 
funds m an accou~t m the State of representation. 39 Mismanagement of an 
escrow account Will not preclude the sanction of disbarment.40 

Lastly, a lawyer cannot retain interest on an escrow 
account. It i~ further required by the rules that an attorney maintain a 
separate busmess account for office and miscellaneous expenses. In 
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maintaining records in the law office, an ~ttom~y ~hould have the journals 
noted herein available and in use on a daily basis m the law office. 

II. Dlustration 

The following is a hypothetical set of facts used to 
illustrate the methodology suggested by the authors which is applicable based 
on the rules of the Second Judicial Department and should satisfY the rules 
for attorneys in the other three departments. 

Fred Nash has a neighborhood law office in Nassau 
County, New York. Fred is engaged in t_h~ private prac~ic~ o.flaw as a ~ole 
practitioner. He handles criminal and Cl~l !Dat.ters. His Civil matters mclude 
personal injury cases, contract case~ and litigation. He serves as an at~mey 
for a receiver. He also represents chents of several real estate brok~rs m t~e 
area. The following is a diary of money received and disbursed by him dunng 
the period: July, 1991 through January, 1992. 

July 16, 1991 

July 17, 1991: 

August 1, 1992: 

August 15, 1992: 

He received a retainer in the amount of 
$2,000.00 from W. Wainwright in defense of 
of breach of contract action. 

He draws a draft from his escrow account 
in the amount of $900 for services 
rendered in Coe v. Wainwright. 

He draws a draft from his escrow 
account in the amount of $300.00 for 
services rendered in the matter of 
Coe v. Wainwright. 

He draws a draft from his escrow 
account in the amount of $300.00 
for services rendered in Coe v. 
Wainwright. 

September 7, 1991: He settled a civil fraud case in the 
amount of$12,000.00 in the matter 

October 5, 1991: 

of Bent v. Witter. His fee is one third 
less expenses in the amount of $1,000.00. 
He draws a draft for the balance payable 
to Ms. Bent. 

He settled a civil personal injury case 
in the amount of$17,500.00. His fee 
is one third less expenses in the amount 
of$1,168.00. He draws a draft for the 

A. 

B. 

balance payable to Mr. Moyer. 

October 16, 1991: He settled a civil personal injury case 
in the amount of$8,500.00. His fee is 
one third less expense in the amount 
of $450.00. He draws a draft for the 
balance payable to Mrs. Deleaver. 

December 21, 1991: He received $10,000.00 as a fee from 
a receivership on invoices dated, 
November 2, 1991 and November 27, 1991. 

December 27, 1991: He settles a breach of contract case 
for ABC Co. in the amount of $5,000.00. 
His fee is one third less expenses in the 
amount of $500.00. 

January 15, 1992: He draws a draft from his escrow account 
in the amount of$300.00 for services 
rendered in the matter ofCoe v. Wainwright. 

January 28, 1992: He settled a personal injury case in the 
matter of Bullock v. Carrao in the 
amount of$10.000.00. His fee is one 
third less expenses in the amount of $350.00. 

On the same day, he settled a personal 
injury action in the matter of Bullock v. 
Winston in the amount of $5,000.00. His 
fee is one third. 

The minimum records needed by Fred Nash are: 

Fred Nash Escrow Bank Account (EBA) and 

Fred Nash General Bank Account (GBA) 

An Escrow Account: 

Checkbook (ECB) out of which all checks drawn on the escrow 
bank account will be written. 

Cash receipts journal (ERJ). 

Cash payments journal (EPJ). 

Client Ledger Card (CLC) for each client for whom escrow 
money is received. 
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C. A General Account: 

checkbook (GCB) out of which all checks drawn on the 
General bank account will be written. 

cash receipts journal (GRJ) and cash payments journal 
(GPJ). 

general ledger. 

The following is a suggested approach to comply with the 
Appellate Division Rules for handling escrow accounts and gen~ral accounts 
relative to the November, 1991 through January, 1992 transactwns. In the 
interest of brevity, these abbreviations will be used: 

EBA - Escrow Bank Account GBA - General Bank Account 
ECB - Escrow Checkbook GCB - General; Checkbook 
ERJ- Escrow Cash Receipts Journal GRJ- General; Cash Receipts Journal 
EPJ- Escrow Cash Payments Journal GPJ- General Cash Payments Journal 
CLC- Client's Ledger Card "-" Name of Column in Journal 

Date 

1991 

7/16 

7/17 

8/1 

8/15 

Escrow Account Records 

$2,000 deposited in EBA 
$2,000 add in ECB 
$2,000 enter in ERJ 
$2,000 credit on Wainwright CLC 

$900 check to GBA 
$900 deduct in ECB 
$900 record in EPJ 
$900 debit on Wainwright CLC 

$300 check to GBA 
$300 deduct in ECB 
$300 record in EPJ 
$300 debit on Wainwright CLC 

$300 Check to GBA 
$300 deduct in ECB 
$300 recorded in EPJ 
$300 debit on Wainwright CLC 

General Account Records 

deposit in GBA 
add inGCB 
enter in GRJ "cash" and 
"fees earned" 

deposit in GBA 
add in GCB 
enter in GRJ "cash" and 
"fees earned" 

deposit in GBA 
add inGCB 
enter in GRJ "cash" 
"fees earned" 

Date 

917 

10/5 

10/16 

12/21 

12/27 

Escrow Account Records 

$12,000 deposit in EBA 
$12,000 add in ECB 
$12,000 enter in ERJ 
$12,000 credit on Bent CLC 
$7,333.33 check to Bent 
$4,666.67 check to GBA 
record both checks in EPJ 
debit each amount in Bent CLC 

$17,500 deposit in EBA 
$17,500 add in ECB 
$17,500 enter in ERJ 
$17,500 credit on Moyer CLC 
$10,888 check to Moyer 
$ 6,612 check to GBA 
record both checks in EPJ 
debit both amounts on Moyer CLC 

$8,500 deposit in EBA 
$8,500 add in ECB 
$8,500 record in ERJ 
$8,500 credit on Deleaver CLC 
$5,3666.67 check to Deleaver 
$3,133.33 check to GBA 
record both checks in EPJ 
debit each amount on 
Deleaver CLC 

$5,000 deposit in EBA 
$5,000 add in ECB 
$5,000 record in ERJ 
$5,000 credit ABC Co. CLC 
$3,000 check to ABC. Co 
$2,000 check to GBA 
record both checks in EPJ 
debit each amount on 
ABC Co. CLC 

General Account Records 

deposit in GBA 
add in GCB 
enter $4,666.67 in GRJ 
"cash" & "fees earned" 

deposit in GBA 
addinGCB 
enter $6,612 in GRJ 
"cash" and "fees earned" 

deposit in GBA 
addinGCB 
enter $3,133.33 in GRJ 
"cash" & "fees earned" 

$10,000 deposit in GBA 
$10,000 add in GCB 
$10,000 enter in GRJ 
"cash" & "fees earned" 

deposit in GBA 
add in GCB 
enter $2,000 in GRJ 
"cash" & "fees earned" 
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Ess:m:w: ~asb. ~s:dDUi sls!nrnal 

E~2~0~ A~~ount Re~ord12 
General Account Records 

Date 
Posted 

deposit in GBA Credit 

1/15 $300 check to GBA add inGCB 
to Client 

$300 deduct in ECB enter in GRJ "cash" & Ledger Cash 
$300 record in EPJ "fees earned" Date Cli~nt Card Re~~iy~d 
$300 debit on Wainwright CLC .l.a.92 

1/28 $10,000 deposit in EBA 1128 Bullock X 10000.00 
$10,000 add in ECB 1/28 Bullock X 5000.00 
$10,000 record in ERJ 
$10,000 credit Bullock CLC Es"m:w: ~asb. £avms:DU! si2:uma.l 
$ 6,433.33 check to Bullock deposit in GBA 
$ 3,566.67 check to GBA add inGCB 

Posted 
record both checks in EPJ enter $3,566.67 in GRJ Debit 
debit each amount on "cash" and "fees earned" Client 
Bullock CLC Ledger 

Daw fal:~~ Ca:2b Paid Cli~nt Card 

1/28 $5,000 deposit in EBA 
$5,000 add in ECB .lruU 
$5,000-record in ERJ 
$5,000 credit Bullock CLC 7117 Fred Nash 900.00 Wainwright X 
$3,333.33 check to Bullock deposit in GBA 8/1 Fred Nash 300.00 Wainwright X 
$1,666.67 check to GBA add in GCB 

8/15 Fred Nash 300.00 Wainwright X 
record both checks in EPJ enter $1,666.67 in G~ 917 Bent 7333.33 Bent X 
debit each amount on "cash" & "fees earned 917 Fred Nash General A/C 4666.67 Bent X 
BullockCLC 10/5 Moyer 10888.00 Moyer X 

d d F ed Nash's Journals and 10/5 Fred Nash General A/C 6612.00 Moyer X 
After the transactions are recor e ' r 10.16 Deleaver 5366.67 Deleaver X 

client ledger cards would look as follows: 10/16 Fred Nash General A/C 3133.33 Deleaver X 

Escmw Cash Receipts .fuumal 
12/17 ABC Co. 3000.00 ABC Co. X 
12/17 Fred Nash General A/C 2000.00 ABC Co. X 

Posted Escrow Casb. £avmenw si2:uma.l 
Credit 
to Client 

Cash Daw Pal:ee Cash Paid Client Card (COnl 
Ledger 

Client Card Received 
~ Daw 

.lllili 1/15 Fred Nash General A/C 300.00 Wainwright X 

X 2000.00 1/28 Bullock 6433.33 Bullock X 

7/16 Wainwright 12000.00 1/28 Fred Nash General A/C 3566.67 Bullock X 

917 Bent X 17500.00 1128 Fred Nash General A/C 3333.33 Bullock X 

10/5 Moyer X 8500.00 1128 Fred Nash General A/C 1666.67 Bullock X 
X 

10/16 Deleaver X 5000.00 
12/27 ABC, Co. 
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Date Comments Ref. 

7/16/91 
7/17/91 
8/1/91 
8/15/91 
1/15/92 

Date Comments Ref. 

917/91 
917/91 
917/91 

Date Comments Ref. 

10/5/91 
10/5/91 
10/5/91 

Date Coroments Bef. 

10/16/91 
10/16/91 
10/16/91 

Date Comments Ref. 

12/27/91 
12127/91 
12127/91 

}Vainwright I&dger Card 

Debit 

900.00 
300.00 
300.00 
300.00 

Credit 

2,000 .00 

Bent I&dger Card 

Debit 

7333.33 
4666.67 

Credit 

12000.00 

Moyer I&dger Card 

Debit 

10888.00 
6612.00 

Credit 

17500.00 

De}eayer Ledger Card 

Debit 

5366.67 
3133.33 

Credit 

8500.00 

ABC CO. I&dger Card 

Debit 

3000.00 
2000.00 

Credit 

5000.00 

Ba1ance 

2,000.00 
1,000.00 

800.00 
500.00 
200.00 

Balance 

12000.00 
4666.67 

-0-

Balance 

17500.00 
6612.00 

-0-

Balance 

8500.00 
3133.33 

-0-

Balance 

5000.00 
2000.00 

-0-

Bullock l&dger Card 

Date Comments Ref. Debit Credit 

V28/91 
1/28/91 
V28/91 
1/28/91 
1/28/91 
V28/91 

Date Account 
7/17/91 
8/1/91 
8/15/91 
917/91 
10/5/91 
10/16/91 
12/21191 
12/27/91 

1991 Totals 

1/15/92 
1/28/92 
1/28/92 

January, 1992 Total 

!!ate Account 

6433.33 
3566.67 
3333.33 
1666.67 

1000.00 
5000.00 

General Cash Receipts Journal 

Cash 
900.00 
300.00 
300.00 

4666.67 
6612.00 
3133.33 

10000.00 
2000.00 

27912.00* 

300.00 
3566.67 
1666.67 

5533.34* 

Other Folio Fees Earned 
900.00 
300.00 
300.00 

4666.67 
6612.67 
3133.33 

10000.00 
2000.00 

27912.00 

300.00 
3566.67 
1666.67 

5533.34* 

*Totals posted to the general ledger. 

General Cash Payments Journal 

None of the illustrative transactions involve general ale payments. 
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Balance 

1000.00 
15000.00 
8566.00 
5000.00 
1666.67 

-0-

Other Folio 

In conclusion, the attorney practicing in any Judicial 
Department in the State of New York must become proficient with basic accounting 
principles. Such fundamental accounting principles will enable the practitioner to 
maintain trust records in accordance with Court rules and will enable the attorney to 
simplify and sustain an audit by any Appellate Division. 
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Footnotes 

I See generally, 22 N.Y.C.R.R. 600 et seq. 
2 See, New York Law Journal, December 15, 1988. 

The Appellate Division of the Supreme Court, Second ~udicial Department! 
pursuant to the authority vested in it DOES HEREBY, effective No_v. 30, 1988, With 
respect to its Rules governing the Conduct of Attorneys amend section.691.12 of Part 
691 of Title 22 of the Official Compilation of Codes, Rules and Regulations of the State 
of New York by rescinding section 691.12 and by substituting therefor the following 
section 691.12. 

Sec. 691.12 Fiduciary Responsibility; Maintenance of Bank Accounts; Record 
Keeping; Examination of Records. 

(a) Prohibition Against Commingling 

An attorney in possession of any funds or other property b~longing . 
to another person, where such possession is incident to his or her practice oflaw, ts a 
fiduciary, and must not commingle such property with his or her own. 

(d) Authorized Signatories 

All special account withdrawals shall be made only by authorized 
intrastate or interstate bank transfer or by check payable to a named payee and not to 
cash. Only an attorney admitted to practice law in New York State shall be an 
authorized signatory of a special account. 

(e) Availability of Bookkeeping Records; Random Review and Audit. 

The financial records required by this section shall be located at the 
principal New York State office ofthe. attorne~s subject heret?. S~ch records .shall be 
available, at that location, for inspection, copymg and determmat10n of comphance 
with this section, to a duly authorized representative of the court pu:suant to the 
issuance, on a randomly selected basis, of a notice or subpoena by this Court or a 
Grievance Committee for the Second Judicial Department. 

(f) Confidentiality 

All matters, records and proceedings relating to compliance with this 
section, including the selection of an attorney for review hereunder, shal~ be kept 
confidential in accordance with applicable law, as and to the extent reqmred of 
matters relating to professional discipline. 
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(g) Regulations and Procedures for Random Review and Audit 

Prior to the issuance of any notice or subpoena in connection with the 
random review and audit program established by this section the Grievance 
Committee shall propose regulations and procedures for the proper administration of 
the program. The Court shall approve such of the regulations and procedures of the 
Depar~ent Disciplinary Committee as it may deem appropriate, and only such 
regulations and procedures as have been approved by the Court shall become effective. 

(h) Missing Clients 

Wheneve.r any sum of money is payable to a client and the attorney is 
unable to locate the chent, the attorney shall apply to the Court in which the action 
wa~ brought, or, if no act~on was commenced, to the Supreme Court in the county in 
which the attorney has his or her fee and disbursements and to the clerk of the court 
of balance due to the client. 

(i) Dissolution of a Firm 

Upon the dissolution of any firm of attorneys, the former partners or 
members shall make appropriate arrangements for the maintenance by one of them or 
by a successor firm of the records specified in subdivision (c) of this section. 

(j) Records Subject to Production in Disciplinary Investigations 
and Proceedings 

~otwi~standing any other J?rovisions of this section, records required to 
be kep~ by th1~ section s~all ~ produced m response to a notice or subpoena duces 
tec.um tssued m c?nnection With a complaint before or any investigation by a 
Gnevance ~omrmttee! or shall. be produc~d. at the direction of this Court before any 
per~on designated by 1t for revtew or audit m connection with any plan of review or 
audit other th~n that p~o~ded by subdivision (e). All books and records produced 
purs.uant to this s~bdtvtston s~all be kept confidential, except for the purpose of the 
particular proceedmg and thetr contents shall not be disclosed by anyone in violation 
of the attorney-client privilege. 

(k) Disciplinary Action 

Any attorney who does not maintain and keep the accounts and records 
as specified and required by this section, or who does not produce any such records 
pursuant to this Part, shall be deemed in violation of these rules and shall be subject 
to disciplinary proceedings. 

(l) Annual Certification of Compliance 

.During ~e mon~h ?f ~all:uB:ry but not later than Jan. 31 of each year, any 
attorney subJect to this Courts JUnsdtctiOn shall file an affidavit with the Clerk of the 
Court certifying for the prior year, that the attorney is in compliance with this section. 
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The certification shall be in the following form and shall be available at all times to 
the Grievance Committee: 

County of 

State of New York 

(type name) being duly sworn, deposes and says: 

I am familiar with DR 9-102 of the Lawyer's Code of Professional 
Responsibility, as adopted by the New York State Bar Association, effective Jan 1, 
1970 as amended, and with section 691.12 of the Court's Rules Governing the Conduct 
of Attorneys, which requires an attorney to preserve the identity offunds and property 
entrusted to him or her and to maintain certain records relating thereto. 

I certify to this court that I am in compliance with the above provisions of 
the Lawyer's Code of Professional Responsibility and this Court's rules. 

Signature of Attorney 
Firm Name 
Office & P.O. Address 
Office telephone number 
Home address 
Home telephone number 

3 N.Y.C.R.R. §691.12(b) 

Separate Accounts. 

Attorney 

Every attorney subject to this Court's rules, who is in possession of funds 
belonging to another person incident to the attorney's practice oflaw, shall maintain 
in a bank or trust company within the State of New York in the attorney's own name, 
or in the name of a firm of attorneys of which he or she is a member, or in the name of 
attorney or firm of attorneys by whom he or she is employed, a special account or 
accounts, separate from any business or personal accounts of the attorney or attorneys 
firm, and separate from any accounts which the attorney may maintain as executor, 
guardian, trustee or receiver, or in any such fiduciary capacity, in which a special 
account or accounts all funds held in escrow or otherwise entrusted to the attorney or 
firm shall be deposited. 

Other than accounts maintained by an attorney as executor, guardian, 
trustee or receiver, or in any other such fiduciary capacity all special accounts as well 
as all deposit slips relating to and checks drawn upon such special accounts, shall be 
designated in a manner sufficient to distinguish them from all other bank accounts 
maintained by the attorney or attorneys firm. 

4 

5 
6 

7 

8 

9 
10 

II 

I2 

State Finance Law §97-v, N.Y. Jud. Law §497 (McKinney 1992) 
~J.e N.Y.S.B.A. Comm. on Prof. Ethics, Ops. 554 (1983), 575 (19S6). 

I d. 
I d. 
See note 3, supra. 
I d. 
I d. 
N.Y.C.R.R.§691.12(c) Required Bookkeeping Records 
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events ~~c~to~ee;~:c~~;ct to this section shall maintain for seven years after the 

(1) the records of all deposits in and 'thd 1 fr 
subdivision (b) of this section and of WI rawa s om th~ accounts specified in 

d
their pr~ctice ofla~. These records :~llo!~=~~~~yaf3~:tfy~ti~~~toncerns or affidects 
escnption of each Item d •t d II e, source an 

withdrawal or disburseme~SI e , as we as the date, payee and purpose of each 

such a~~~~~c~~~:~a::~~{ =~c~~~~:~~;"!,~~~~~%~~~fa~el 
0
funr ds dehpo

1
sditethd in 

amount of such funds th d · . were e , e 
whom such funds wer~ di~b~:~~tion and amounts, and the names of all persons to 

(3) cop~es of all retainer and compensation agreements with clients· 

of fund~) ~ofh:~o~;~;~~~b~~!l~ clients or other persons showing the disbursement 

(5) cop~es of all bills rendered to clients; 
( 6) copies of all records showing pa ts t tto · · 

persons not in their regular e 1 fi ym~n o a rneys, mvestigators or other 
(7) . f 11 . mp oy, or Services rendered or performed. 

Ad . . COJ?Ies o a retamer and closing statements filed with th Offi f c 
rmmstrat10n; and e ce o ourt 

(8) all checkbooks and check stub b k t te 
checks and duplicate deposit slips. s, an s a ments, pre-numbered canceled 

All such attorneys shall make accu te t · fall fi · 
their records of receipts and disbursemen~: ine~ :r:es o . al nancral t~ansac.tions in 
books or similar records and in an th b, eir specr accounts, m their ledger 
course of their practice, ~hich entJe~ s~~ll boks o~ account kept by t:hem in the regular 
condition or event recorded. e rna eat or near the time of the act, 
13 Id. 
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14 
15 
16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 
23 

24 

25 

26 
27 
28 
29 
30 

31 

32 
33 
34 
35 

I d. 
See DR 9-102(D). 
22 N.Y.C.R.R. §691.12. 
Matter ofTaub, 171 A.D.2d 349,576 N.Y.S.2d 523 (2d Dep't 1991). 
I d. 
Matter of Rolnick, 171 A.D.2d 29,574 N.Y.S.2d 369 (2d Dep't 1991). 
I d. 
I d. 
Matter ofGrubart, 164 A.D.2d 144, 561 N.Y.S.2d 169 (1st Dep't 1990). 
Matter of Baltimore, 132 A.D.2d 424 (1st Dep't 1990); Matter of Solomon, 12 
A.D.2d 36, 511 N.Y.S.2d 239 (1st Dep't 1987); Matter of Wright, 110 A.D.2d 274 
(1st Dep't 1985). 
Matter of Sylvan, 166 A.D.2d 20, 568 N.Y.S.2d 934 (1st Dep't 1991); Matter of 
McLaughlin, 158 A.D.2d 12, 556 N.Y.S.2d 609 (1st Dep't 1990); Matter of 
Schmidt, 145 A.D.2d 103, 536 N.Y.S.2d 1010 (1st Dep't 1989). 
Matter of Sylvan, 166 A.D.2d 20, 568 N.Y.S.2d 934 (1st Dep't 1991); Matter of 
McLaughlin, 158 A.D.2d 12,556 N.Y.S.2d 609 (1st Dep't 1990). 
Matter of Pollack, 142 A.D.2d 386, 536 N.Y.S.2d 437 (1st Dep't 1989). 
Matter of Frankel, 123 A.D.2d 468,506 N.Y.S.2d 477 (1st Dep't 1986). 
161 A.D.2d 826, 556 N.Y.S.2d 405 (3d Dep't 1990). 
Matter of Harp, 173 A.D.2d 957,569 N.Y.S.2d 822 (3d Dep't 1991). 
Matter of Resseguie, 138 A.D.2d 887,526 N.Y.S.863 (3d Dep't 1988); Matter of 
Gallow, 110 A.D.2d 920, 487 N.Y.S.2d 168 (3d Dep't 1985). 
Matter of Lewis, 159 A.D.2d 854, 553 N.Y.S.,2d 861 (3d Dep't 1990). See also 
Matter of McLaughlin, 158 A.D.2d 12, 556 N.Y.S.2d 609 (1st Dep't 1990). 
Matter of Rudin, 153 A.D.2d 338, 551 N.Y.S.2d 152 (4th Dep't 1990). 
Matter of Aquilio, 162 A.D.2d 58,560 N.Y.S.2d 583 (4th Dep't 1990). 
Matter ofMarriot, 83 A.D.2d 288,444 N.Y.S.2d 39 (4th Dep't 1981). 
Matter of Kaplan, 137 A.D.2d 328,529 N.Y.S.2d474 (1st Dep't 1988). 

I 
I 

I 
I 

36 
37 
38 
39 
40 
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~a:r 0:~is1enberg, 134 A.D.2d 91, 523 N.Y.S.2d 109 (1st Dep't 1988) 
a r o Y yan, 166 AD.2d 20, 568 N.Y.S.2d 934 (1st Dep't 1991) . 

~a:r o:;e~sberg, 149 A.D.2d 58, 544 N.Y.S.2d 145 (1st Dep't 19S9) 
a r o .eiSman, 139 A.D.2d 249, 531 N.Y.S.2d 255 (1st De 't 19sS) 

Matter of Eisenberg, 134 A.D.2d 91, 523 N.Y.S.2d 109 (1st De:t 1988)." 



INCENTIVE PROGRAMS BY MERCHANT-SELLERS IN WHICH CASH AND 
PRIZES ARE PAID TO BUYERS' AGENTS: TO WHAT EXTENT SHOULD 
THEY BE PERMITTED UNDER SECTION 2(c) OF THE ROBINSON-PATMAN 
ACT? 

by 

William E. Greenspan* 

Imagine a situation whereby American Appliance Company 
is a large retail dealer selling most major brands of 
appliances, including washers, dryers, ranges, microwaves, 
dishwashers, refrigerators and freezers. National 
Corporation an appliance manufacturer, sells appliances to 
American. 'on one occasion National offers an "incentive" 
program to American's salespeople. Under the terms of the 
program, an American salesperson will receive twenty dollars 
for each National appliance the salesperson sells during the 
month of January. Payments are mailed by National to the 
salespersons at their home address. Naturally, any customer 
entering American's spectacular showroom during Janu~ry, 
looking for an appliance, will be greeted by an Amer2can 
salesperson who eagerly points out . the advantages of 
National appliances over other major brands. Some of these 
customers, relying on the salesperson's recommendation, 
will buy a National appliance never knowing the salesperson 
was partially motivated by the incentive plan. 

Many neutral observers, looking at this incentive plan, 
may think it is unethical, while others may approve of it as 
a widely acceptable way of doing business. Some may t~ink 
such incentive plans should be illegal. This paper exam2nes 
to what extent it is wise and feasible to regulate such 
incentive plans under section 2(c) of the Robinson-Patman 
Act: Payment ~r acceptance of commission, brokerage or other 
compensation. 

More specifically this paper will discuss (1) a 
Robinson-Patman Act overview, 2 (2) F.T.C. v. Henry Broch & 
ComBan~,3 the only United States Supreme Court case 
rev2ew2ng section 2(c), (3) recent lower court 
interpretations of section 2(c), (4) Metrix v. Daimler-Benz 
Aktiengesellschaft,4 a " case in point" on incentive 
programs similar to the American Appliance example stated 
above, and (5) conclusions and recommendations. 

* Associate Professor of Law, University of Bridgeport, 
Bridgeport, CT. 
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A ROBINSON-PATMAN ACT OVERVIEW 

In 1936 Congress amended section 2 of the Clayton Act 
and enacted the Robinson-Patman Act5 which deals with 
illegal price discrimination. Sections 2(a) and 2(b) are 
the heart of the Act, addressing the primary purpose for 
which it was passed: 

The legislative history of the Robinson-Patman Act 
makes it abundantly clear that Congress considered it 
to be an evil that a large buyer could secure a 
competitive advantage over a small buyer solely because 
of _the large buyer's quantity purchasing ability. The 
Rob2nson-Patman Act was passed to deprive a large buyer 
of such advantages except to the extent that a lower 
price could be justified by reason of a seller's 
diminished costs due to quantity manufacture, delivery 
or sale, or by reason of the seller's good faith effort 
to meet a competitor's equally low price.6 

Section 2(a) prohibits a discrimination in price 
between ~ompeting purchasers of commodities of like grade 
and qual2ty, where the effect of such discrimination may be 
substantial~y t~ lesse~ competition. However a seller may 
grant a pr2ce d2fferent2al which reflects reduced costs due 
to quantity manufacture, delivery or sale.7 

.Bection 2(b) provides another defense to section 2(a) 
the "meeting not beating" defense. In order to prevail on ~ 
section 2(b) "meeting not beating" defense, an accused 
seller must show that he lowered his price in good faith to 
meet, but not beat, that of a competitor of the seller.~ 

Sections 2(d) and 2(e) are companion sections. A 
seller is prohibited from making cash payments [2(d)] to a 
cust~mer for promoting the sell~r's product, or furnishing 
serv2ces or f~cilities [2(e)J (advertising, catalogs, 
demonstrators, d2splay materials, special packaging) to a 
customer for promoting the seller's product unless such 
payments, services or facilities are made available to all 
competing customers on proportionally equal terms.9 

The difference between the two subsections is that in 
subsection (d) the customer supplies the services or 
facilities and his vendor pays the bill and in 
subsection (e) the wholesale vendor himself supplies 
the services and facilities for the use of his customer 
in facilitating resales.lO 

Section 2(f) is the "flip side" of section 2(a). It 
p~ohibits a buyer from knowingly inducing or receiving a 
d2scrimination in price prohibited by section 2(a).ll Even 
though the purpose of the Robinson-Patman Act was to prevent 
large buyers from using their economic advantage to secure a 
discrimination in price, section 2(a) makes no mention of 
any restraint on buyers. Instead it only prevents sellers 
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from engaging in price discrimination. Therefore, although 
a buyer could not be held liable under section.2(a) for 
price discrimination, such buye~ could b7 held ~1able for 
violating section 2(f) fQr hav1ng know1ngly 1nduced a 
violation of section 2(a).l2 

Section 2(c), with which this paper is concerned, 
prohibits a party from paying or receiving a commiss~on, 
brokerage or discount in lieu thereof, except fol

3
serv1ces 

rendered 'to or from the other party or his agent. Stated 
otherwis~ section 2(c) prohibits a seller from paying a 
commissio~ to a buyer or his agent in connection with the 
sale of goods, unless actual services are p7rformed ~n 
connection with the sale. Likewise a buyer or h1s agent 1s 
prohibited from receiving a commission from the selle~ in 
connection with the sale of goods, unless actual serv1ces 
are performed in connection with the sale. Section 2(c) is 
a "per se" violation. None of the enumerated defenses in 
sections 2(a) and 2(b) (no lessening of competition, cost 
justification, "meeting not beating") are available when one 
is charged with a violation of section 2(c). The only 
possible defense, the "for services rendered" proviso, has 
been narrowly interpreted and rarely allowed as a defense. 
Early interpretations of the "for services rendered" defense 
indicate that it was only included to make sure that a 
"bona-fide independent" broker would not be denied 
compensation: 

The agent cannot serve two masters, simultaneously 
rendering services in an arm's length transaction to 
both. While the phrase, "for services rendered," does 
not prohibit payment by the seller to his broker for 
bona fide brokerage services, it requires that such 
service be rendered by the broker to the person who has 
engaged him. In short, a buyin~4and selling function 
cannot be combined in one person. 

In 1960 the United States Supreme Court reviewed the 
legislative history of section 2(c) in F.T.C. v. Henry 
Broch & Com)any,l? and gave examples of the type of conduct 
section 2(c was intended to prohibit. This was the first 
and only section 2(c) case to reach the Court. 

F.T.C. v. HENRY BROCH & COMPANY 

Broch was a broker or sales representative for 
approximately 25 sellers of food products, including Canada 
Foods, a processor of apple concentrate and other products. 
Canada Foods set its price for apple concentrate at $1.30 
per gallon in 50-gallon steel drums, including a five per 
cent commission for Broch. J.M. Smucker Co., a large buyer 
of apple concentrate for use in its manufacture of apple 
butter and preserves, offered to purchase 500 steel drums of 
apple concentrate at $1.25 per gallon. Aft7r some 
negotiations, a sale was arranged at $1.25, w1th the 
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condition that Broch reduce its commission from five per 
cent to three per cent to absorb half of the price 
reduction. The reduced price of $1.25 was granted to 
Smucker on subsequent sales, while sales to all other 
customers continued to be $1.30 with Broch earning his usual 
five per cent commission.l6 

The Federal Trade Commission found the price reduction 
g~ante~ to Smucker was a disQount in lieu of of brokerage in 
Vlolatlon of section 2(c).lf The Seventh Circuit reversed 
holding _that "[n]either the language of § 2(c) nor it~ 
legislat1ve history8 indicates that a seller's broker is 
covered by§ 2(c)."l 

. The United States Supreme Court granted certiorari t 
dec~de.whether sect~on 2(c) is applicable to this conduct.l~ 
Rev1ew1ng the leg1slative history of the Robinson-Patman 
Act, the Court stated: 

The Robinson-Patman Act was enacted in 1936 to curb and 
prohibit all devices by which large buyers gained 
discrim~natory preferences over smaller ones by virtue 
~f th71r greater purchasing power .... Congress in 
1ts Wlsdom phrased § 2(c) broadly, not only to cover 
the ot~er methods then in existence but all other means 
by Whlch brokerage could be used to effect price 
discrimination.20 

The Court further noted which parties may be incl~ded 
as "any person" in section 2(c): 

The particular evil at which § 2(c) is aimed can be as 
easily perpetrated by a seller's broker as by the 
seller himself . The seller's broker is clearly 
"any person" as the words are used in § 2(c) - as 
clearly such as a buyer's broker.21 

Thus the Court supported the position of the Federal 
Trade Commission: 

We conclude that the statute clearly applies to 
payments or allowances by a seller's broker to the 
buyer, whether made directly to the buyer, or 
indirectly, through the seller. The allowances 
proscribed by § 2(c) are those made by "any person" 
which, 2a2 s we have said, clearly encompasses a seller's 
broker. 

Although there are numerous ways one may abuse the 
broker~ge function to effect a price discrimination in 
violat1on .of sect~o~ 2(c), one instructive aspect of Broch 
i~ th~t 1t ident1f1es three situations which are clearly 
v1olat1ons of section 2(c). The first situation describes 
setting up "dummy" brokers: 

One of the favorite means of obtaining an indirect 
price concession was by setting up "dummy" brokers who 
were employed by the buyer and who, in many cases, 
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rendered no services. The large buyers demanded that 
the seller pay "brokerage" to these fictitious broke~s 
who then turned it over to their employer. Thls 
practice was one of the chief targets of § 2(c) of the 
Act.23 

In a second situation, a large buyer seeks to evade 
section 2(c) by accepting price reductions equivalent to the 
seller's normal brokerage payments. The buyer negotiates 
directly with the seller, instead of through.the selle~'s 
broker. The buyer insists on and receives a pr2ce reductlon 
from the seller equal to the amount of the brokerage or 
commission the seller would have normally paid to the 
broker. This is "an allowance in lieu of brokerage under 
§ 2(c) and [is] prohibited even though, in fact, the seller 
had 'saved' his br~~erage expense by dealing directly with 
the selected buyer." 

The third situation is Brach. A large buyer (Smucker) 
asks for a price reduction from the seller (Canada Foods). 
The seller normally sells through a broker (Brach). The 
seller telephones the broker and advises the broker that 
the seller will make the sale at the reduced price if the 
broker agrees to yield part of his brokerage fee for sales 
with that buyer only. The broker agrees, and the sale takes 
place. This violates section 2(c). 

Congress enacted the Robinson-Patman Act to prevent 
sellers and sellers' brokers from yielding to the 
economic pressures of a large buying organization by 
granting unfair preferences in connection with the sale 
of the goods. The form in which the buyer pressure is 
exerted is immaterial . . . . There is no difference in 
economic effect between the seller's broker splitting 
his brokerage commission with the buyer and his 
yielding part of the brokerage to the seller to

2
ge 

passed on to the buyer in the form of a lower price. 

In summary, the Court made it clear that section 2(c) 
is a "per se" statute, absolute in its terms. None of the 
defenses in section 2(a) (no lessening of competition, cost 
justification, "meeting not beating") are available when one 
is charged with a section 2(c) violation. In add~t~on the 
"services rendered" exception appeared to be llmlted to 
situations involving payments by a seller or buyer to his 
own broker, and that neither party to a transaction nor his 
broker could perform legitimate services for the other 
party. 

However, 
statement: 

There is 
rendered 
anything 
getting 

in dictum, the Court made one troubling 

no evidence [in this case] that [Smucker] 
any services to [Canada Foods] nor that 

in [Smucker's] method of dealing justified its 
a discriminatory price by means of a reduced 

\ 

I 
I 
I 

I 
I 
I 
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brokerage charge. We would h.av.e.qu.ite a different case 
if there were such evidence 26 

Does this mean there might be some situation 
whereby the "services rendered" exception would be used to 
allow a limited cost justification defense when the seller 
shows a savings in distribution costs because of a 
P~rticular ~uyer's method of dealing? Would it make any 
dlff~ren~e. lf allowances in brokerage were · made on a 
nondlsCrlmlnat~ry. basis? Brach left these questions 
unanswered, rlsklng inconsistent applications of Brach in 
future court decisions. -----

RECENT LOWER COURT INTERPRETATIONS OF SECTION 2(c) ISSUES 

Predictably, recent court opinions dealing with section 
2(c) .h~ve discussed whether Brach dictum "opened the door" 
f~r ll~lted defenses when one is charged with a section 2(c) 
Vlolatlon. The results have been inconsistent. 

In Federal Paper Bd. Co., Inc. v. Amata,27 Federal sold 
wood and paper products, including recycled paperboard and 
paperboard cartons made from wastepaper. Federal routinely 
bought wastepaper from several wastepaper suppliers. Amata, 
who worked for Federal, was responsible for purchasing 
wastepaper from these competing suppliers at the most 
advantageous price and delivery terms. Amata demanded and 
accepted bribes and kickbacks from these suppliers with the 
result that the majority of Federal's wastepaper came from 
suppliers making payments to Amata. The cost of the bribes 
w~s passed on to Federal in the sales price. When Federal 
dlscovered Amata's conduct, Federal fired Amata. Federal 
was then able to8purchase wastepaper from several suppliers 
at lower prices.2 

Federal sued Amata and the bribe-paying suppliers 
claiming, among other things, a violation of section 2(c) of 
the ~obinson-Patman Act. F~deral alleged "that the payments 
recelved by Amata were not for bona fide services rendered 
but were commercial bribes." 29 In defense, the defendant~ 
cl~ime~ Federal f~i~ed to allege anticompetitive injury, 
Whlch ls a prerequ2s2te for a section 2(c) violation.30 

The court held that the facts of this case were covered 
by section 2(c), and that anticompetitive injury is not a 
prerequisite for a section 2(c) violation. 

Payments were made to Amata, an agent of the buyer 
Fede~al, that were not for services rendered. To 
req~lre Fed~ral to make additional allegations of 
antlcompetitlve effect in order to establish a prima 
facie violation of section 2(c) would be to impose a 
common law limitation on the broad language enacted by 
Congress. At least a few courts appear to have held 
that in order for payments to constitute a violation of 
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section 2(c) the payments must have an anticompetitive 
effect This court finds, however, that 
long-standing Second Circuit precedent and Supreme 
Court dicta refute any claim that anticompetitive 
injury is an element of a violation of section 2(c) of 
the Robinson-Patman Act.31 

In Seaboard Supply Co. v. Congoleum,32 Congoleum 
Corporation, a felt manufacturer, sold products to Seaboard 
and others who engaged in the wholesale distribution of 
roofing felt. Jack Berk, a sales manager for Congoleum, 
recommended to Congoleum that Manufacturers Reps Company 
(MRC) become a commissioned sales agent for Congoleum. 
Congoleum agreed. Unknown to Congoleum, Berk and MRC had a 
secret arrangement whereby MRC paid bribes (consulting 
services) to Berk. Since Berk had the ability to cause 
orders to be cancelled or delayed and could steer customers 
to another distributor or agent, Seaboard lost seve~al 
customers who transferred their business to MRC. When 
Congoleum's management found out about Berk's conduct, it 
discharged Berk. Meanwhile, Seaboard sued Congoleum, Berk 
and MRC alleging, among other things, a violation of section 
2(c) of the Robinson-Patman Act.33 

The district court recognized that section 2(c) 
"prohibits unearned payments to the other party to a 
transaction or to an agent who is subject to the control of 
a person other than the one making the payment." 
Considering the statute, case precedents and legislative 
history, the district court concluded that section 2(c) 
"applies only to unlawful payments which pass between 
sellers and purchasers." In this case MRC was not a 
purchaser from Congoleum; instead MRC was an agent of 
Congoleum. Therefore the payments made from MRC to Berk did 
not violate section 2(c).3~ 

The court of appeals agreed with the district court, 
noting concern "whether Congress intended to swee

3
g 

commercial bribery within the ambit of section 2(c)."? 
While the court recognized that at least three circuits 
(6th Cir., 7th Cir., 9th Cir.) held commercial bribery 
came within the terms of section 2(c), and that these 
decisions have been generally accepted and supported by the 
statutory language, the court was not convinced the scope of 
2(c) covers the conduct here. 

In the appellate decisions which have found commercial 
bribery within the ambit of section 2(c) the common 
thread has been the passing of illegal payments from 
seller to buyer or vice versa. Adherence to the 
requirement that payments cross this seller-buyer line 
is consistent with the interpretation of 2(c) in 
nonbribery cases .... Here, that line has not been 
crossed. ~ffiC, a sales agent of the seller Congoleum, 
bribed Berk, the seller's employee. MRC was not a 
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purchaser, and consequently, the statutory requisites 
have not been met.3b 

In Gregoris Motors v. Nissan Motor Corp. in USA 37 
Gregoris is a Datsun dealership, while Nissan is the 
American branch of the Japanese manufacturer of Datsun 
vehicles. Richard Hungerford is Nissan's Regional Sales 
Manager. Gregoris alleges, among other things a violation 
of section 2(c) when Hungerford sought and re~eived bribes 
from Datsun dealers competing with Gregoris. Any dealer 
paying bribes would receive a favorable allocation of cars 
i~cluding receiving early delivery and desirable models: 
S1nce Gregoris did not give bribes, its allocations of new 
cars was substantially ~educed to the point of threatening 
to destroy its business.3~ 

One of 
bribe-paying 
section 2(c) 
court held: 

the defenses raised by Hungerford and the 
dealers was that there can be no violation of 
without anticompetitive injury. The district 

While several courts have required anticompetitive 
injury for a section 2(c) claim ... this Court is 
persuaded that anticompetitive injury is not necessary 
for maintaining a claim under § 2(c) .... Such a 
requirement is unduly restrictiye and is not part of 
the plain language of the statute.j~ 

. ~ · 

Another defense was that the "plaintiff must have 
suffered the injury of price discrimination as a result of 
bribery." The district court rejected this defense. 

Although the Robinson-Patman Act is directed mainly at 
price discrimination, § 2(c) does not specifically 
mention price discrimination as the forbidden goal of 
the bribery. Increasingly the case law supports the 
conclusion that a violation of § 2(c) can be based on 
indirect price discrimination. In fact business 
practices other than price discrimination ca~ give rise 
to a § 2(c) violation.~O 

It is interesting to note that although the court in 
Seaboard expressed doubts whether Congress intended to sweep 
commercial bribery within the ambit of section 2(c), 
Gregoris expressly declared that section 2(c) "forbids 
commercial bribery in connection with the sale or purchase 
of goods or services."~l 

In Stephen Jay Photography. Ltd. v. Olan Mills, Inc.,42 
Stephen Jay and Olan Mills are competing commercial 
photo~raphers in the Norfolk, Virginia, area. Through 
competitive negotiation Olan Mills and one other commercial 
photographer contracted with all 22 high schools in the 
Norfolk area whereby Olan would be the official photographer 
for high school yearbook pictures. It was also agreed that 
Olan would pay the schools a percentage of the profits 
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earned from sales of optional portrait photographs of 
students. Letters to the students disclosed that Olan was 
the official photographer and that part of the optional 
portrait photograph price would be given to the school to 
support various school activities. Although students were 
not obligated to use the official photogra~her, this 
marketing plan of coordinating the yearbook plctures and 
portraits, coupled with the endorsement o~ the school, gave 
Olan a competitive advantage over competlng photographers, 
such as Stephen Jay, in selling portraits. Stephen Jay su~d 
Olan claiming, among other things, that_Olan engaged ln 
commercial bribery in violation of sectlon 2(c) of the 
Robinson-Patman Act.43 

One of the defenses raised by Olan was that commercial 
bribery does not constitute a violation of section 2(c) . 
The court indicated that this circuit (4th Cir.) had not yet 
addressed the issue. Nevertheless four c~rcuits (3d,_6t~, 
7th 9th) have applied a commercial brlbery analysls ln 
section 2(c) cases.4 4 Also the legislative histo~y.of 
section 2(c), as stated in Broch, suppor~s the_propos~tl?n 
that Congress intended to ~~ing commerclal brlbery Wlthln 
the ambit of section 2(c). ? Therefore the court assum~d, 
without deciding, that section 2(c) proscribes commerclal 
bribery. 

Another defense raised by Olan was that the schools 
were not "agents . . acting in fact for . . . any party to 
such transaction." The court recognized that commercial 
bribery cases must involve the corruption of an agency 
relationship. Any alleged bribes must cross the 
seller-buyer line. In this case, according to the court, 
there was no agency relationship between the schools and the 
students because "the schools did not have authority to bind 
the students to purchase portraits. Instead the students 
were free to purchase portraits from [Olan] or fro~ a 
photographer of their choice, or to purchase no portralts 
from anyone." 

Therefore, even assuming section 2(c) proscribes 
commercial bribery, we conclude that no violation 
occurred here. Unquestionably, the schools and t~e 
students enjoy a special relationship of trust. And lt 
is true that the schools arranged to have yearbook 
photographs taken by [Olan] and encouraged students to 
purchase portraits from them. However, letters 
encouraging the students to ~urchas~ . these 
photographs . . . indicated that thelr declslon ~o 
purchase portraits was optional. From thls 
correspondence it is abundantly clear that the schoo~s 
did not assume a position resemblill~ that of a portralt 
purchasing agent for the students. 

Another 
relationship 

recent case questioning whether an agency 
existed is Harris v . Duty Free Shoppers Ltd. 
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Partnership.
4

7 Harris and Duty Free Shoppers operate 
competing duty free stores in downtown San Francisco, 
catering especially to Japanese tourists. Duty Free paid 
lump sum amounts and commissions to tour companies and to 
tour guides to promote Duty Free's downtown shop by 
scheduling stops of tour buses at the store. The tourists 
are not required to buy from Duty Free. They can and do 
purchase goods from other stores The tourists do not know 
that Dut~ ~ree is making these payments. Apparently, 
hotels, alrllnes, and other businesses make similar payments 
to travel companies. Harris, who does not make payments 
sued. Duty Free claiming, among other things, a violation of 
sectlon 2(:) of the Robinson-Patman Act. More specifically 
Harris clalmed that the tour guides owe a fiduciary duty to 
the tourists, and that duty was breached by accepting 
payments from Duty Free.48 

The court held that the "tour guides and tour operators 
are not in an agency or fiduciary relationship with their 
passengers, nor do they serve as intermediaries 'subject to 
the direct or indirect control' of those passengers with 
regard to the transactions in question - the purch~se of 
Duty Free's retail goods." The reasons given by the court 
were th~t there was no employment relationship between the 
tour guldes and the tourists, the tour guides were not 
II t II 
exper s on whose advice the tourists relied the tour 

guid~s were not "at all times subject to the contr~l" of the 
tourlsts, and the tourists were free to purchase their 
souvenirs anywhere, or, in fact, not at all. Therefore 
there was no violation of section 2(c).49 

The court underscored the issue by stating it made no 
difference "whether the tour guides' services were available 
to competitors of Duty Free on like terms or 
conditions, . . . whether the value of the tour guides 
services correspond to the payments, and whether the 
payments were secret." The crucial issue here was "whether 
the tour guides are ~~ents of the tourists such that they 
owe a fiduciary duty." Since there was no fiduciary duty 
between the tour guides and the tourists, there could be no 
violation of section 2(c). 

Although these recent lower court interpretations of 
section 2(c) are sometimes inconsistent with each other the 
following principles can be gleaned: ' 

(1) Section 2(c) is a "per se" violation. 

(2) The "for services rendered" defense in section 2(c) is 
very narrowly applied. It has only been included to 
make sure a "bona fide" independent broker will not be 
denied compensation for rendering services to his own 
principal. 
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(3) 

( 4) 

( 5) 

(6) 

( 7) 

Although some courts question whether anticompetitive 
injury is a necessary element for a section 2(c) 
violation there is strong support in section 2(c), its 
legislati~e history, Broch, and court opir:i~ns, that 
anticompetitive injury is not a prerequlslte for a 
section 2(c) violation. 

Section 2(c) applies only to unlawful payments (or 
other discriminatory business practices) that pass 
between sellers and purchasers. There must be 
corruption of an agency relationship. 

Several federal court decisions indicate that Congress 
intended to sweep commercial bribery cases within the 
ambit of section 2(c). 

Section 2(c) 
discrimination. 
discrimination 
violation. 

can be 
Business 

can give 

based on 
practices 
rise to 

indirect price 
other than price 
a section 2(c) 

It is irrelevant in defense of a section 2(c) charge 
whether alleged illegal payments are equally available 
to all purchasers, whether payments correspond to the 
value of services rendered, or whether payments were 
secret. 

Having reviewed the provisions of the.R~bins~n-Pat~an 
Act, especially section 2(c); the Br~ch declslon, :ncludln~ 
its discussion of the legislative hlstory of sectlon 2(c), 
and recent lower court opinions interpreting section 2(c); 
the question still remains to what extent in?entive pro~rams 
by merchant-sellers, in which cash and prlzes are pald to 
buyers' agents should be permitted under section 2(c) of 
the Robinson-P~tman Act. A "case in point" (similar to the 
American Appliance example introducing

51
this paper) is 

Metrix v. Daimler-Benz Aktiengesellschaft. 

METRIX v. DAIMLER-BENZ AKTIENGESELLSCHAFT 

Metrix Warehouse, Inc. (Metrix) and Mercedes-Benz of 
North America (MBNA) are competitors in the sale of 
automobile parts to approximately 400 Mercedes-Benz dealers 
in the United States. Metrix has an incentive program 
whereby it makes payments to parts managers of Mercedes-Benz 
dealerships based on the number of Metrix products purchased 
by the parts managers' employers. 

More specifically the incentive program involves the 
awarding of points redeemable for either cash or merchandise 
or the payment of cash directly to the parts managers of the 
Mercedes-Benz dealers. These payments are based on a 
percentage of total parts purchased from Metrix. As 
consideration for the payments, the parts managers perform 
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no services other than placing their employers purchase 
orders with Metrix. 

During a six-year period, Metrix paid at least $119,980 
in cash and $394,551 in cash and/or merchandise to parts 
managers of Mercedes-Benz dealers for the placement of 
approximately $13,000,000 in spare parts orders with Metrix. 
Payments are mailed monthly by Metrix to the parts managers 
at their home address. The value of the points is 
approximately 3~ percent of the purchase price.52 

When Metrix was charged with a violation of 
section 2(c), Metrix argued there could be no violation 
since the incentive program increased, rather than 
decreased, competition. Therefore there was no adverse 
effect on competition. The district court agreed with 
Metrix finding "that questions of fact remain whether the 
incentive program decreases competition." Stated otherwise, 
the district court agreed with Metrix that a finding of an 
adverse effect on competit1Qn is necessary for there to be a 
violation of section 2(c).?5 

The court of appeals 
2(c) is a "per se" 
violated section 2(c). 

reversed, holding that section 
violation, and that Metrix 

Nothing in the language of section 2(c) ... requires 
proof of an adverse effect on competition before a 
violation may be found where there is an admitted 
payment of a commission or other compensation to an 
agent of the purchaser . Any change in the law 
to address the competitive effect of such compensation 
must be made by Congress .... ? 

Using the language of section 2(c), Metrix is "any 
person" who "pay(s) . . anything of value as ... 
compensation" to "an agent" (parts managers) of the "other 
party" (Mercedes-Benz dealers), where such agent (parts 
managers) is "subject to the direct control" of any party 
(Mercedes-Benz dealers) "other than the person (Metrix) by 
whom such compensation is paid.n55 

Comparing Metrix to the American Appliance example 
introducing this paper, there appears to be no difference 
between the two. Both are "per se" violations of section 
2(c). National is "any person" who "pay(s) ... anything 
of value as ... compensation" to "an agent" (American's 
salespeople) of the "other party" (American), where such 
agent (American's salespeople) is "subject to the direct 
control" of any party (American) "other than the person 
(National) by whom such compensation is paid." 

To what extent it wise and feasible to regulate such 
incentive plans under section 2(c)? 
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CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 

Incentive programs by merchant-sellers in which cash 
and prizes are paid to buyers' agents should be strictly 
prohibited under section 2(c) . It is well settled that 
section 2(c) is a "per se" violation. The weight of 
authority is that anticompetitive injury is not a 
prerequisite for a section 2(c) violation. It is irrelevant 
whether payments correspond to the value of services 
rendered or whether the payments were secret. Section 2(c) 
covers commercial bribery. As long as there is corruption 
of an agency relationship (i.e. the payments pass between 
sellers and buyers) the conduct should be subject to 
scrutiny under section 2(c). 

The purpose of section 2(c) is to cover all means 
by which brokerage could be used to effe~ price 
discrimination. Since there is always the problem of 
antitrust ~~anding when an individual alleges a section 2(c) 
violation,? the Federal Trade Commission should take 
responsibility for vigorous enforcement of section 2(c). 
Any dissatisfaction with the anticompetitive effects of 2(c) 
should be addressed by Congress and not by the courts. 

1 
2 
3 
4 
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Metrix committed a violation of§ 2(c), the court.~ound ~~~~ 
MBNA had not proven by a pre~ondera~~~tofM~~~i~;~ ~~~!ntive 
•t had standing to sue, l.e., h t 
l caused MBNA to suffer actual injury of a type t a 
~r~r~)m was designed to prevent. 828 F.2d at 1046. See, 

Brunswgck, s!~l~~~ n~te 0~ 1. the Clayton ~ct provides: II [A]ny 
5 who shall be injured in his buslness or property ~ 

person f anything forbidden in the antitrust laws may sue 
reaso~ o and shall recover threefold the damages by 
there or · · · 11 15 U.S.C. § 15(a). Even if a 
him sustained. · · · t•t t laws d f d t has committed a violation of the an l.rus 

e e~ a~ntitrust injury,), it does.not necessarllY follow 
~~~~ a plaintiff has antitrust standlng. To r:coverf tr~bl~ 

laintiff must make some showlng o ac ua 
~~~~~s ~ttrlbu~able to something pth~ 1an~it~~~:M!~ws 1~~~e desi ned to prevent. Brunswick v. ue o ow , • 
429 gus 477 (1977). The United States Supreme Court has 

· · 1 f tors it will consider on a 
enumerated seve~a acetermine whether a plaintiff has 
~~~~~~~~~as~ta~~~~:: t~hed nature of the p~aintiff's allege~ 
. · [i e does it fall squarely Wlthin the area o 

~a~~i~~~~~o~~~l~~~~~r~~d ~~! ~~!~~~~~~~!Pa~~~;:~ni~~~r~
1

f~~!~ 
l tive ?] the directness or is it tenuous and specu a . , ti l f 

~~~i~~~~~~!s r~;ov~~~ ~;le~~~pl!~j~~~;r~I~;me~~t~~ d~ma~e~: 
and the existence of more direct CVlCtlimls. 4A5s9s~cs ;~9 

t f Cal v Cal. St. ounc , · · Contrac ors o · · u •ted Airlines Inc. (1983) See also, Sharp v. nl , . • 
967 F 2d 404 (lOth Cir. 1992). (Employe:s .of Frontl:rf 

· .· t d" to sue United Alrllnes, even l 
~~~~~~esen~~~~~d i~ ~~o~~~ions of the antitrust laws causing 
Frontier to fail.) 
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BARGAINING WITH STAKEHOLDERS: 
CORPORATE CODES OF CONDUCT AND SHAREHOLDER WEALTH 

by 

Julianne Nelson* 

Corporate codes of conduct or ethics have become increasingly 
popular in recent years. Of the 264 companies responding to 
a recent Conference Board survey, more than 75% had some form 
of ethics code; almost half of the firms with codes in place 
had adopted them since 1987. 1 Nor is the adoption of codes 
merely a recent phenomenon: a 1980 study by White and 
Montgomery found that almost 100% of the largest US 
corporations had codes in place. 2 

When, if ever, would a self-interested shareholder support a 
corporate code of conduct? Do such codes ever increase 
shareholder wealth? If one relies on instincts honed by the 
study of competitive markets, one is likely to assume that 
benefits for customers, suppliers, employees and the local 
community necessarily come at the expense of corporate 
shareholders. The very structure of the much-publicized 
Johnson and Johnson (J&J) Credo (reprinted in the Appendix) 
appears to support this hypothesis. When detailing corporate 
responsibilities, the Credo mentions the interests of 
corporate shareholders last, only after it enumerates the 
duties owed to a variety of other stakeholders. In effect, 
the J&J Credo seems to implement a plural purpose view of the 
firm that asks managers to serve a number of constituencies. 
It remains to be seen whether or not this approach could also 
benefit a strictly self-interested shareholder. 

Recent results from applied bargaining theory suggest that the 
J&J Credo may actually increase shareholder wealth in some 
circumstances. Institutional theorists have recently turned 
to "cooperative" solution concepts to determine the efficiency 
implications of different corporate ownership structures. In 
general, research in this area starts from the assumption that 

* Assistant Professor, Economics Area, Stern School of 
Business, New York University, 44 West 4th Street, New York, 
NY 10003. I would like to thank Robert Lindsay for his most 
helpful comments on an earlier version of this work. 
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the output of a particular firm is the .res~lt of joi~t effort 
and that at least some individual contr1but1ons to th1s output 
cannot be observed or measured accurately. Si~ce."comp~ete 
contracting" on the basis of individual effort 1s 1mp?ss1ble 
in this context, it becomes necessary to. spec1fy an 
alternative rule for allocating corporate prof1ts among the 
relevant claimant~ 

In general, the rules proposed depend on both the surJ?lus 
generated by the group as a whole and the al ternat1 ves 
available to subgroups (or "coalition:-"> should they C:hoose to 
opt out of the bargain. The ava1lable alternat1yes (or 
default options) are in turn defined by the property r1ghts of 
the coalition members. For example, Hart and Moore (1990) use 
the surplus sharing rule proposed by Lloyd Shapley.(1953) to 
study the impact of decentralized asset ownersh1p on the 
investment efforts of corporate claimants. In a. r~lated wo:k, 
Holmstrom and Tirole (1991) use the Nas~ barga1n:n~ s~lut1on 
to characterize the impact of allow1ng subs1d1ar1es to 
"defect" by refusing to trade with their parent company. 

In this paper, I adapt the model developed by Hart and Moo:e 
(1990) to illustrate the incentive effects of the ~wnersh1p 
structure implied by the J&J credo. I assume the s?c1al value 
of a firm's activities depends on the effort (or ~nvestm7nt) 
undertaken bv both shareholders and (non-equ1ty-own1ng) 
stakeholders.J In other words, I assume that . 'both 
shareholders and stakeholders may take costly (and non­
contractible) actions to increase the value of output ~roduced 
by the firm. The benefits and the costs of th1s non­
contractible effort depend on the share of corporate assets 
initially allocated to each player. 4 

This scenario arises whenever the firm's cost of m~nufactu:i~g 
depends on employee care, on employees' f1rm-spec1f1c 
expertise or on the range of amenities prov~ded by the local 
community. It also arises when company prof1ts.depend on the 
firm • s reputation or on the care and precaut1ons .taken by 
consumers. Each of these exampl~s can be c~aract~r1zed as a 
duopoly in which each player's 1nvestment 1~cent1ve depends 
both on his or her anticipated share of the f1rm's surplus and 
on the action taken by the other player. 

Read literally the J&J Credo strengthens the bargaining 
position of cor~orate stakeholders by enhancing their default 
options. If treated as a contract, the Credo would 
essentially give workers, suppliers, customers, the local 
community etc. grounds for suit if J&J fails to treat these 
stakehold~rs fairly. To formalize this commitment by J&J, I 
characterize the Credo as a transfer of some corporate assets 
from shareholders to stakeholders. 

For the purposes of exposition, I limit discussion to workers 
as representative (non-equity owning) stakeholders, and assume 

I 
I 
I 

I 
I 

I 
I 

I 
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that th: asset to be allocated between shareholders and 
workers .1s worker health. For example, J&J shareholders would 
have - 1n the absence of the Credo - an ownership claim of 
sor~s to both the~tan~ible assets of the firm and the health 
of 1ts employees. W1thout the Credo, J&J would be limited 
only.by.imJ?erfect OSHA supervision and workers• compensation 
prem1a 1f 1~ chose to overlook workplace hazards. Since the 
Credo prom1ses workers better on-the-job conditions it 
reduces the precautions that workers must take on their o~n to 
protect their physical (and emotional) health. 

In this paper, I show that such an asset transfer may increase 
both the total surplus generated by the firm and the wealth of 
share~o~ders. . . As the asset transfer strengthens the 
barga1n1ng pos1t1on of workers vis a vis shareholders it 
strengthens the incentive (and lowers the cost) for emplo~ees 
to e~ert t~emselves on behalf of the firm. Shareholders have 
the 1ncent1ve to transfer assets if the gains from increased 
worker effort more than offset the cost of the enhanced worker 
~argaining position combined with the cost of the transfer 
1tself. 

1. Notation 

T~e first task is to .define the surplus generated by the 
d1fferent player comb1nations for a given allocation of 
corporate assets. I assume that there are two "players"· I 
label the representative shareholder/manager (the "owner") 1 as 
player 1 and the representative worker/stakeholder as player 
2 · . ~ assume that production requires a combination of 
ex1s~1ng assets (a11 .a2) and player effort (x

11 
x

2
). For 

cons1st7ncy of notat1on, let x 1 represent the level of 
manager1al effort chosen by player 1 and let x

2 
represent the 

level of worker effort chosen by player 2. 

The existing assets to be allocated are the firm's physical 
plant and worker health. I assume throughout that while 
shareholders own all of the firm's physical plant workers may 
only own a fract~on . of their health. More for~ally, let a

1 represent the ex1st1ng physical plant and let a
2 

represent 
worker health. I assume that player 1 owns all of asset a 
while pl?Y7r 2 owns. only a fraction a, osas1, of asset a~: 
i~i rema1n1ng fract1on (1-a) of asset a 2 is owned by player 

To. illustrate the structure of the bargaining problem that 
ar1se~ betwe~n o~ners and workers, I use the following general 
notat1on to 1~d1cate the value of output (or joint surplus) 
produced by d1fferent player coalitions: 
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output of owner and worker together: V (XI 1 X2l al 1 a2) 

Output produced by owner alone: v(x1 la11 (1-a)a2) 

output produced by worker alone: v (x21 aa2) 

Output of the "empty" coalition: v(O) = 0 

From this notation it follows that the value of output for a 
particular coalition depends on both the assets owned (ai) by 
coalition members and the levels of effort (xi) that members 
undertake. 

I assume that the structure of asset ownership also affects 
the cost of effort for individual players. In particular, 

cost of owner effort: c 1 (x1 la1 , (1-a)a2 ) 

cost of worker effort: c 2 (x2laa2) · 

This notation indicates that an individual player's cost of 
effort depends on the assets he or she owns, but not on the 
level of effort undertaken by the other members of the 
coalition. These cost functions also reflect the assumption 
that the representative worker owns a share a of asset a 2 and 
has no ownership claim on asset a 1 • 

7 

2. The Bargaining Problem 

Given the production and cost functions specified in Section 
1 it remains to define and solve the bargaining problem that 
a~ises between owners and workers for a given allocation of 
existing assets. To divide up the results of joint 
production, I rely on the "cooperative" approach proposed in 
Shapley (1953). This solution concept gives to each player a 
share of output equal to the player's average incremental 
contribution to the coalitions of which it might be a member. 

There are a variety of reasons to use a "Shapley value" 
mechanism to allocate the rewards of joint effort. It is 
well-known that such a mechanism implements the "Nash 
bargaining solution" for two-person games. 8 In other words, 
output allocated on the basis of Shapley values would maximize 
the product of gains realized by individual players relative 
to their respective default utilities. More formally, a 
Shapley value mechanism would solve the allocation problem 

max (ov(x1 ,x2 ) - v(x1)] [ (1-o)v(x1,x2) - v(x2)] 

0 

proposed by Nash (1950). 9 

Starting from a slightly different notion of justice, Young 
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(1988, p. 271) demonstrates that the Shapley value is the only 
sharing rule that (1) fully distributes output; (2) treats 
identical players equally; and (3) determines individual 
shares strictly on the basis of individual contributions to 
output. Hart and Moore (1990, p. 1129) observe that the 
Shapley value mechanism gives each player his or her "expected 
contribution to a coalition, where the expectation is taken 
over all coalitions to which [the player] might belong. 1110 

Any of these cooperative bargaining approaches provide the 
basis for an argument that market participants would agree in 
advance to use a Shapley value mechanism as the means of 
allocating output in the future. 11 •

12 

To define the Shapley values for the bargaining game between 
a representative owner and a representative worker, I first 
observe that each of these two players is potentially a member 
of two coalitions: a coalition "of the whole" and a coalition 
consisting of the player alone. If each player bears his or 
her full cost of effort, then the net benefit to each player 
when output is allocated using Shapley's method is given by 

W1 .5(v(x1,x2 la1,a2 ) - v(x2 jaa2 )] 

+ .5[v(x1 ja1 , (1-a)a2 ) - v(O)] 

- c 1 (x1 la1 , (1-a)a2 ) (2 .1) 

.5[v(x1,x2 la1,a2 ) - v(x1 ja11 (1-a)a2)] 

+ .5[v(x2 jaa2 ) - v(O)] 

- c 1 (x2 1 aa2 ) (2.2) 

The first bracketed term in each of these equations represents 
the contribution the player makes to the coalition of whole: 
the difference between the value of output with both players 
and the value of output with only one player indicates the 
"value added" by the second player. The second bracketed term 
in each of these equations represents the contribution of (or 
value added by) each player to the empty coalition, v(O). 

Using the payoffs specified in equations (2.1) and (2.2), we 
can now define the equilibrium for the bargaining problem at 
issue. Assume that both the representative owner and the 
representative worker choose their effort levels x 1 and x2 to 
maximize their respective payoffs. If each player takes the 
choice made by the other as given, then the first order 
conditions 

.5v.(x1*,x2*la11 a 2 ) + .5v.Cx1*ja1 , (1-a)a2 ) 

- c 1 (x1*la1 , (1-a)a2 ) = o ( 2. 3) 
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.5v2(x1*,x2*la11 a 2) + .5v2(x2*laa2) 

- c 2(x2*laa2) = 0 ( 2. 4) 

jointly determine the equilibrium effort choices, x 1* and 
x

2
*.n Given these effort choices, the equilibrium payoffs 

(i.e. , net benefits) for the representat.i ve . owner* and the 
representative worker ar.e fou~d by. subst1.tut1.ng Xt and X2* 
into the objective funct1.ons g1.ven 1.n (2.1) and (2.2). 

3. The Asset Allocation Problem 

The previous section defined equilibrium ~or a giv~n 
allocation of the assets a 1 and a 2. It now rema1.ns to see l.f 
the representative owner has the incentive to adopt a code of 
corporate conduct that would effectively tra~sfer some (~r 
all) of a 2 to the representat~ve worke~. (Thl.s transfer l.S 
formally characterized as an 1.ncrease 1.n the parameter a.) 

To determine the effect of adopting a code, it is fir~t 
necessary to indicate the specific impact of asset owne~shl.p 
on the productivity and cost of player eff~rt. ~ncreas~ng a 
(and thereby increasing a worker's ownershl.p cla1.m on hl.S or 
her health) would potentially have several effects .. It co~ld 
strengthen the bargaining position of workers by 1.ncreas1.ng 
the default utility v(x2laa2) for each level of effort X2. The 
asset transfer could also lower worker effort costs by 
decreasing c 2(x21ax2) andjor raise owner effort .costs by 
increasing ct<x11a2, (1-a)a2). In summ"':ry, I charac~er1.ze a code 
of conduct as a commitment to an 1.mprovement 1.n workplace 
conditions. This transfer of corporate assets from owners to 
workers gives workers a greater ownership cl~i~ on their own 
health. It potentially increases the product1.v1.ty and lowers 
the cost of worker effort while it raises the cost of owner 
effort. 

To evaluate the impact of such transfers on equi~ibrium ef~o~t 
choices and on the net benefits realized, I exam1.ne a spec1.f1.c 
production technology and set of cost functions. Let the 
value of output produced by the set of possible coalitions be 
given by 

owner and worker together: 
( I ) [ (a X ) p + ( a2x2) p] t ip 

V X1 1 X2 a 1 , a 2 = I 1 

Owner alone: 
v (x1 l a 11 ( 1-a) a 2 ) 

worker alone: 
v(x2laa2) = aa2x2. 

This specification reflects the assumptions that player 2 is 
indispensable to asset a 2: player 1' s ownership share of 
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asset a 2 has no impact on output unless player 2 is also a 
member of the coalition . 14 In other words, the owner's claim 
on worker health [(1-a)a2) is meaningless unless the worker is 
involved in production. Restricting the parameter p so that 1 
> p > 0 ensures that (1) worker effort is an imperfect 
substitute for owner effort (and vice versa); and that (2) 
owners and workers produce more when working together than 
when working separately. 15 

Let the cost of effort for the representative owner and the 
representative worker be given by 

c 1(x1la11 (1-a)a2) = c 1x//(1+oa1+e(1-a)a2) 

and 

respectively. This specification reflects the assumption that 
asset ownership may influence the cost of effort for either or 
both players . The extent of the effect depends on the 
parameters o, e, and A: the larger any of these parameters, 
the larger the cost-reducing impact of asset ownership. 

4. The owner's Incentives to Adopt ~ Code of conduct 

We can now determine when, if ever, a code of conduct can 
increase shareholder wealth. As mentioned above I 
characterize the adoption of a code as an increase in a, i'. e., 
a (partial or complete) transfer of asset a 2 from owners to 
~orkers .. Given the tech~ology specified in Section 3, the 
1.ncrease 1.n a has three d1.rect effects on effort choices: as 
it (1) increases the representative worker's marginal benefit 
of effort and (2) lowers the worker's marginal cost of effort 
it also (3) raises the representative shareholder's marginai 
cost of effort. It follows that, for a wide range of 
parameter values, an increase in a implies more worker effort 
and less owner effort in equilibrium. The net impact of 
adopting a code of conduct therefore depends on the balance 
between these effort effects. 

Figures 1 and 2 illustrate the equilibrium effort choices and 
net benefits for the following parameter values: 16 

v(xltx21alla2) = [ (20xt)4/S + (20x2)4'sJs'4 

v(x1 l a 11 ( 1-a) a 2 ) 

v(x2laa2 ) = a20x2 

ct<xtla11 (1-a)a2) = 20x1
2/(1+20+(1-a)160) 
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b . ing problem we see that 
For this specification of. the t ~rgat~ adopt a cod~ of conduct: 
the owner does have some l.ncen l.Ve . when ~- 86 In other 

f 't · t a max1.mum ~-· · the owner's net bene l. l.S a t of a then they 
words, if owners had title ~o 1~~ciert~n the in'arket value 
could raise ~he val~e of tfh.e,;r) sby tra~sfe~~ing 14 percent of 
of their clal.m on fl.rm pro l. s 
a 2 to workers· 

What . best for owners is not 
The bad news is that l.S te 

for the more complete set of corJ?o::a 
necessarily best . 1 t 36 max1.m1.zes From Figure 2, l.t fol ows tha a=. 
stakeholders. k t benefits. In other words, 
the sum of owner :"nd wo! ert;eim rove workplace conditions, 
owners have some l.ncentthl.vte "tota! surplus" is at a maximum. 
but not to the extent a 

s. The Role of Economic Analysis 
t odes of conduct provides an 

This stylized view c;>f corpora_ e ~ debate in the "law and 
opportunity t:o revl.e~h an ~~af~~~~hip between the initial 
economics" f1.eld: e r . hts and the efficiency of 
assignment of p~operty r;gd'cates that some ownership 
equilibrium. Fl.gure 2 l.n l.more efficient (i.e. generate 
structures for the assett~ are This observation leaves open 
a higher surplus) than o erst there is a need to mandate a 
the question of whether or no 
particular ownership structure. 

ics tells us that Pareto 
The "first th;eorem" of welf:re ~co~~~untary exchange in a 
efficiency l.S the resul t1959 1960 1988) examines a 
competitive market. Coa.se t ~ the 'case in which there 
particular inst:a~ce of ihl.st::esul In reviewing the importance 
is a unique effl.cl.ent al oca l.O;.itive market outcomes, cease 
of liability ru~es for .comp~th zero transaction costs, the 
concludes that "1.n a reg1.me ":l. same whatever the legal 
allocation of n;sourc:es .rE7mal.n:orth:armful effects. u17 Under 
position regard.l.ng l~abl.j;;{iency of equilibrium is invariant 
either formulatl.on, t. e e f . hts in the absence of 
to the initial assl.gnment o rl.g 
transactions costs. 

t th' . variance result breaks down 
It is generally agreed t~a ;:et~ss disputes abound when it 
if exchange i.s ~ostly · ever . te p~licy responses to these 
comes to. defl.nl.ng ~~e appropr:r~al structure of the model 
transactl.o~ co~ts. The vides a framework that enables us 
presented l.n thl.S essay prof th reasons for these disputes. 
to identify at least some o e 

l.. t l.' s clear that the model proposed in this essay 
First, d't' " for the presence of 
satisfies a "necessary . c~m. \ l.~si nment of rights does 
transactio~ costs: . the t l.n~;:a how theg initial allocation C?f 
matter. Fl.gu~e 2 l.llus trha equilibrium level of surplus l.n 
the asset a 2 1.nfluences e 
the economy. 
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The next step is to discover why the assignment of rights 
matters. Is the reason plausibly described as a "transaction 
cost"? It is clear that the allocation of rights in the model 
affects both effort costs and output shares for market 
participants. It therefore influences the equilibrium level 
of production. However, the source of the transaction costs 
is not immediately obvious since the code of conduct (i.e., 
the transfer of a 2 ) is assumed to be costlessly enforceable. 

The transaction costs in the model can be traced to the 
assumption that owner and worker effort levels are "non­
contractible" . 19 In other words, neither owners nor workers 
can write binding "forcing" contracts to ensure optimal levels 
of effort. 20 There are a variety of possible justifications 
for such an assumption: effort levels may not be directly 
observable or the courts may have found contracts contingent 
on effort to be "against public policy." In any event, the 
non-contractibility assumption forces market participants to 
resort to sharing rules such as the Shapley value mechanism. 

Given the impossibility of achieving a first-best optimum21 

with forcing contracts, we must then ask whether or not 
voluntarh exchange will at least support a second-best 
optimum. 2 In other words, will initial trade in the asset a 2 
ensure that the surplus-maximizing level of a (.36 in Figure 
2) prevails in equilibrium? Economists are conditioned to 
answer this question in the a~firmative almost as an article 
of faith. In fact, the appropriateness of this response 
depends on the extent of transactions costs at the very 
earliest stage of the bargaining process. 

In their description of a model that served as an inspiration 
for the one presented in this paper, Hart and Moore (1990, p. 
1131) write 

We shall take the point of view that efficient trading at 
date 0 leads to a control structure a that maximizes 
W(x<(a)). That is, if the initial a does not maximize 
W(x<(a)), someone will propose a new a and a set of side 
payments such that everyone is better off ... 23 

In the model I propose, the equilibrium level of total surplus 
depends on the scope for trade in ap Figure 2 and the 
analysis in Section 4 indicate that owners do have some 
incentive to make unilateral transfers to workers for a wide 
range of parameter values. However, the value of a that 
maximizes shareholder wealth (.86 in Figure 2) generally fails 
to maximize total surplus. It is therefore not likely that 
owners would in general adopt the "optimal" code of ethics 
unilaterally. 

Would workers have the incentive to purchase a greater stake 
in a 2 and thereby make it possible for society as a whole to 
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realize a second best optimum? In other words, can we rely on 
workers (along with other stakeholder groups) to bargain for 
the optimal code of ethics? such a transaction would 
resurrect a "Cease-like" invariance result at this earlier 
stage in the contracting process: if there were a competitive 
market in a 2 , then there would be no efficiency justification 
for regulating the contracting process. There would be no 
reason to require minimum workplace health and safety 
standards, to adopt environmental protection laws, or to set 
minimum product safety standards. 

Economic analysis cannot provide a definitive answer to these 
policy questions; it merely enables us to examine the 
consequences of difference sets of assumptions. All policy 
applications of economic models start with a strong set of 
assumptions. The "transferrable utility" model presented in 
this paper requires that rights (however assigned) be 
costlessly enforceable and that $1 be worth the same to 
workers as to managers.~ If we further assume that there is 
a competitive market in assets like worker health and 
environmental quality, then equilibrium will be (second-best) 
efficient; the initial allocation of assets will simply 
determine the final distribution of wealth. If, on the other 
hand, we assume that there are unavoidable transaction costs 
at this earlier bargaining stage, then the initial allocation 
of assets affects both the level of total surplus and its 
distribution. 

6. Concluding Observations 

Do we wish to use this type of economic analysis as a guide to 
the initial allocation of rights?25 Economic analysis itself 
cannot resolve this issue. We must ultimately return to 
extra-market notions of justice, fairness and probably just 
plain common sense. 

The discussion in Section 5 provides an outline for this 
expanded view of policy analysis. The first task is to 
identify the transaction costs at each stage in the bargaining 
process. If there are no transaction costs, we are left to 
determine the fairness of the equilibrium distribution of 
wealth given the initial allocation of rights. If the 
transaction costs (like the non-contractibility of effort) 
render (competitive) bargaining impossible at some stage, we 
are faced with a more difficult task, that of choosing the 
appropriate trade-off between equity and efficiency. 
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Appendix: The Johnson ~ Johnson credo 

we believe our first responsibility is 
to the doctors, nurses and patients, . 

to mothers and all others wh~ use our products and.serv1ce~. 
In meeting their needs everyth1~g we do must be of h1gh qual1ty. 

we must constantly str1ve to reduce our costs 
in order to maintain reasonable prices. 

customers' orders must be serviced promptly and accura~ely. 
our suppliers and distributo~s must ?ave an opportun1ty 

to make a fa1r prof1t. 

we are responsible to our employees, 
the men and women who work with us throughout the world. 

Everyone must be considered as an individual. 
we must respect their dignity and r.ecog.nize t.hei.r merit. 

They must have a sense of secur1ty 1n the1r JObs. 
compensation must be fair and adequate, 

and working conditions clean, orde.rly and safe. . 
E ployees must feel free to make suggest1ons and compla1nts. 
:'here must be equal opportunity for emploY:me.nt, development 

and advancement for those qual1f1ed. 
we must provide competent management, 

and their actions must be just and ethical. 

we are responsible to the communities in which we live and work 
and to the world community as well. 

we must be good citizens - support good works and charities 
and bear our fair share of taxes. 

we must encourage civic improvements 
and better health and education. 

we must maintain in good order 
the property we are privileged to use, 

protecting the environment and natural resources. 

our final responsibility is to our stockholders. 
Business must make a sound profit. 
we must experiment with new ideas. 

Research must be carried on, innovative programs developed 
and mistakes paid for. 

New equipment must be purchased, new facilities provided 
and new products launched. 

Reserves must be created to provide for adverse times. 
When we operate according to these principles, 
the stockholders should realize a fair return. 

Endnotes: 

1. conference Board (1992, P· 11}. 

2. White and Montgomery (1980, pp. 81-83.) See Pitt and 
Groskaufmanis (1990, p. 1602} for a discussion of this and 
other survey results. 
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3. DeGeorge (1990, p. 163) defines stakeholders to be all 
constituencies to which the firm "has any moral obligations". 
~re7m~n' s (1984, p. 46) definition includes "any group or 
1nd1v1dual who can affect or is affected by the achievement of 
the organization's objectives." For convenience of exposition 
I adopt a somewhat narrower definition. In this paper I use 
the term "stakeholder" to indicate the set of all (pot~ntial) 
cor~orate claimants except equity owners. This group 
tydp1tchally includ7s employees, suppliers, customers, clients, 
an e surround1ng community. 

4. This treatment of effort costs and asset ownership differs 
from that found in Hart and Moore (1990). I allow for 
','pa~t~a~" asset ownership rather than assuming that assets are 
1nd1v1s1ble lumps that must be allocated in full to a single 
play7r. I also allow asset ownership to influence the 
marg1nal cost of effort as well as its marginal product. 

5. By "ownership" here I mean the right to use an asset 
without having to purchase it· the right to obtain full 
compensation if the asset is 'damaged; and the right to 
withhold access to the asset. 

6. This assumption reflects a more general definition of 
ownership than the one found in Hart and Moore (1990) 
Allowing fractional values for a enables me to treat worke~ 
heal~h as a diver;;e asset. ."Fractional ownership" makes it 
poss1ble to cons1der a var1ety of compensation levels for 
worker illness or injury. 

7. Note that since the functions 

v ( x 1 I . , . ) - c 1 ( x 1 I . , . ) and 

v ( x2l • ) - C2 ( x2l • ) 

indicate. the opportunities available to individual players 
when act1ng alone, these functions define the "default" or 
"reservation" utilities at given levels of effort for owners 
and workers respectively. 

8. See Shapley (1988 reprint of 1969 article, p. 316). 

9. This is a game with "transferrable" utility: monetary 
transfers have the same value to both players. The parameter 
o ser.ves to allocate joint output between the two players. 
The f1rst bracketed term represents the difference between the 
ou~p~t share received by player 1 and that player's default 
ut1l1ty. The second bracketed term represents the 
corresponding difference for player 2. 
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10. Rothblum (1988) provides three specifications of the 
Shapley mechanism in which "a player gets 'the average 
relative payoff to coalitions that contain him'." 

11 . For transferrable utility games with two players, ~he 
Shapley value allocation also coinc.ides wit;h the cooperat~ve 
bargaining solution proposed by Davl.d G.authl.er. See Gautl:aer 
(1986) and (198~) for a di~cu~s~on of. the . ethl.<;=al 
underpinnings of hl.s approach to l.ndl.Vl.dual r1ghts l.n socl.al 
contracts. The Shapley value mechanism can also be 
generalized to allow for differences in bargaining ability 
andjor broader definitions of egalitarian allocations. See 
Kalai and Samet (1985, 1988). 

12. Recent authors have also argued argue that the Shap~ey 
value mechanism can be interpreted in a more "strategJ.c" 
context as a noncooperative bargaining solution. Hart and 
Moore (1990, pp. 1129-30, footnote 11) observe that the 
Shapley value can be .interpreted ~s th7 subgame perfect 
equilibrium for a multJ.stage game l.nvolvl.ng a seq~ence of 
take-it-or-leave-it contracts. Gul (1989) provl.des an 
alternative interpretation for the Shapley value as a subgame 
perfect equilibrium. 

13. More formally, these first order conditi~:ms <;ire neces~ary 
and sufficient for an equilibrium if both ob)ectl.ve functJ.ons 
(W1 and W2) are differentiable and stri<;=tly ~oncave (i.e;,. have 
a maximum) . Sufficient for concav1ty l.s that addl.tl.onal 
effort increases output at a decreasing rate and increases 
cost at an increasing rate: V1(x1,x2)>0, Vu(XuX2)<0, 
v2(x11 x2)>0, v22 (x11 x2)<0, vdx1)>0, Vu(Xd<O, v2(x2)>0, v,22(.x2 )~0, 
c 1' (xd>O, c 1'' (xd>O, c 2' (x2)>0, and c 2'' (x2)>0 .. The equl.ll.brl.l;lm 
defined by (2.3) and (2.4) is stable l.f V12 (XuX2) l.S 
sufficiently small. This last condition ensures ~hat a cha~ge 
in effort choice by a given player has a greater l.mpact on J.ts 
own objective function than on the objective function of the 
other participants in the game. 

14. This terminology is due to Hart and Moore (1988). 

15. To see the benefit of joint effort with this 
specification, let a 1=a2=1; a=1 and p=. 5. It follows that 
v(x11 x2) = x1 + x2 + 2(x1x2) 5 > v(~d + v(x2) .= .x1 + x2" .In. other 
words, the value of output from the coall.tl.on consJ.stJ.ng of 
one worker and one owner exceeds the sum of what the worker 
and the owner can each produce separately. 

16. In particular, p=4 15, a 1=a2=c1=c2=2 o, 5=1 and €=A=8. 

17. Coase (1988), p. 170. For an earlier version of the 
Coase theorem, see Coase (1959), p. 27: "The delimitation of 
rights is an essential prelude to market transaction~ ... t~e 
ultimate result (which maximizes the value of productJ.on) l.S 
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independent of the legal decision." 

18 . . Newberry (1989, pp. 215-16) provides an overview of the 
P~ll.cy debate over pollution externalities that has involved 
Pl.gou, Coase, Baumel, Oates and others since the 1930s. 

19. Since it is impossible to write and enforce this type of 
contract, the cost of the "transaction" is effectively 
infinite. 

20 . . A forcing contract promises payment if and only if effort 
(~r l.n some cases output) reaches a pre-specified level. see 
Ml.ller ( 1992, Chapter 5) for a discussion of the uses and 
l~mitations of this device as a method of eliminating free 
rl.ders. 

21. A "fi~s~ best" optim.um is an equilibrium that is fully 
Pareto effl.cl.ent : all gal.ns from trade have been realized. 

22. A "second-best" optimum is the best feasible equilibrium 
given the constraints imposed by technology and various 
transaction costs. 

23. In the notation found in Hart and Moore (1990) is similar 
to that used in this paper: a indicates the allocation of 
assets that exist when bargaining begins, while W(X0 (a)) 
represents the sum of net benefits realized by market 
participants. 

24 . This latter assumption ensures that there are no "wealth 
effects" that distort owner andjor worker willingness-to-pay. 

2 5 · Coase has long recommended this approach. See Coase 
(1988) for his response to a number of his critics. Posner 
(1979, 1983) labels this approach "wealth maximization" and 
recommends it as a guide for judicial decision-making. 
Coleman (1984) provides a review of the criticisms of Posner's 
argument. 
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